
13 November 2019

Cabinet

Wednesday 13 November 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of Council 

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 16)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 9 October 2019 (minutes 
attached).

Leader of Council 

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of Council 

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 7 November 2019 

Please submit any questions to jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 
be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet in advance of the 
meeting). 

Leader of Council 

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


13 November 2019

The questions and answers will be taken as read at the meeting and 
need not be read out. 

At the discretion of the Leader, each questioner (in attendance at the 
meeting) will be invited to ask one supplementary question at the 
meeting (in response to the answer given to the original question). 

A copy of all written questions and answers circulated at the meeting will 
be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Reports

5 Scrutiny Report: Youth Strategy Task Group (Pages 17 - 42)

To consider a report, (including recommendations), from the Youth 
Strategy Scrutiny Task Group Review. 

The report to be presented by Cllr Lesley Williams. 

Cllr Lesley Williams 
MBE

Key Decisions

6 Financial Monitoring Report (Pages 43 - 54)

To receive an update on the year-end forecast for the council’s revenue 
and capital budgets 2019/20. 

Finance and 
Change 

7 Procurement of Children's Social Care Casework Management 
System ("Liquidlogic") Support and Maintenance Contract (Pages 
55 - 60)

To seek approval to procure a new contract for the maintenance of the 
Liquidlogic Children’s Social Care Casework Management System.  

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years 

8 Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2019 (Pages 61 - 
130)

To approve the outcomes of the Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment 2019 and associated action plan. 

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years 



13 November 2019

9 M5 Junction 10 Improvement Scheme; Capital budget approval, 
recruitment resource allocation, delivery and construction (Pages 
131 - 144)

To consider proposals, (including budget proposals), relating to the M5 
Motorway (Junction 10) Improvement Scheme. 

Environment and 
Planning 

10 The Procurement of Highway Construction Services relating to the 
West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme and UK Cyber 
Business Park (Phases 1 and 2) (Pages 145 - 160)

To consider proposals relating to the commissioning of construction 
works in respect of the West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement 
Scheme and UK Cyber Business Park (Phases 1 and 2) and the making 
of any Ancillary Orders in relation thereto. 

Environment and 
Planning 

11 Upgrade to the Vision Mobilising System for Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service (Pages 161 - 170)

To consider upgrades to the Fire and Rescue Service mobilising system 
in order to maintain an effective and efficient response to emergency 
incidents. 

Public Protection, 
Parking and 
Libraries 

Other Decisions

12 Gloucestershire County Council Responses to the Draft 
Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) Consultation (Pages 
171 - 218)

To seek endorsement of the proposed Gloucestershire County Council 
response to the GFirst LEP consultation on the Draft Gloucestershire 
Local Industrial Strategy. 

Economy, 
Education and Skills 

CABINET
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Kathy Williams 
and Cllr Roger Wilson

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe  01452 
328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


13 November 2019

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



MINUTES of the Cabinet Meeting 

Held on Wednesday 9 October 2019

PETER BUNGARD
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

CABINET MEETING

9 October 2019

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Present

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE - Leader of Council
Cllr Richard Boyles - Deputy Leader/Children's Safeguarding and Early Years
Cllr Tim Harman - Public Health and Communities
Cllr Patrick Molyneux - Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Nigel Moor - Environment and Planning
Cllr David Norman MBE - Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Vernon Smith - Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood
Cllr Lynden Stowe - Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Kathy Williams - Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care (Delivery)
1. Apologies 

Apologies were received from Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member Adult Social 
Care Commissioning).  

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 July 2019 were agreed and signed as a 
correct record of that meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting. 

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 13 member questions were submitted for consideration in advance of the 
meeting.
 
Please refer to the link below to view the responses to the questions: -

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b16136/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answer
s%20Wednesday%2009-Oct-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 

Page 2

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b16136/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2009-Oct-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b16136/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2009-Oct-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

If unable to access the document at the link above, please go to the link below and 
select the ‘Cabinet Questions and Answers’ PDF document at the top of the web 
page: - 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9230&Ver=4 

The supplementary questions below were asked at the meeting. 

Due to illness Cllr Paul Hodgkinson was unable to attend the meeting. Cllr 
Hodkinson was invited to email any supplementary questions direct to the relevant 
cabinet portfolio holder for a response. 
 
Member Questions:
 
Question 5: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 
 
Agenda Item 6: Financial Monitoring Report
 
Cllr Hilton suggested that the cost of the council’s alternative tipping arrangements 
amounted to around 10,000 tonnes of waste diverted to landfill. He asked when the 
exact figure would be known, the costs involved and who would pay for the costs, 
Gloucestershire County Council or UBB?
 
Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member: Environment and Planning) 
 
Cllr Moor clarified that the council was waiting for checks to be completed before 
the information would be available. A full answer to the question would be provided 
when all of the data was received.

Question 6: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 
 
Agenda Item 6: Financial Monitoring Report
 
Cllr Hilton recalled that in February 2019, the council increased the Children’s’ 
Services Budget by £11m (12%). Questioning if Cllr Boyles had lost control of his 
budget, Cllr Hilton anticipated another overspend of £10m.

Cllr Hilton asked what action would be taken to ensure Cllr Boyles’ portfolio 
returned to budget by the end of the financial year?
 
Response by: Cllr Lynden Stowe (Cabinet Member: Finance and Change) 

Cllr Stowe expressed his disappointment at the overspend and proposed taking a 
pragmatic approach to identifying the reasons for the position. Referring to the level 
of scrutiny attributed to delivering Children’s Services, Cllr Stowe clarified that work 
would be ongoing to address the underspend but that it would not be easy to 
address the challenges within the normal timescales. 

Page 3

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9230&Ver=4


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Cllr Stowe elaborated on the challenges in delivering Children’s Services and 
referred to the increasing pressures experienced by every council in the UK. 

Inviting Cllr Boyles to respond to the comments made by Cllr Hilton on the 
performance of the Children’s Services Budget 2019/20, the Leader of the Council, 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne, objected to the comments that had been made. 

Cllr Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
elaborated on the extensive work that was being undertaken in Children’s Services 
and of the plans to ensure the children in care in Gloucestershire received the best 
possible care, including the development of Trevone House, which will reduce the 
council’s dependency on external placements. 

Adopting the Trevone House model as the model for the new framework for 
delivering children’s services, Cllr Boyles referenced the benefits and costs involved 
in the use of agency workers. He also referred to the constant strive to achieve best 
value for money when working with service providers. 

Outlining some of the pressures experienced in the recruitment and appointment of 
staff, Cllr Boyles informed members that the number of social workers working for 
the council had increased by an additional 70 social workers since the Ofsted 
Inspection in 2017. 

Summarising the extensive costs involved in delivering children’s services, Cllr 
Boyles informed Cllr Hilton he took exception to the remarks about the ‘children’s 
services budget being out of control. He said that, whilst conscious of the financial 
impact the demands in children’s services was having on the council budget, he 
would continue ‘to do what was needed’.

Question 8: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 
 
Agenda Item 10: Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy 
 
Cllr Hilton asked if Gloucester City and Stroud District Councils had not taken part 
in the Waste Collection Consultation because the waste tipping away policy didn’t 
affect them? Cllr Hilton pointed out that the Javelin Park Incinerator was located in 
the Stroud District and close to the border with Gloucester City Council. 
 
Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member: Environment and Planning) 

Cllr Moor confirmed that the Stroud District and Gloucester City Councils had been 
involved in discussions about the adoption of a Waste Tipping Policy. 
Question 9: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 
 
Agenda Item 10: Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy 
 
Cllr Hilton asked if the incinerator would take waste on a daily basis?. 
 
Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member: Environment and Planning) 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Cllr Moor confirmed this would be the case. 

Question 10: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 
 
Agenda Item 10: Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy 
 
Cllr Hilton asked what the future of the Hempsted Tip was likely to be?. 
 
Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member: Environment and Planning) 

Cllr Moor offered to provide Cllr Hilton with a written response to this question after 
the meeting.  

5. Recommendation to Council: Youth Justice Management Plan 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years 
presented the Draft Youth Justice Plan 2019/20 (Appendix 1 of the decision report) 
for consideration. Subject to cabinet agreement, the report to be presented to the 
Full Council meeting on 27 November 2019 for approval. 

Cllr Boyles informed Cabinet that the Council, working with statutory partners, 
(Police, Health and Probation Services), had a duty to publish an Annual Youth 
Justice Plan, outlining the funding and activities of the Youth Offending Service.

Local Governance for the Youth Offending Service is provided by the 
Gloucestershire Youth Justice Partnership Board, (GYJPB), comprising senior 
representatives from each of the statutory partners, (listed above), and local partner 
agencies.

Cllr Boyles confirmed that the Gloucestershire Youth Offending Service was 
performing well, (in comparison with national and statistical comparators), in key 
areas of performance. These included use of custody, re-offending and first time 
entrants to the Criminal Justice System.

The 2019/20 Youth Justice Plan was previously considered by the Gloucestershire 
Youth Justice Partnership Board and at a national level by the Youth Justice Board. 
The plan was found to be comprehensive, (the highest grading available in the 
quality assurance process). It was noted that the plan would continue to be subject 
to regular monitoring by the Youth Justice Partnership Board.

Having considered all of the information, including representations from the 
Children and Families Scrutiny Committee meeting on 18 July 2019, alternative 
options and the reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to 

Recommend that the Youth Justice Plan 2019/20 (Appendix 1 of the decision 
report) be presented to Full Council for approval. 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

6. Financial Monitoring Report 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, gave an update on 
the year end forecast for the 2019/20 County Council’s Revenue and Capital 
Budgets. 

Reporting a forecast revenue year end position with an overspend of £4.490 million 
on a net budget of £429.661 million, (1.05% of the budget), Cllr Stowe referred to 
the explanation that had been given earlier in the meeting in response to pressures 
from delivering the council’s children’s services. 

Cllr Stowe explained that the net budget position included a significant forecast 
overspend in the Children and Families Budget of £9.780 million. An efficiency plan 
had been put in place to reduce the forecast overspend but the target of below £5 
million by the year end continued to be challenging due to the latest external 
placement forecast. The overall net overspend would be off set by a number of 
underspends, many of them one-off, identified in corporate budgets.
 
The Council’s Communities and Infrastructure Budgets were forecast to overspend 
by £0.571 million. This was largely due to Waste Budgets forecasting an overspend 
of £0.658 million.

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service was forecasting an overspend of £0.120 
million. This was mainly due to the changes to employers superannuation on Fire 
Pension schemes. A grant had been received but this only accounted for 90% of 
the costs.

The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) was forecast to overspend by £7.201 million, 
(including a deficit carry forward of £2.884 million). Recent funding announcements 
had identified (nationally) £700 million of additional funding for special needs in 
2020/21. Cllr Stowe said it was unclear how this would be allocated and in what 
proportion would be allocated to the High Needs block where the highest cost 
pressures existed. He informed members that the council’s High Needs Strategy 
was essential to ensuring a balanced budget in future years.
 
Reporting on the Council’s Capital positon, Cllr Stowe reported a forecast year end 
position of £112.620 million. This was £13.428 million less than the current 
budgeted figure of £126.048 million. Cllr Stowe proposed a reduction of £0.148 
million to the capital programme (detailed in the Cabinet decision report).

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to 

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of August 2019 for the 
2019/20 financial year of a net £4.490 million overspend against the revenue 
budget of £429.661 million.

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

2. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of August 2019 of 
£112.620 million against the budget of £126.048 million.

3. Approve the addition of £0.043 million to the Highways capital budget funded 
from a variety of sources as outlined in the body of the report.

4. Approve the allocation of £3.887 million from the approved carriageway 
resurfacing budget to schemes as outlined in the body of the report.

5. Approve the reduction of £0.191million to the Flood Alleviation capital budget as 
outlined in the body of the report.

7. Producing the Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-21 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, set out the context 
and process for producing the Medium Term Financial Strategy for the period 
2020/21 to 2022/23. 

Cllr Stowe referred to the Spending Review announcement announced by 
Government on 4 September 2019. He informed members that the funding 
apportioned to Gloucestershire for the following year was, in his opinion, 
satisfactory, with particular good news in the amount of funding allocated to 
providing special educational needs and investment in local primary and secondary 
schools. 

The net impact of the announcement was expected to increase funding by nearly 
£29 million (6.6%) above current 2019/20 levels. The funding would be utilised to 
focus on key priorities and help deliver a balanced budget. This would not, 
however, remove unavoidable pressures impacting on the budget, for which Cllr 
Stowe confirmed the need to identify savings of £11m for the 2020/21 budget. 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, thanked Cllr Stowe and the Director of 
Corporate Resources and the finance team for the huge amount of work 
undertaken over the summer. The Leader also thanked those involved in lobbying 
the Government in recent years to secure extra funding for Gloucestershire. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Agree the proposed process for developing the Council’s three-year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) covering the period 2020/21 to 2022/23.

8. Public Health Nursing Service 

The County Council is responsible for commissioning Public Health Nursing 
Services, (Health Visiting and School Nursing). As a condition of the Public Health 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Grant, the council’s Public Health Nursing Service is required to offer five mandated 
visits during a child’s early years and help deliver the Healthy Child Programme for 
families and children aged 0 to 19 years.

Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities, sought 
approval to extend the term of the Council’s current Public Health Nursing Service 
arrangements for a further two years.

Cllr Harman recalled that in December 2016, Cabinet had agreed to remodel the 
existing health visiting and school nurse services into one integrated Public Health 
Nursing Service. (The remodelling to be phased in over a three year period 
concluding March 2020). During this period, Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHSFT, (formerly Gloucestershire Care Services), had worked collaboratively with 
the Public Health Team to introduce a number of efficiency savings, make effective 
use of the staff skill mix and improve performance against mandatory visits, 
(currently at 80% and within timescale).

Cllr Harman explained that the Council’s Public Health Nursing Service was funded 
from the Public Health Grant via a Section 76 transfer of funding between the 
Council and the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group under the 
arrangements of the Collaborative Commissioning Agreement. He informed 
members that the council’s annual expenditure in connection with the provision of 
Public Health Nursing Services was £6.699 million. (This included an additional 
£200,000 to be invested in Public Health Nursing Services in respect of children’s 
safeguarding during 2019/20). 

Accordingly, Cllr Harman proposed that the projected sum to be transferred by the 
Council to the Clinical Commissioning Group for the four-year period from April 
2020 to March 2024 equate to £26.795 million.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Director of Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Public Health and Communities, to extend the term of the current Public Health 
Nursing Service model arrangements for a further period of two years (to expire 
March 2022) with the option to extend such period for an additional period of two 
years (to expire March 2024).

9. South West Sub-Regional Residential Dynamic Purchasing System 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years, sought approval for the County Council to 
participate in a competitive tendering process conducted by South Gloucestershire 
Council, (as lead authority), to establish a four year (plus) South West Sub-
Regional Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) commencing 1st April 2020 for the 
provision of independent residential care for looked after children.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

In addition to South Gloucestershire Council, the other councils seeking to 
participate in the Dynamic Purchasing System agreement, included; Bath and North 
East Somerset Council; North Somerset Council; Swindon Borough Council, 
Wiltshire Council and Gloucestershire County Council.  

Cllr Boyles outlined some of the benefits from entering a collaborative Dynamic 
Purchasing System agreement. These included; working together with other 
councils to improve service delivery; enhanced control of the market; improved data 
analysis from the sharing of information; greater oversight and improved quality 
assurance.  

Supporting the recommendation, Cllr Boyles reported an annual expenditure of 
£19.25 million in 2018/19 for providing residential accommodation to the children 
and young people of Gloucestershire needing residential care. Cllr Boyles 
explained that the Council would not incur any costs from using the proposed 
Dynamic Purchasing System unless it was necessary to call off any of the 
contracts. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning to:

1 Participate in a public procurement law compliant procurement process 
conducted by South Gloucestershire Council (as the lead authority) to establish 
a four year (with the option to extend for a further two years)  Dynamic 
Purchasing System (to be known as the “South West sub-regional Dynamic 
Purchasing System” (the “DPS”) commencing on the 1st April 2020 for the 
provision of independent residential care for looked after children using a light-
touch approach;  

2 Enter into a Participation Agreement with South Gloucestershire Council to give 
effect to recommendation 1. above and make a one off  payment to South 
Gloucestershire Council of £5,000 as a contribution towards their costs in acting 
as lead authority for the procurement of the DPS;

3 Procure such number of call-off contracts (placements) under the DPS as are 
required to meet the Council’s responsibility to provide residential care services 
for children and young people who become or are looked after Provided that the 
value of any single call-off contract will not exceed £499,999.99.  Any single 
contract under the DPS with a value that exceeds this sum must be the subject 
of a separate cabinet decision; and

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

4 Report back to Cabinet on an annual basis throughout the continuance of the 
DPS with details of the aggregate value of all call-off contracts  that have been 
awarded by the Council under the DPS in the preceding year.

10. Adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, set out proposals 
for the adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy to be used in the calculation of 
Waste Tipping Away payments made by the Council.

Outlining the background to the decision, Cllr Moor explained that (under the 
Environmental Protection Act), the County Council could, where necessary, direct a 
district council to deliver waste to a point of disposal outside its administrative area. 
In so doing, the County Council would then be liable to make reasonable financial 
contributions to the district authorities in respect of any costs it reasonably incurs 
when complying with this direction and where the disposal point is unreasonably far 
from the district area. This is referred to as a “Tipping Away” payment.

Cllr Moor informed members that the council had no policy in place in which to 
formally calculate and apply Tipping Away payments. In many two-tier Local 
Authority areas, policies had been adopted to define both the circumstances in 
which payments are made and the methods for calculating payments. Such policies 
use a formula to calculate reasonable compensation to the district authority based 
upon the additional travel time and associated operating costs. Adoption of such a 
policy for Gloucestershire would provide transparency and improved levels of 
operational certainty to all parties where changes are made to waste delivery 
points.

The proposed adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy was discussed at the 
Cabinet meeting on 10 October 2018, whereby it was agreed to consult with the 
district authorities on the development of a waste tipping away policy based upon 
the formula developed by the National Association of Waste Disposal Officers. 

Noting the outcomes of the consultation, (as detailed in the cabinet decision report), 
including the proposal to adopt the National Association of Waste Disposal Officers 
model as the basis for calculating future tipping away payments within 
Gloucestershire, the Tipping Away Policy proposed by the cabinet decision was 
considered at the Joint Waste Committee meeting on 8 October 2019 (the day 
before the Cabinet meeting). 

Providing feedback from that meeting, Cllr Moor informed members that the Joint 
Waste Committee, (representing each of the district authorities), had made the 
following comments/proposals: - 

1. The Tipping Away Policy should reaffirm the Waste Partnership’s 
commitment of working together to consider service changes. 

Responding to this comment, it was suggested that, in effect, the statement 
reflected the principle of partnership working in terms of waste. The proposal 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

would not impact on the policy itself, but, if supported, a statement could be 
added to the policy to provide clarity and commitment. 

2. The impact of Climate Change should form part of the decision making 
process. The costs of the system and the impact of carbon emissions from a 
tipping away decision should be modelled. 

This statement received support from officers. The need to consider the 
impacts of climate change and the wider costs involved in the service 
decision making process was acknowledged. 

3. The costs of change associated with a Tipping Away Policy should be 
addressed during the decision making process. 

Noting that this suggestion had been raised during the original consultation, 
Cllr Moor reiterated that the proposed policy had been drafted to satisfy the 
requirements of the Environmental Protection Act by offering to make 
reasonable contributions towards Waste Collection Authority costs. 

Questioning the required outcomes from the comments made by the Joint Waste 
Committee at its meeting on 8 October 2019, the Leader asked Cllr Moor to clarify 
whether the recommendation outlined in the decision report should be considered 
in its original form or if the proposal required further consideration before cabinet 
made its decision. 

Cllr Moor reaffirmed the Joint Waste Partnership’s commitment to working together 
to consider service changes for waste disposal in Gloucestershire and proposed 
that the recommendation set out on page 101 of agenda, ‘to approve adoption of a 
Waste Tipping Away Policy, (set out in section 4 of the report), be agreed. Cllr Moor 
suggested that the comments made by the Joint Waste Committee on 8 October 
2019 be noted and form part of the minutes for this item. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Approve the adoption of a Waste Tipping Away Policy as set out in section 4 of the 
published decision report.

11. Establishment and construction of a new 75 place special school for children 
and young people (aged 11-16) with Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
(SEMH) needs 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, sought 
approval to establish a 75 place special school for children and young people aged 
11-16 year with SEMH needs. 

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Cllr Molyneux explained that the County Council had a statutory duty to ensure 
sufficient school places were available for every child of school age, (where the 
parents or carers of that child wished them to have one), with social, emotional and 
mental health needs. He confirmed that, currently, Gloucestershire had insufficient 
special school places for children with such needs, resulting in the need to 
commission costly school places within the independent sector, often located some 
distance from the children’s homes. 

Recalling the decision to approve the council’s High Needs Strategy in January 
2019, (identifying the need for more specialist provision), Cllr Molyneux confirmed 
that a total of 98 pupils from Gloucestershire with social, emotional and mental 
health needs attended independent and non maintained schools at an annual cost 
of £4.45million. 

Seeking to increase local provision across the county and reduce the council’s 
reliance on the independent/non-maintained special school sector, Cllr Molyneux 
anticipated making savings of an estimated £1.5m annually in placement costs and 
£360k in transport costs.

Cllr Molyneux stated that, in seeking to establish a new school for Gloucestershire, 
(anticipated to open in the 2021/22 academic year), the council would need to 
recommend a Multi Academy Trust to act as sponsor for the school. Negotiations 
were currently underway to secure a site central to Gloucestershire for the 
proposed development. 

Consideration of the capital funding to support this proposal was considered under 
agenda item 12 of the meeting. 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne and several members of Cabinet spoke 
in support of the investment and welcomed the proposal. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Approve the establishment of a new 75 place special school for children and young 
people aged 11-16 year with SEMH needs and delegate authority to the Director of 
Education, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and 
Skills, to:

1.  Hold a free school presumption competition in accordance with the Department 
for Education’s advice contained in, “The free school presumption” (May 2018) in 
order to identify a suitable Academy Trust to sponsor the school; 

2. Upon conclusion of the competition, recommend to the Secretary of State the 
findings of the Local Authority’s assessment to enable him to decide upon the most 
suitable proposer to take forward the new free school; 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Delegate authority to the Head of Property Services, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, to:

3. Acquire the land on which to establish and construct the new special school.

4.  Conduct a procurement process in accordance with rules of a public sector 
designed and managed framework agreement known as the “GCC procurement 
framework” for the purpose of awarding (a) a preconstruction design agreement 
and (b) subject to satisfactory planning permission, a contract for construction 
works relating to the establishment of a 75 place special school for children and 
young people aged 11-16 years with SEMH needs.

5.  Use a mini competition process through the GCC procurement framework to 
determine the Council’s preferred contractor(s).

6.  Upon conclusion of the mini competition to enter into the abovementioned pre 
construction design and, subject to satisfactory planning permission, a contract for 
the construction works with the preferred contractor(s) evaluated as offering the 
Council best value for money and quality for delivery of the new school. In the event 
that the preferred contractor(s) is either unable or unwilling to enter into that 
contract(s) with the Council, the Head of Property is authorised to enter into such 
contract with the next willing highest places and suitably qualified contractor.

Authorise the Director of Education and the Head of Property Services to:

7.  Undertake all ancillary matters to enable the establishment of the 75 place 
special school for children and young people aged 11-16 years with SEMH needs

12. Children & Families Capital Programme Update 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, sought 
approval to make changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme. 

Members attention was drawn to the 2018/19 Children & Families Capital 
Programme approved by Full Council in February 2018 and the 2019/20 Capital 
Programme approved in February 2019. Cllr Molyneux informed members that both 
schemes represented part of the councils ongoing commitment to investing £120 
million into new schools, improving buildings and expanding facilities at schools 
across Gloucestershire.

Cllr Molyneux reaffirmed that the council was committed to ensuring the right 
provision and support was available to all children and young people in 
Gloucestershire, including those with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities. 
He stated that the three schemes referred to in this report would enable the council 
to continue to improve the level and quality of support available to the county’s 
children and young people. 

Referring to consideration of the previous item and the proposal to establish a new 
school for children with social, emotional and mental health needs, Cllr Molyneux 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

suggested that the new school would not only enable the council to provide more 
bespoke high quality facilities from which to provide support to some of the county’s 
most vulnerable pupils but would also help reduce the council’s revenue 
expenditure by providing better provision and in closer proximity to where the pupils 
lived.

Describing the proposal as a further demonstration of the council’s commitment to 
investing in education, cabinet members spoke in support of the changes and 
welcomed the proposals. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and further to 
the earlier decision to establish a new SEMH school,

RESOLVED to: 

Approve changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme (as set out in the 
report), including approval of;  

1. A new scheme for the provision of a 75 place SEMH  Special School, funded 
by the transfer of £5.0 million from the approved basic need provision for 
Specialist Provision and £2.5 million from the Department for Education 
Specialist Provision Grant.

2. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at Belmont Special 
School, funded by the transfer of £0.215 million from the approved High 
Needs Specialist Provision budget.

3. A new scheme for improvements at the Cheltenham and Tewkesbury 
Alternative Provision School (CTAPS), funded by the transfer of £0.075 
million funded from the approved SEND support in mainstream school 
budget. 

13. Schedule of Proposed Disposals 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, sought approval for 
the disposal of sites declared surplus to the council’s land and property 
requirements in support of the need to achieve the 3 year Meeting the Challenge 3 
Capital Receipt Target of £33m for the period up to 2020/21. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, in line with the 
council’s Policy for the Disposal of Property,   

RESOLVED to:  

1) Confirm that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) which had 
previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2019 and not yet 
disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to requirements and 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

2) Declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of Disposals Appendix B 
(Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements, 

and in relation to both of these schedules, 

3) Delegate authority to the Head of Property Services to dispose of the sites in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change.

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should Cabinet wish to discuss 
the contents of the exempt information reported at Appendix A and Appendix B of 
the report, consideration would need to be given as to whether the press and public 
should be excluded from the meeting in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012. 

Cabinet agreed to consider the item without having to refer to the exempt 
information. It was proposed that, for future meetings, efforts would be made to 
ensure more open and transparent reporting of information in relation to the 
disposal of sites declared surplus to the council’s land and property requirements. 

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 10.45am 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

YOUTH STRATEGY TASK GROUP REPORT 

OCTOBER 2019 

1. INTRODUCTION  

 

1.1. In March 2019, Cllrs Lesley Williams and Steve Robinson submitted a request to 

the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee for a task group to look at a 

Youth Strategy for 8 - 24 year-olds in Gloucestershire. Once approved, the 

ambitions of the task group were formulated as follows: 
 

- To review and scrutinise current provisions for 8 – 24 year olds in 

Gloucestershire. 

- To consider how the Council could encourage young people’s personal and 

social development outside of school hours, and their preparation for adult 

life, through promoting youth provision in every community, delivered by a 

mix of volunteers and trained staff. 

- To make sure that whatever their background or circumstances, every 

young person has the support they need to be healthy, stay safe, enjoy and 

achieve, make a positive contribution and achieve economic well-being. 

- With partners, to use the continuum of need, in the new Right Placement 

First Time: Sufficiency Strategy, to develop recommendations to help the 

council better co-ordinate intervention services and provide a county-wide 

strategy. 

(Copy of the full one page strategy at Annex 1)  

1.2. Membership of the Task Group: Councillors Lesley Williams, Steve Robinson, 

Colin Hay, Suzanne Williams, Eva Ward, Terry Hale, Stephen Davies and Carole 

Allaway-Martin. 

 

Councillor Lesley Williams was elected as Chair. 

 

The task group was supported by the Children and Families Commissioning team. 

 

1.3. At the first meeting of the task group in April 2019, the group agreed on two main 

outcomes for the task group: to host a youth strategy seminar and to carry out a 

consultation process. The further four meetings of the task group allowed 

members to plan for these, as well as develop their understanding of the current 

youth provision in Gloucestershire. 

 

2. CONTEXT 

 

2.1. There are two different models of youth strategy:  

- Young people accessing services because they want youth-friendly things to 

do, places to go, people to be with, information & advice, trustworthy adults, 

health drop-ins, opportunities for learning experiences etc. This could be called 

the youth work model. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 

 

- Services accessing young people because of their statutory duties in health, 

safeguarding, public protection and education, engaging those at highest risk (in 

youth-friendly ways) and managing cases on those brought into the system 

through social case assessment, arrest referral or diagnosis. This could be 

called the youth support model, and is what the council mostly does at the 

moment. 

 

2.2. The county council and six districts have no statutory duty to provide youth work. 

Local authorities follow the Department for Education guidance but there is no 

specific statutory responsibility to fund youth work.  

 

2.3. The youth work that the county council currently commission is embedded in the 

Youth Support Team where it is targeted on referred and statutory clients. Youth 

work and activities play an essential role in engagement and wrap-around support 

to young people affected by disengagement & NEET (Not in Education, 

Employment, or Training), SEND (Special educational needs and disability), being 

in care or leaving care, homelessness, youth offending, missing, gang affiliation, 

child sexual exploitation etc. 

 

2.4. The Youth Support Team commissioned by the county council and provided by 

Prospects, also carries out around 150 hours of targeted youth work per quarter in 

hotspots across the county, it was noted however this is a very limited resource 

and relies on referrals. They also work with partners in districts and the voluntary 

sector to support the delivery of other youth work in local areas.  

 

2.5. Open-access youth clubs, youth work and activities in local communities are 

otherwise provided by voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise 

organisations, often with funding support from district, town and parish councils 

and from the Police and Crime Commissioner. Most districts have their own youth 

strategies and voluntarily fund youth activities for 11-19 year olds, but this 

provision varies in each area. The county council contributes some small grants 

through individual councillors called the Community Support Fund. 

 

(See recommendation 4 and 5) 

 

2.6. Gloucestershire also has many proactive schools and a diverse voluntary and 

community youth sector able to offer nationally-funded initiatives and youth 

provision in most communities, but these are all dependent on local support and 

fundraising. 

 

2.7. Across the country, almost every local authority has reduced direct youth service 

delivery in the last eight years, although there is no longer any national audit of 

youth work spend to measure this. 

 

2.8. Given recent national and local concerns about County Lines, Child Exploitation, 

Knife Crime etc. there has been a call for more street based work for young 

people. In some London authorities, for example, they are reinstating youth work 

and advertising for youth workers and youth work managers again. 

Page 18



 

 

 

2.9. Some other current concerns for 8-24s in Gloucestershire are: high rates of 

permanent exclusion & inappropriate elective home education, mental health & 

wellbeing issues; high rates of teenage social care referrals & care entry, 

placement/housing instability, missing and exploitation. 

 

2.10. There are many high-level partnerships in the county developing strategies to 

better support children, young people and young adults. This includes the Child 

Friendly Gloucestershire initiative and GFirst LEP’s campaign to ‘make 

Gloucestershire a magnet for young people’. 

 

2.11. In addition, recent data submitted to the Youth Justice Board shows a continually 

improving performance in regard to to first time entry, repeat offending and 

custody appearance for young people in the justice system.  

 

2.12. The Council’s Youth Offending Team have adopted a new approach in 

recognising that children who offend or who are engaged in anti-social behaviour 

are often themselves vulnerable young people and that traditional criminalising 

sanctions can be both ineffective and inappropriate. Gloucestershire is currently 

performing better than national and regional averages in all areas of youth justice. 

 

3. TASK GROUP OBSERVATIONS 

Prior to the Youth Strategy Seminar and consultation feedback, the task group made a 

number of observations. Members noted that: 

3.1. There are examples where a targeted approach for youth support can miss 

individuals on the ‘cusp’ of needing support but not qualifying for the targeted 

resource. 

 

(See recommendation 1) 

 

3.2. There appeared to be a lack of consistent oversight of all youth work provision in 

Gloucestershire and resources for advice and training etc. Supporting good quality 

work and building capacity within communities is essential but now more difficult 

due to funding. 

 

3.3. There can be a gap between the targeted support provided by the council’s Youth 

Support Team and the services provided by communities. It was noted some 

voluntary organisations struggle to keep services going when committed people 

within the communities leave or pass away. 

(See recommendation 2) 

3.4. There is a need for a mapping of services to be available within the county to 

inform young people about what they can access locally (including appropriate 

public transport routes), and also assist organisations with sign posting young 

people to access the appropriate support. 

 

Page 19



 

 

3.5. It will be important to make sure even the smallest villages in Gloucestershire can 

access provisions; any change should aim to include mobile/flexible units that can 

move between areas easily. 

 

3.6. There are real, long term effects when a child is excluded from school and 

although decreasing, Gloucestershire currently has a considerably high exclusion 

rate compared to the national average. Expulsion from school can leave young 

people vulnerable to child exploitation and county lines. 

 

3.7. There continues to be a need for early intervention for families, children and young 

people who need support from the outset, to avoid the need for more complex 

interventions later down the line. 

 

3.8. Members identified that the four ‘golden threads’ of a new draft strategy should be: 

- Education 

- Parenting 

- Resilience (especially after-adverse childhood experiences (ACE’s)) 

- Mental and physical wellbeing 

 

4. CONSULTATION PROCESS 

 

4.1. As part of the task group’s work, Members worked with the Children and Families 

Commissioning team to develop questionnaires to capture the views of young 

people and residents in Gloucestershire to help shape the future youth strategy. 

(Copies attached at Annex 2 and 3.) 

 

4.2. Members were very clear that the young person survey should try to reach those 

who are most out of touch with system. This meant young people who didn’t 

attend youth clubs, who weren’t at school and who weren’t engaged with services. 

 

4.3. To do this, the Children and Families Commissioning Team at GCC 

commissioned DNA Youth Consultancy to carry out face-to-face engagement with 

existing youth provision in the County, as well as detached outreach work in the 

local communities, and engaging with young people in the high streets, car parks 

and other areas where young people socialised. The task group’s survey formed 

the basis of questions the consultancy firm asked, and details on the responses 

are outlined in section 5 of this report. 

 

4.4. The resident survey was advertised through GCC’s social media and online 

streams but unfortunately did not receive a measurable level of feedback. 

 

5. THE YOUTH STRATEGY SEMINAR 

 

5.1. On 16 September 2019, the group held a ‘Youth Strategy’ Seminar at Shire Hall to 

which they invited partners and organisations from around Gloucestershire who 

provide services for young people. (List of attendees at Annex 4). 

 

Page 20



 

 

5.2. As an introduction, Cllr Lesley Williams as Chair of the task group gave a brief 

outline of what a scrutiny task group was, it’s background and objectives (as 

outlined above). 

 

5.3. Introduction to Gloucestershire 

 

5.4.1. There was a presentation from Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for 

Integrated Children & Families Commissioning at GCC. 

 

5.4.2. She welcomed participants to the seminar, stressed the importance of 

listening to young people, and set the scene on the demographic and 

strategic context for children, young people and families.  

 

5.4.3. Noting the shared objective for Gloucestershire to become a child-friendly 

county, she presented the ambitions in the council’s Looking to the Future 

strategy for 2019-2022, with an emphasis on building ‘resilient communities 

and organisations that take action to prevent the potential lifelong impacts of 

adverse childhood experiences’. 

 

5.4. Young People’s Experiences of Youth Work and Youth Support in 

Gloucestershire County Council 

 

5.5.1. A second presentation was then given by Denny Anthony from DNA Youth 

Consultancy who gave an overview of his team’s youth engagement 

findings. The presentation included quotes from young people directly, as 

well as voice recordings of the team’s engagement. 

 

5.5.2. It was explained that there are currently 54,986 10-17 year olds in the 

County, an increasing number of children in need and on/subject to child 

protection plans and there are 19 areas across the County that are in the 

most deprived 10% for income deprivation affecting children. 

 

5.5.3. The group heard that a methodology was used initially to identify key areas 

to target with street based work. Statistical and anecdotal evidence was then 

combined to help identify the highest priority areas to target. This targeted 

street work engaged with existing youth services as well as  young people 

directly. 

 

5.5.4. Across a nine day period, the team of five engaged with a total of 238 young 

people between the ages of 14-18. They heard that the main 

concerns/worries of these young people were; doing well in exams, having 

enough money to do things, stress and mental health, getting a good job 

and family and relationships. 

 

5.5.5. It was emphasised that providing appropriate, preventative work to dissuade 

or distract young people away from drugs and violent crime and identifying 

and highlighting safe spaces for young people to go, were very important for 

young people in the County.  

Page 21



 

 

“The only time and space… (I)…find to do homework is when I attend the 

Young Carers Club”, for example. 

 

5.5.6. It was also highlighted that it is important for the safe space to be run by 

adults and/or professionals, who are approachable and whom the young 

people can trust. 

“Please bring back youth centres and youth workers - young people need 

relationships with adults they can look up to and trust” 

 

5.5.7. In addition, 138 young people valued being able to meet and socialise with 

friends, 90 would like a health drop in service to be available in their area 

and 124 would like education/careers advice. 

 

5.5.8. When asked about their awareness of existing youth provisions in 

Gloucestershire, the following responses were noted: 

- 30% of young people asked were not able to name a single provision for 

young people; 

- 77 mentioned a youth club they had previously attended; 

- 10 mentioned uniformed service outreach (e.g. cadets); 

- Most young people were not able to name a provision they did not 

attend themselves. 

 

5.5.9. Young people expressed that they feared knife and gang crime, as well as 

drug use, users and dealers. 

“I worry about my friends being involved with crime and getting into 

trouble”. 

 

5.5.10. The following recommendations were fed back to the Children and 

Families Commissioning Team for consideration: 

- Providing more open access, universal youth clubs and other provision, 

in the evenings and at the weekends, utilising the youth centres that are 

used for the provision of targeted services during the day. 

- Involving key voluntary sector providers in decisions about future 

funding for youth work. 

- The importance of service provision taking into account the availability 

of good public transport routes and taking consideration of young 

people’s perception of what are “safe” areas. Lack of affordable 

transport was seen as a significant barrier to accessing services. 

- The serious concern and surprise expressed at the number of young 

people the team met who had mental health problems. 

- Many young people were involved in recreational as well as more 

problematic drug use and were at risk of criminal exploitation. 

- Most young people were not aware of how to receive support for mental 

health or addiction issues or where they would be reported.  

- The use of detached workers, both on the streets and in venues such as 

the Cavern to build relationships with these young people 

- The importance of signposting services which must direct young people 

to relevant services as soon as issues are identified. 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

5.6. Questions 

 

5.6.1. One observation from the consultancy work was the high level of mental 

health problems being presented by young people in some areas, such as 

inner city Gloucester. There was a question to Denny about what he regards 

as ‘professional’ in terms of youth workers. He noted that sometimes 

qualifications are not necessary if the youth worker is part of a structure of 

supervised practice. 

 

5.6.2. It was noted that the University of Gloucestershire have stopped providing 

professional JNC level 6 qualification training, but there are still other 

courses available. The general observation being that it is becoming 

increasingly difficult to train as a youth worker. Building the youth workforce 

is within the scope of the youth strategy. 

 

(See recommendation 3) 

 

5.6.3. There was a question about whether there were any different observations 

taken from the rural areas as opposed to the central urban areas. It was 

confirmed that the same issues exist, but some rural areas lack safe places 

to congregate, access to health services and appropriate public transport. 

 

5.7. Discussion Exercise 

 

5.7.1. The second part of the Seminar involved a discussion exercise where each 

table around the room were given a theme to discuss and consider the 

question: ‘How can Gloucestershire best respond to this issue’. Attendees 

made comments on post-its for 10 minutes and then moved to the next table 

to comment on the next theme. 

 

5.7.2. All responses to the themes have been collated and shown in Annex 5. 

 

5.7.3. At the end of the exercise, Cllr Williams asked each table to feedback one 

message they would like to emphasise for  the task group to take away from 

today: 

a) A move back to the county council providing generic youth work 

alongside the targeted youth work. 

b) The need for countywide mapping of all the available services to raise 

awareness amongst young people and allow organisations to signpost 

better. 

c) ‘It takes a village to raise a child’ – the need for a more whole joined up 

approach between the county council, districts, the voluntary sector etc. 

d) The value of being a youth worker needs to be raised. Youth work should 

be seen as a good profession and attract the training and development 

opportunities it requires, as well as the funding. 

Page 23



 

 

e) To reinstate a proper youth service which is strategically planned and 

attracts core investment. 

f) Recognising and publicising the range of provision available in the 

voluntary/charity/faith sector and helping to attract funding for the 

organisations. 

g) Recognising the passion from existing organisations around 

Gloucestershire who currently support young people, and use that to 

move things forward. It is also evident that there are barriers in the 

system in terms of training/perception of youth workers today. 

 

6. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Gloucestershire County Council is committed to building upon the success of its current 

youth support service to produce both preventative and targeted provision for young people 

in our County. The following recommendations are solely outcomes from the scrutiny group 

review. GCC is developing a wider youth strategy for 2020, which will include a full service 

review resulting in wider recommendations. 

Based on the evidence and testimony presented during the review, it is the ambition of this 

Scrutiny Task Group on Youth Strategy that Gloucestershire extends this successful 

preventative work with young people across the board and around the county. 

This can happen through enlarging the youth work element of the council’s youth support 

service (YST), supporting the endeavour of voluntary and community sector organisations in 

every locality, and facilitating collaboration on joint issues such as training, safeguarding and 

youth work practice. 

The Scrutiny Task Group on Youth Strategy therefore makes the following 

recommendations: 

1. That the direction of travel of council youth support services and council-supported 

youth provision, becomes more preventative. That means reaching out to groups of 

young people who may be on the cusp but have not yet been referred by police, 

education, health or social care for specialist youth support. 

 

2. That the council works with its partners to organize a programme of regular events for 

people and organisations working in the youth sector – from whatever angle – for the 

purpose of networking, collaboration and continuous professional development. That 

some of these are countywide, others specific to a district. 

 

3. That the council works with its partners to agree a new common approach to the youth 

work training pathway, from youth leadership to volunteer training to degree-level 

professional qualification. That, to support this, the council builds in to any specification 

for youth support services a requirement to offer and support full youth work 

Apprenticeships at various levels. 

 

4. That an investment is made into council youth support services to enhance outreach 

and street-based youth work delivery across the county, and to bring professional youth 

work expertise into supporting community initiatives. And that the minimum number of 

Page 24



 

 

full-time JNC-qualified youth workers in the YST is one per district, each supported by at 

least five part-time workers (i.e. approximately double current levels).  

 

5. That an investment is made into council-supported youth provision through an 

adequately resourced grant programme devolved to division or district level, and 

supported by officers, to support and sustain the valuable preventative youth work by 

local voluntary and community sector organisations. 

 

Cllr Lesley Williams (Chair) 

Cllr Steve Robinson 

Cllr Suzanne Williams 

Cllr Colin Hay 

Cllr Eva Ward 

Cllr Terry Hale 

Cllr Stephen Davies 

Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin 

 

 

Page 25



Annex 1 

  

SCRUTINY REVIEW – ONE PAGE STRATEGY 
 

Broad topic  Children and Families 

Specific 

topic area 

 Youth Strategy and provisions for 8 - 24 year-olds* in Gloucestershire                                                                                                                                                   
(* Pop = c.105k of which 34k 10-14, 35k 15-19 & 34k 20-24) 

 

Ambitions 

for the 

review 

 

 

 

 

 To review and scrutinise current provisions for 8 – 24 year olds in Gloucestershire. 

 To consider how the Council could encourage young people’s personal and social 

development outside of school hours, and their preparation for adult life, through 

promoting youth provision in every community, delivered by a mix of volunteers and 

trained staff. 

 To make sure that whatever their background or circumstances, every young 

person has the support they need to be healthy, stay safe, enjoy and achieve, 

make a positive contribution and achieve economic well-being. 

 With partners, to use the continuum of need, in the new Right Placement First 

Time: Sufficiency Strategy, to develop recommendations to help the council better 

co-ordinate intervention services and provide a county-wide strategy. 

 

How do we 

perform at 

the moment? 

 

 Gloucestershire has many proactive schools and a diverse voluntary and 

community youth sector able to offer nationally-funded initiatives and youth 

provision in most communities but dependent on local support and fundraising. 

 The council’s Youth Support Team incorporates NEET and youth offending, with 

wrap-around services for referred and statutory clients. 

 Some current concerns for 8-24s are: high rates of permanent exclusion & 

inappropriate elective home education, mental health & wellbeing issues;  high 

rates of teenage social care referrals & care entry, placement/housing instability, 

county lines, missing and exploitation. 

Who and 

how should 

we consult? 

 Partner organisations who are involved in aspects of youth strategy (Action on 

ACEs, Restorative Practice, Future in Mind, Child Friendly Gloucestershire), 

including the CCG, PCC, county, district, town and parish councils; community and 

faith-based voluntary organisations; countywide organisations & experts. 

 Youth forums and young people aged 8-24. 

Background 

information 

 Statutory guidance from DfE; monitoring information from commissioning & 

strategic initiatives impacting on young people and young adults. 

Support  This review can be supported by officers from Democratic Services and the 

Children & Families Commissioning Hub. 

How long 

will it take? 

 Three months for an initial review, but at least six months to develop 

recommendations. 

 

Outcomes 

 A clearer picture of current provision for youth: needs, trends and linkages  

 Influencing the co-ordination of the intervention roles played by organisations  

 Common themes and issues to inform a countywide youth strategy 

 A more comprehensive, joined-up offer for young people across the county. 

 

Page 26



Youth Provision Survey 
Residents
The County Council is conducting a review of youth provision and youth support in every area 
across Gloucestershire. Your views are very important to help us shape future services for 
young people living in your area. Please answer the questions as fully as you can, and feel free 
to add more information.

1] Do	you	know	what	services,	clubs	or	activities
for young people are available in your area? (By
this we mean places young people can get to
easily	where	activities	are	organised	for	their
age group.)

Please tick as many as you wish…

X
a)  Voluntary sector youth club, project or

group (please specify)

b) Outreach or street-based youth workers
c) Outdoor/indoor activity centre (sports,

health, arts etc)
d) Face-to-face information and advice for

young people
e) Support for young people facing challenges

f) Other (please specify)

2] Are there any groups of young people in
your	area	who	do	not	get	access	to	the	youth
provision	or	support	they	need?

Please specify...

3] Which of the following are most important for
the young people in your area?

Please tick the two you consider to be highest 
priority…

X
a) Young people have access to a wide range

of positive activities or opportunities
b) Young people can access fair and impartial

information, advice and guidance
c) Young people are supported to stay in

education, employment or training
d) Young people are encouraged to make

positive choices and refrain from anti-
social behaviour

e) Young people can have an influence over
the issues and services that affect them

4] How can young people in your area be
encouraged	to	get	involved	with	their
community?

Annex 2

Page 27



www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

5]	We	may	propose	a	reorganisation	of	youth	
support	services	to	ensure	better	distribution	
of	resource	in	accordance	with	needs.	What	
impact	could	such	a	proposal	may	have	in	your	
area?

6]	We	intend	to	continue	working	in	partnership	
with	voluntary	sector	organisations	who	work	
with	young	people,	and	will	continue	to	support	
them	with	training	and	expertise.	What	do	you	
think about this?

7]	Youth	provision	that	is	open	to	all	is	sometimes	
called	‘preventative’	because	it	offers	social	
activities	and	relationships	that	can	prevent	
problems	getting	serious.		Targeted	services	
are	there	for	young	people	already	at	risk,	or	
in	particularly	challenging	situations,	to	enable	
them	to	deal	with	life’s	challenges.

 If we have to make changes in how resources 
are	allocated,	where	do	you	think	we	should	
focus our youth support?

8]	The	county	council	and	its	partners	have	access	
to	a	range	of	buildings	in	Gloucestershire	for	
youth	provision	and	youth	support.		Please	pick	
the two that you prefer...

X
A. Hub buildings that offers many services 

for young people over a wide area
B. Smaller centres spread across localities
C. Using other community buildings, i.e. 

libraries
D. We don’t need youth centres

9]	 When	should	youth	provision	and	youth	
support be available to young people? 

Please tick as many options as you think for each 
type service…

X
Preventative	Services		
Monday-Friday 
Weekends
School Term Time
School Holiday Time
Targeted	Services
Monday-Friday
Weekends
School Term Time
School Holiday Time

10)		Which	of	the	following	programmes	would	
you	like	to	see	being	delivered	through	youth	
provision	and	youth	support	services?	

Please tick all that apply…

X
Youth work in schools and colleges to develop 
life skills
Building cooperation between young people 
from different communities 
Work with those not attending or excluded 
from school
Activities bringing disabled and non-disabled 
young people together
Employment skills workshops with vocational 
qualifications 
Other

Which	of	the	following	best	describes	you?	

Please tick all that apply...
X

Young person 
Parent 
Local resident 
Statutory service provider
Voluntary sector Provider 
Other (Please specify)

Thank	you	for	completing	this	questionnaire.
Please return to your County Councillor or email to 
youthsurvey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 28



Youth Provision Survey
Young people
The County Council is conducting a review of youth provision and youth support in every 
area across Gloucestershire. Your views are very important to help us shape future services, 
so please answer the questions as fully as you can, and feel free to add more information.

1] What services, clubs or activities for young
people are available in your area? (By this
we mean places you can get to easily where
activities are organised for your age group.)

(Please tell us the names of any you can think of)

2] What is important to you and other young
people in your area?

Please tick or add as many as you want...

X
a)  Meeting up with friends
b) Using social media & gaming
c)  Doing activities to keep healthy & fit
d)  Having a safe place to hang out
e) Getting advice and support when you need it 
f) Getting a good education
k) Other (please specify below)

3] What do you and other young people worry
about?

Please tick or add as many as you want…

X
a)  attend a Youth club in your local area
b) chat with a youth worker who comes out

to the places you hang out

c) attend an activities centre for young people
(climbing, rowing, outdoor activities)

d) Other (please specify below)

4] What would you like to do out of school/college
hours in your area?

Please tick or add as many as you want…

X
a)  attend a youth club or project
b) chat with a youth worker who comes out

to the places you hang out
c)  do activities organised for young people

(e.g. sports, arts, outdoor activities)
d) do things for your community (e.g.

volunteering, social action)
e) all of the above
f) other
g) Graffiti workshop
K) Other (please specify)

Annex 3

Page 29



2

5) Which of the following would you use if it was 
available near you?

Please tick or add as many as you want…

X
a)  health advice drop-in (healthy eating, 

sexual health, quit smoking , etc) 
b) education and careers advice
c)  a mentor 
d) space to socialise
e) arts/dance/graffiti workshops
f) music production
g) all of the above
K) Other (please specify)

6) What age do you think youth provision should 
cater for? 

Please tick or add as many as you want…

X
a)  10 to 12 years
b) 13 to 14 years  
c)  15 to 17 years 
d) 18 to 24 years
e) Any age

7) What else is important to you that you would 
like to be heard by those planning youth 
provision or youth support?

Thank you for completing this questionnaire.
Please return to your County Councillor or email to 
youthsurvey@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 30



Annex 4 
Youth Strategy Seminar Attendees 

 
Cllr Lesley Williams  
Cllr Eva Ward  
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin  
Cllr Terry Hale  
Cllr Colin Hay  
Cllr Suzanne Williams  
Cllr Iain Dobie  
Cllr Ben Evans  
Cllr Klara Sudbury  
Cllr Brian Tipper  
Cllr Brian Robinson  
Wendy Williams; Assistant Director for Integrated Children & Families Commissioning (GCC)  
James Nwaogwugwu; Lead Commissioner (GCC)  
Francis Gobey; Outcome Manager (GCC)  
Julie Rzezniczek; Director of Children’s Safeguarding (GCC)  
Denny Anthony, DNA Youth Consultancy  
 
Representatives from:  
Youth Support Team (GCC)  
Cheltenham Borough Council  
Prospect Training Services  
WAM Youth  
Forest Voluntary Action Forum  
Gloucestershire Rural Community Council  
Treasure seekers/The Cavern  
Gloucestershire Young Carers  
Your Next Move  
The Friendship Café  
GayGlos  
Tic+  
Gloucester Sea Cadets  
The Door  
Fearless – Crimestoppers Trust  
Bromford Housing  
High Sheriff  
Community Mentoring and Support  
Play Gloucestershire  
The Rock  
New Brewery Arts  
OPEN house Stroud  
Victim Support  
The Music Works  
SG Mind  
Active Impact CIC  
Nailsworth Youth & Community Worker  
Youth Brigade  
Young Glos  
Gloucester City Council  
LCCP  
Stroud District Council  
A Young Person 

Page 31



Annex 5 

Keeping Safe – Protection from unsafe streets, crime and getting involved with crime 

 Keeping safe online – technology changing crime culture 

 FREE provision of evening activities and school holidays 

 More done to educate young people on things like county lines 

 Shelters in parks – Youth workers to visit, spend more time with young people in their 

environment 

 Build relationships with police 

 Access safer transport 

 Resilience building opps 

 Youth workers in schools 

 Safe places to go 

 Staying in groups 

 Well lit areas 

 Reclaim parks – make them great places to meet 

 Knowing who to go to and who to talk to – how to identify criminal activity 

 Peer group support – positive or negative? 

 Parents home or garden shed 

 Community cohesion – bringing together 

 Voluntary sector organisations like Victim Support, Young Carers and GDASS doing work 

around building resilience, capturing young people’s voice – use the experience that is out 

there in a joined up way 

 More funding for early help 

 Work in partnership to reduce vulnerability and improve their resilience 

 Feeling supported by adults – not being told to move on so feel safe 

 Giving young people the skills to say ‘no’ or walk away 

 FUND tier 2 mental health and drugs interventions 

 Knowing outreacher workers and getting out on the streets 

 Joined up working - so much good work already being done in this area. Children first, child 

friendly county 

 Bring back universal youth work in all districts – INVEST 

 Engaging with ALL young people ensuring they feel purpose in life 

 Invest in high quality universal youth work 

 PCSOs, schools, youth groups 

 A multi-agency schools programme doing education around safe choices, crime 

awareness, sexual health, healthy relationships 

 Keep CYP in school – reduce exclusions, support much earlier (fixed term exclusions) 

 Be trauma-informed – don’t move straight to punishment/enforcement 

 Schools – seek to understand underlying cause of behaviour – utilise EP, ATS and Support 

Service 

 More effective early help – to support families and protect CYP from exposure to crime and 

street 

 Raise their aspiration about careers, jobs and skills to ensure they do not see crime as 

viable future 

 Skill training for P/T staff 

Page 32



Annex 5 

 Training and support for early recognition/help for vol. sector and other organisations 

 Access to positive activities 

 Multi agency approach – health and wellbeing board issue 

 Detached youth workers with good links to schools 

 Funding for universal, open-access youth provision (needs to be sustainable – not the 

current chasing for decreasing funding on annual basis) 

 Access to professionals outside of after hours 

 Having somewhere safe to meet with friends in a non-judgemental environment 

 Catch the drug crime dealers and rehab the children 

 Safeguarding policy at strategic level that can be practically implemented/easily understood 

 Use the power of youth and community work 

 Wide range of skills and resources available to most at risk 

 Youth work in communities – go to where young people are – but it needs funding 

 More focus on keeping YP in ETE 

 Access to professionally boundaried staff after school/ETE hours 

 Clear strategy for youth provision to share info, training, etc. 

 Use our youth centres in evenings and weekends 

 Other professionals to work with youth workers, i.e. mental/physical health, police 

 Promote other more exciting opportunities for YP in their communities – have opportunities 

for involvement 

 Involve young people in working with other young people 

 PCC investment in young people projects 

 More policing projects e.g. Aston Project 

 Rural areas – pubs could have no alcohol areas 

 Open schools/youth centres etc. in the evenings 

 Awareness with other professionals of exploitation and the fact these are children 

 Revisit planning policy to build and develop space 

 Open access generic youth clubs/work 

 Self defence classes in school 

 Consistent investment in safe spaces and relationships 

 

Opportunities for all age groups, from 10 to 24, to be involved in their communities 

 Forest of Dean (Coleford) – mainly 10-16 opportunities 

 YP involved in planning process and designing in space 

 Young people being pushed out physically but aging community 

 Put in place proper infrastructures for young peoples engagement, i.e. youth councils 

 Support for volunteering – brokering between YP and opps 

 Volunteering opportunities with development opps i.e. training help with CV, etc. 

 10-14 not really covered 

 Arrange proper consultation events 

 One place to find out about all YP provision 

 Recognise that 10 year olds need to have a voice – lower age from 13 years 

 Volunteering opportunities in local community 

Page 33



Annex 5 

 Tewkesbury – not uniformed – including accessible inclusive spaces/sessions for YP with 

disabilities 

 Restorative approach to mediating between young people and rest of community 

 Communities need to listen and respond  

 Communities of interest 

 Local district councils to involve young people in early planning process 

 Cross generational community enforcement 

 Street based research with YP 

 Improved transport 

 Community facilities for young people – sports and recreational 

 Lower voting age to 16 

 Young people being valued 

 Accessibility to young people from all demographics 

 Democracy as part of youth work practice 

 19+ years volunteering opportunities – mentoring, peer support, leading into progressive 

routes 

 Make sure it is not tokenistic 

 Local work experiences & placements in communities 

 YP don’t feel welcome at local meetings/structures 

 Social action 

 Community approach to local issues (problems?) 

 Accessible platforms to express views 

 Changing perceptions and stigma 

 Training parish/local councils to work effectively with YP 

 Create safe spaces (including outside) for young people 

 Support for young people to enable them to access democratic and/or community things 

 LISTEN to them – if they give you a view, take into account 

 Vocational opportunities in the community 

 Support for young people to enable them to access democratic and/or community things 

(Stroud good example) 

 Make it fun, interesting and relevant 

 No more tokenistic consultation events 

 Housing strategy to include YP 

 Long term support enables ‘Young Leaders’ to be grown, who also become great role 

models 

 Currently lots of different feedback being asked for if not coordinated people can get ‘fed 

up’ 

 Feedback to young people after consultations so they feel something happens 

Getting help with worries, healthy relationships, mental health issues and drug use 

(including action on ACEs, witnessing violence & other trauma) 

 Peer support groups 

 How can work on ACEs be made positive for young people 

 How do you engage with home-schools 

Page 34



Annex 5 

 Campaigns targeted to young people around self help 

 Generational issues that require extensive help/targeting 

 Mindfulness or yoga/wellbeing classes – from primary 

 Targeted support wrapped around universal service (non stigmatising) 

 Support  for schools to deliver 

 Easy access for services that are available to them 

 Joining up resources for YP, parents, carers and people working with YP – consistency 

 Bullying 

 Emotional wellbeing – NOT mental health 

 Are parents aware what’s available? 

 More work on healthy relationships 

 Stigma that goes with accessing 

 Preventative ethos 

 Wellbeing mentors 

 Awareness sessions in schools by youth workers 

 GDASS workers to visit schools – create awareness 

 Use of the internet/technology to engage safely 

 Say emotional wellbeing NOT mental health if you want to get YP on board 

 Re-accessing services without being put at bottom of list again 

 Need to reduce waiting times (CYPs etc.) 

 How do you connect to the ones who are not in education 

 Social pressure through social media – no chance to switch off 

 Better sign posting for the children 

 Reduce waiting times 

 Transition states 

 Inconsistency in services (cuts from funding) 

 Raise profile of On Your Mind website and invest in this as the place for 

YP/parents/professionals to search 

 Needs to be a quick response to queries 

 Long term joined up with schools 

 How do you connect to the ones who are not in education 

 TiCs – Teens in Crisis 

 Develop community off?? of mental health support 

 Enable child carers to have a childhood and to have a choice about whether they want to 

care for parents and siblings 

 Parenting support crucial 

 Better use of social media to engage YP support 

 Starting an early age 

 Action and resource – not just ‘partnership working’ 

 An issue for the health and wellbeing board 

 Basic training freely available to adults in the front line 

 Public health to reach out to youth groups re mental health/healthy relationships/sexual 

health 

 Are we comfortable talking about these topics? 

Page 35



Annex 5 

 Mentoring/coaching support – including through sport, music, art, etc. 

 Service delivery hours 

 One stop shop required for accessing services 

 One stop ‘app’ type info service – On Your Mind 

 Early intervention and highlighting early 

 Victim support’s Who’s Been In Our Tree resource – talking to primary aged children about 

how to cope with worries 

 More partnership working with Public Health GCC to use resource of youth workers 

particularly in school 

 CRush programme better awareness 

 Mental health first aid youth training for all statutory services 

 Voice of the ‘average’ child – some of this work being done already in the county 

 Responding to funders not YPs 

 Self exclusion 

 Drugs and mental health can be different pathways 

 Respond when help asked for 

 Support in schools – easy to access support 

 Local one to one support/help 

 

Places to meet up with friends where adults help make young people feel safe 

 Better use of public buildings, e.g. library, schools, youth club out of hours 

 Detached youth workers 

 Better mapping of current provision 

 Positive perception – more needed 

 Youth café, youth clubs 

 Using school buildings – evening/weekends – fancy events 

 Need to change our narrative about YP – they matter, they deserve investment, they are 

our future – safe spaces 

 Better use of social media to communicate with YP – hear their voice, signpost them 

 Ask the young people what THEY think this would look like 

 School holidays & weekends – commissioning opportunity 

 Detached mobile provision – equipped & staffed professionally to be responsive 

 Research with YP themselves – involved them from the planning stage 

 Young people are interested/worried about their future – debates, conferences (politics) 

 Use empty shops – pop up café 

 Diversity in venue provision – ‘we don’t all need to do the same thing’ 

 INVEST – music/art/dance/drama projects 

 Young people use places with tarmac lighting, wifi – supermarkets 

 Outreach project 

 Make use of church/faith spaces – some of them are left open, can these be utilised 

somehow? 

 Outdoors and indoors 

 Safe place is not always in stone (van drawn underneath) 

Page 36



Annex 5 

 The door does this 

 Use football and rugby clubs 

 Rural spaces are important 

 Detached youth workers make anywhere a safe space 

 Cafés – run by YP/work experience/training opportunities supported by PCSOs & other 

profs (Glasgow model) 

 Database of opportunities in format and style accessible to YP 

 Residential experiences build community 

 Positive adult role models 

 ‘Local’ is very parochial 

 Volunteering opportunities for young people 

 Young people want different things and different places to go 

 Parks – make them safe 

 Cheltenham – The Rock, GCafé, Brizen Young Peoples Centre, Oasis – coronation sq., 

Whaddon YC – Chelt trust & Wiggly Worm (fuel Thursday), CK Youth Centre, Holy Apostles 

Church CK, Wilson Arts Collective (@thewilson) – more investment needed in these youth 

work provisions – they are existing on a knife-edge/hand to mouth  

 Mobilise young people around things that interest them, i.e. climate change 

 Place to meet up key characteristics – people, kindness, support, food, etc. 

 Community of interest spaces 

 Positive messages about young people to counteract perceptions 

 Sports/Arts projects 

 Generic youth work sessions 

 Supermarket car parks (is the aging population in Gloucestershire pushing young people 

out physically) 

 Multi-generational groups utilise and think innovatively 

 Go to them to engage first 

 Opening cafés in the evenings safe places/areas in pubs 

Missing or excluded from school – what happens next? (including support; alternative or 

informal education; information, advice and guidance) 

 Preventative measures prior to exclusion 

 Better regulating of home schooling 

 Better analysis of (huge) increase in voluntary home schooling – what’s wrong with the 

rejected ‘system’? 

 More flexibility in school – more choices, student led? 

 School system is too focused on formal quals – CHANGE IT 

 Why do we have such high exclusion rates?  

 Reform school/education/exam system 

 Discussion with (financial?) support of external agencies who are working with excluded 

YP/supporting the work of PRU 

 Long term/trusted relationship with adult 

 Make sure ETE providers are recording YP as ‘missing’ 

 Schools need to account for WHY a child is excluded – EHCPs? 

 Schools willing to break the mould and put their values first 

Page 37



Annex 5 

 What could have prevented these exclusions? 

 Early diagnosis of learning difficulties, neurodiversity and disabilities 

 Narrowing curriculum demotivating students 

 Are our schools struggling to keep up? 

 How do they access services? 

 Schools to allow more time for outside agencies 

 Teacher retention, schools need to retain best/most experienced teachers 

 Assessment of support before behaviours become ‘problem’ 

 Educational mentor in schools 

 Soft exclusions – out of sight out of mind 

 Hold schools to account for what happens to children following exclusion 

 2nd fixed term exclusions – triggers a response/review – what is going on for that child? 

EP/ATS/ 

 ‘Nurture centres’ within school to help struggling pupils 

 Use voluntary spaces to engage YP during day 

 More provision for those who have issues preventing them from attending school 

 Reintegration through restorative approaches 

 Local hubs for excluded YP 

 Signposting to places that offer skills development 

 One Child/YP Excluded, costs increase – e.g. Alt Provision, Transport – more creative use 

of funding to keep in school 

 Once excluded from mainstream how are helped or signposted? 

 How can mainstream schools be more inclusive rather than excluding disabled pupils? 

 Schools to be more open to collaborative preventative working – successful schools work 

with their communities not in their own bubble 

 More effort in finding what it is the YP are really interested in, therefore keeping them once 

in alternative provisions 

 Better sharing of information between services on ground level 

Funding, Training, Support 

 Stop requiring innovation! Evidence based practice works 

 Please involve the Cheltenham Youth Work Network in the development of the strategy (via 

Angela Gilbert GRCC) Richard Gibson CBC 

 Proper identification of voluntary provision 

 Funding stability – short term grants 

 Staff resource 

 Promote partnership working 

 Recognition of issues with volunteer staff 

 Ways that funders want evaluations and monitoring i.e. case studies, good news stories 

 Recognition of value and professionalism 

 5 year plan needs long term funding 

 Youth work recognised as a profession by partners 

 Recognition of value of local community volunteers and knowledge 

 Central hub who oversees voluntary delivery, ensures quality, etc. 

Page 38



Annex 5 

 Don’t centrally commission services 

 Understanding how ‘safe spaces’ can be a hub for specialist and universal provision 

 Links to professionals to provide support advice and network opportunities 

 Commissioning small local groups not simply a single contract for complex and different 

needs across the county 

 Early intervention work recognised and developed 

 Regular networking opportunities, one central org/post to organise and support 

 Make youth services a statutory function of GCC but a duty of others to support 

 Funding is key but also is robust quality assurance and support 

 Network and support for small organisations 

 Specialist networks 

 Finances 

 Valued 

 More funding – district level and county level commitment needed 

 Subsidised transport to enable access to provision 

 Collaboration and specialisms 

 Overarching oversight at youth provision to ensure quality assurance safeguarding etc. 

 Remember volunteers may have paid jobs and other commitments so training and supports 

needs to be accessed 

 Information sharing 

 Introduce a youth forum to celebrate the positive experiences of living in the county – a 

youth festival showcasing their skills and agencies they work with 

 Recognition 

 Having a voice into strategy and decisions 

 Access to transport 

 Core funding is vital 

 Funding and networking needed 

 Networking for these organisations to support each other 

 Not just ‘youth worker’ ‘children’s workforce’ 

 Give us the money 

 Share out the cake to smaller charities 

 Accessible free funding at suitable times 

 Training and development 

 Fund what is working not just new initiatives 

 Enough funding and resource that vol groups don’t need to be in competition for small pot 

money – encourage collaboration 

 Networking and co-commissioning opportunities 

 Volunteers do not come for free! 

 We wouldn’t expect GPs to be voluntary – those working with our young people should 

have respect, training, funding 

 Investment in infrastructure support, organisational development 

 Raise status of youth work and youth worker training and development 

 Sustainable funding streams 

 Give voice to the smaller providers doing fab work 

Page 39



Annex 5 

 Sustainable core funding at least 5 years – we are about building relationships, you can’t do 

that with project funding 

 Role of public sector to facilitate and engage with VCS – supporting where needed 

 Understand the difference between ‘voluntary’ and ‘volunteer’ 

 Core funding needed 

 Funding 

 Address training and skills and recruitment of youth workers 

 Training for youth workers and volunteers from introduction to professional 

 Value youth work, transforms lives and can save public money – in cons term, youth 

workers need skills to help young people develop 

 VCS have to spend so much time applying for funding, rather than doing their job 

 More funding support for charities and vol groups to source relevant funding 

 Investment into provision/building, etc. 

 Support for managers of voluntary organisations 

 Training and development 

 Long term funding 

Other 

Transport/travel – what is needed is what we used to have: 

 Mentoring – Targeted and with relatable people, more one to one 

 Transport 

 Raising of profile of youth workers, further professional training 

 Make sure youth work is generic term for children’s workforce (include playworkers) 

 Multi-agency working – culture change 

 Greater respect for youth work approach 

 Respecting voluntary agencies and their expertise 

 Partnership in reality and that works for young people 

 Early capture of mental health problems among young people – why only teachers qualify 

for training by county? 

 Youth worker attached to schools? 

 Resources to fund development of core activities – takes time to build trust 

 Cross-section of youth providers – not just faith etc. (i.e. universal) 

 Access – needs to be evenings, weekends, holidays 

 Youth work – consistent access with a trusted adult 

 Performances in communities at the time times 

 Recognition that YP have a choice 

 Inclusion – not everyone needs the same things to feel welcome 

 Free positive activities 

 Young people to be seen as a positive not a negative 

 Ability to get in schools to offer services 

 Reflective learning with schools/youth services 

 Trailblazer – hr links in? 

 Mapping provision – needs one central point  

 PCSOs going back into schools 

Page 40



Annex 5 

 Universal provision needs to be universal (to break down barriers) 

 Youth work principles must be understood, valued and then resourced via youth work 

projects/organisations 

 Make sure 10 to 14s have a voice 

 Involve youth workers (those who are currently delivering direct to YP) in the development 

of this strategy 

 What about strategy for ALL school aged children – where is their voice 

 Looking at groups that work well across 9/26 age group – such as young farmer clubs 

 Offer concessionary favourites to child carers to enable them to get out and about 

 Does it need to be commissioned – can it not go back ‘in house’ 

 Work with younger age group – 8-18yrs 

 Training opportunities JNC 

 Information sharing with voluntary 

 Core funding for voluntary sector  

 Children’s services still inadequate, what’s the visible public facing plan to improve this 

 More accessible CYPs service 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



1

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2019/20

Cabinet Date 13 November 2019

Finance and 
Change Cllr Lynden Stowe 

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents MTFS Report to 13th February 2019 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Reports to Cabinet 24th July 2019 & 9th October 2019

Main Consultees Corporate Management Team, Senior Officers, Cabinet Members.

Planned Dates Not applicable

Divisional 
Councillor

County Wide

Officers Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2019/20 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Key 
Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of September 
2019 for the 2019/20 financial year of a net £5.141 million overspend 
against the revenue budget of £429.661 million.

2. Authorises the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to work with the 
Director of Corporate Resources to identify options for meeting the 
overspend including reviewing revenue reserves and any in year 
efficiencies.

3. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of September 
2019 of £108.655 million and agrees to re-profile the capital budget to 
match the forecast.

4. Approves the changes in the capital programme as outlined at paragraphs 
59 to 62 of the report, which include £14.261 million on Highways, £0.028 
million on Libraries, £0.151 million on Fire & Rescue, £0.270 million on 
AMPS.

 Resource 
Implications These are detailed within the report

Page 43

Agenda Item 6

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Revenue Expenditure 2019/20

A. Revenue Forecast  Outturn Position 2019/20

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£429.661 million, based on actual expenditure at the end of September 2019 and 
forecasts made in October 2019 is a £5.141 million overspend or 1.2% of the total  
budget.

2. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area is provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of Oct 2019

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 148,940 148,940 0 0.0% 0 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 32,606 32,596 -10 0.0% -11 1 

Children & Families 113,765 124,497 10,732 9.4% 9,780 952 

Communities & 
Infrastructure

70,232 70,807 575 0.8% 571 4 

GFRS and Regulatory 
Services

20,297 20,418 121 0.6% 120 1 

Corporate Resources 32,934 32,934 0 0.0% 0 0 

Corporate Resources 
Recharges

-32,934 -32,934 0 0.0% 0 0 

Total for Services 385,840 397,258 11,418 3.0% 10,460 958 

Technical & Corporate 43,821 37,544 -6,277 -14.32% -5,970 -307 

Total 429,661 434,802 5,141 1.20% 4,490 651 

Forecast 
Variance 

Previously 
reported 

Service Area
2019/20 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Change in 
variance 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

3. If this overspend remains at the end of the financial year it will need to be funded 
from reserves. Currently General Reserves are £18.520 million or 4.3% of the 

Page 44



3

net revenue budget. The financial impact of these unfunded financial pressures 
will be built into the MTFS process and the 2020/21 revenue budget.

4. In order to avoid reducing General Reserves at the end of the financial year it is 
recommended that the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change works with the 
Director of Corporate Resources to review all existing revenue reserves in order 
to identify potential funds that could be used to meet all or part of the overspend. 
It is also recommended that a review of potential in year efficiencies is 
undertaken. The results of this review will be incorporated into a future Cabinet 
report.

 
Adult Social Care

5. Adult Social Care is reporting a balanced position by utilising reserves to meet 
an underlying overspend of £1.927 million. This forecast position includes £2.530 
million Winter Pressures funding and £2.049 million of Additional Social Care 
Grant. 

6. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £6.416 million in total which 
includes the Vulnerable Adults Reserve of £2.654 million - the balance is 
specifically set aside for the backdated element of new Ordinary Residence 
cases and additional commitments relating to the National Living Wage and the 
Care Act.

7. There are a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly relate to 
negotiations with a residential care provider and the Adult Single Programme for 
the MTFS savings targets of £10.498 million.   

8. MTFS savings targets for all client groups are integrated under the Adults Single 
Programme (ASP) and total £10.498 million.  Currently the forecast assumes 
84% of the ASP is achievable.

9. LD External Care is projecting a £0.065 million overspend. The LD overspend 
assumes delivery of the majority (92%) of the 2019/20 savings targets, although 
there are risks around a number of these. The overspend relates to increased 
demand and increased complexity of some cases. This position includes £1.350 
million of funding that is being used on a one-off basis ahead of expected 
cases/decisions being made which will create permanent commitments included 
in future MTFS proposals.

10.OP and PD External Care is projecting a £2.650 million overspend. The 
overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP showing as £2.006 
million and PD £0.644 million. The OP/PD overspend assumes 79% delivery of 
2019/20 savings targets, £3.669 million is included within the forecast with a risk 
of not achieving £1.000 million savings. The overspend mainly relates to the 
unachievable savings, increased care needs for existing cases and voids/other 
additional costs relating to homes run by a major provide.

Page 45



4

11.The Mental Health forecast position is a £1.594 million overspend net of 
unallocated MTFS growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner.  

12.The Community Equipment Service (CES) / Telecare budgets are reported as 
online.     

13.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as 
a number of specific commissioned contracts.  The forecast position for these 
services nets to a £1.842 million underspend including:

a. £0.962 million significant overspends: £0.161 million Community 
Meals; £0.801 million MTFS Prevention Unallocated which includes 
reablement saving allocation not yet addressed/confirmed (see 
comments below).

b. £2.791 million significant underspends: £0.175 million under Hospital 
Care Navigators due to vacancies; £0.098 million Integrated 
Brokerage due to vacancies; £0.069 million Administration Finance 
due to a vacancy; £0.053 million Adults Social Care Levy; £0.095 
million for the Advocacy contract due to current year usage of the 
contract; £0.768 million OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management 
(ISCM) due largely to vacancies; £0.098 million Contact Centre due 
to vacancies; £0.732 million for the OP/PD Reablement Service 
managed by Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST (formally 
Gloucestershire Care Services) due to vacancies (see above 
comments); £0.053 million Safeguarding; £0.366 million Deputy 
Director ASC due to vacancies and £0.285 million LD Assessment, 
Support Planning & Management mainly due to vacancies. 

c. a number of smaller variances netting to a £0.013 million 
underspend. 

14.Other Services (Unallocated) are reported as £0.509 million underspend, 
reduction for Framework uplift. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

15.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number 
of smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants.

16.The current forecast of the year end revenue position is an underspend of 
£0.010 million against prevention projects.

17.Public Health is reporting a balanced position. Services are funded by a ring-
fenced grant, which if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific 
reserve. The in-year forecast for Public Health is an underspend of £0.302 

Page 46



5

million due to lower commitments against the healthy lifestyles contract, release 
of a contingency and lower dispensing costs for health checks activity and staff 
vacancies.

Children & Families

18. The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at October 2019 for 
non-DSG funded services is an overspend of £10.73 million (9.43% of budget). 
As in 2018/19 the overspend is due to higher than expected number of external 
placements and the cost of agency social work staff covering vacancies with 
the significant part of the increase of £0.952 million in the month due to the 
number of external placements . 
 

19. At the end of October 2019 children in care numbers were 725 compared to 
669 at the end of May 2018. This activity continues to cause significant 
budgetary pressures on children’s services and in particular against the 
external placement and safeguarding staff budgets resulting in the overspend. 
Although an efficiency plan has been produced which initially aimed to reduce 
the forecast overspend to below £5 million by the year end the continued 
pressure on the external placement budget has made this unachievable. Cost 
pressures and proposals aimed at reducing the current overspend are set out 
below. Further scrutiny of the budget position by external consultant, supported 
by the LGA, has taken place in September and October but the report has not 
yet been received. 

20. The current forecast overspend against the external placement budget is 
£6.186 million (28.4% above budget), an increase of £0.688 million between 
the September and October forecast.  This includes a contingency of £1.08 
million for new cases in-year allowing for additional placements to replace 
existing care commitments or allowing for higher number of placements. Initial 
work has commenced on the development a robust model or ‘care ladder’ 
linking social care planning and decision making to the management of 
resources as the basis for more accurate financial modelling.  Currently there is 
a lack of reliable information regarding projections into the future, however if 
current trends continue the forecast could increase by an additional £0.7 million 
above the contingency.  The overspend is due to a higher number of external 
placements than anticipated with 3 additional secure placements included in 
the forecast this month costing an additional £0.451 million for the remainder of 
the financial year. The current forecast average unit cost of a placement is 
£95,700 per annum, (residential/supported living average unit cost of 
£153,300). There are currently 325 external placements, of which 79 are 
residential and 72 supported living placements.
 

21. The review of all high cost placements is continuing on a regular basis as part 
of the wider improvement work ensuring decisions around placement change 
and permanence are executed in timely child centred manner. This will 

Page 47



6

continue to reduce the cost of external placements where appropriate including 
reducing unit costs.  Improving social care practice to divert children from care 
at an earlier point and achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity will 
reduce numbers of children in care costs in the longer term. 

22. Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast overspend of £2.718 
million (17.6% above budget). The significant overspend is due to the use of 
agency staff covering for staff vacancies or where caseloads remain high. 
Changes have been made to improve processes for recruitment, put in place 
more effective advertising as well as the launch of the social work academy to 
support the training and development of social workers and to improve 
retention. Turnover of staff has reduced to 12.4% over the last month and at 
the end of September there were 134 agency workers in post compared to over 
180 at times in 2018/19. As the newly qualified staff who have been appointed 
over the last few months gain experience the number of agency staff is 
expected to reduce by the end of March 2020.  

23. A higher level of activity is also causing an overspend of £0.777 million in 
section 17 and discretionary payments for foster carers. A resource panel is 
now in place to review and agree all significant payments and ensure 
consistency across teams and signpost to other services.

24. In addition to this young peoples support are forecasting a £0.741 million 
overspend due to a number of complex cases and the additional cost of 
agency staff covering vacancies where the cost will reduce as permanent staff 
are recruited. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

25. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be overspent 
by £9.502 million in 2019/20 which includes the deficit carry forward of £2.884 
million in the high needs block. As reported last year the cost pressures are in 
the High Needs block with a forecast in-year overspend for the block in 
2019/20 of £6.914 million. The overspends are against Independent Special 
Schools (£1.866 million), top ups to support Education, Health and Care plans 
(EHCP) (£2.993 million) with significant overspends against colleges and 
special schools as well as a deficit in-year budget of £1.192 million; these are 
all caused by increases to activity, many of which have been unanticipated and 
above forecast trends but reflects the national picture. 

26. The High Needs Strategy approved by Cabinet in January 2019 includes eight 
core activities to address the continuing cost pressures. Working with schools 
and the School Forum, these activities will include focusing on a new approach 
to exclusions and improvement of the graduated pathway and EHCP process. 
Forecast models of expenditure and activity trends are in place and the 

Page 48



7

assumptions used are challenged on a monthly basis to ensure robust 
forecasting but the continued high level of referrals has resulted in 
contingencies being increased this month to reflect the trend.   The specialist 
commissioning team are also continuing to work to reduce the cost of 
placements in independent schools where appropriate. 

27. The budget pressure that Gloucestershire is facing reflects the national picture 
with significant deficits in DSG high needs being held in many Local 
Authorities. The recent funding announcements identified nationally £700 
million additional funding for special needs in 2020/21. Information received 
from the DFE in October gives a provisional increase in the high needs block 
for 2020/21 of £6.086 million which does not cover our current in-year cost 
pressure so the implementation of the High Needs Strategy will be essential to 
ensure the budget is balanced in future years.

Communities & Infrastructure 

28.Communities and Infrastructure are currently reporting a forecast of £0.575 
million overspend (0.82% of total budget). 

29.Waste are forecasting a net overspend of £0.563 million in total which is made 
up from £0.367 million overspend against recycling credit payments,  £0.072 
million HRC overspend, £0.214 million reduction in HRC income for metals, 
textiles and cardboard and £0.090 million underspend against wood.  HRC 
materials income fluctuates throughout the year; therefore, this is our best 
forecast at this point in time. Material prices may improve or decline further as a 
result of global trading conditions 

30.Highways Commissioning are reporting an overspend of £0.144 million caused 
by a number of small cost pressure areas within the contract and meeting 
service requirements. Parking is currently reporting a balanced position and 
income is being closely monitored to manage the risk of a year end variance.

31.The revenue forecast includes £0.291 million for ‘Highways Locals’ revenue 
contributions to capital schemes.

32.The Integrated Transport Unit are forecasting to overspend by £0.030 due to 
sustainable travel budgets however it should be noted that ITU continues to 
monitor new contract prices in order to manage the risk of an overspend. 

33.There is an overspend recognised in the Highways Development Control team 
due to staff vacancy and consultancy cover needed to meet current workload. 
This will be offset by additional drawdown of Developer fees at year end, 
therefore allowing a breakeven position to be reported overall.

34.Strategic Infrastructure is reporting a £0.135 million underspend. This is made up 
of an underspend in the Flood revenue budget of £0.275 million and an 
overspend of £0.140 million against the Planning Development Management 
team due to lower than anticipated income generation. 

Page 49



8

35.There is a small underspend of £0.028 million reported on the Place and Place 
support staffing budgets due to staff vacancy

36.All other areas – Libraries, Registrars and Adult Education are reporting a break 
even position.

Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service & Regulatory Services

37.The Fire and Rescue Service is currently forecasting a year end overspend of 
£0.121 million. The overspend is due to the additional cost of employers' 
superannuation contributions for fire pension schemes. The total additional cost 
was calculated at £1.214million per annum. A grant of £1.093 million covering 
90% of the increase was provided by the Home Office leaving a shortfall of 
£0.121 million. 

38.Trading Standards and the Coroner’s Service are anticipating an on-target 
position.

Corporate Resources

39.The forecast year end position for Corporate Resources is a balanced position - 
this includes a £0.110 million forecast overspend against the Asset Management 
& Property Services car parking budget due to the cost of the alternative 
provision following the changes to the Quays carpark. This overspend is being 
covered by vacancies elsewhere within Corporate Resources.

Technical and Cross Cutting

40.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £6.28 
million underspend (14.32% of budget). The main areas of variance relate to:-

41.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances totalling £3.19 million, reflecting 
better diversification of investments and longer term deposits.

42.When the 2019/20 Budget was agreed in February 2019 a number of 
government funding streams had not been finalised due to the timings of 
announcements.  These funding streams have now been confirmed and have 
resulted in slightly more central funding than originally estimated.  In total, £2.78 
million more will be received from s31 grants as a result of changes that central 
government have made to business rates, known as Business Rates Autumn 
Statement Grant for 2019/20.  These changes to funding are managed within the 
Technical and Corporate budgets for the Council.

43.A number of smaller variances on corporate budgets netting to a £0.31 million 
underspend.

Page 50



9

B. Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2019/20

44.The capital budget for 2019/20 is £126.091 million, an increase of £0.043 million 
since last reported to Cabinet due to additional approval granted at October 
Cabinet. Actual spend against the capital programme as at the end of September 
2019 is £33.526 million. 

Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2019/20

45.The forecast outturn position for 2019/20 is £108.655 million, against the budget 
of £126.091 million giving forecast slippage of £17.436 million.

46. It is recommended that the current year budgets are re-profiled to reflect the 
current forecast and the revised budget set at £108.655 million. This ensures the 
latest figures are included in the MTFS 2020/21.  This has no effect on the whole 
life cost of capital schemes.

47.Details of the budgets and forecast year end position, analysed by service area, 
are provided in the table below and the narrative that follows. 

 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2019/20

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2019/20

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2019/20

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2019/20

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

£000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0

Adults 7,109 3,290 46 7,637 527

Children & Families 28,015 9,857 35 21,503 -6,512

Communities
Highways 57,465 16,855 29 56,839 -627
Strategic Infrastructure 2,125 81 4 2,142 17
Waste Disposal 1,228 478 39 830 -398
Libraries 909 9 1 292 -617

 Fire & Rescue 1,285 11 1 1,285 0

Corporate Resources
AMPS 17,570 1,741 10 10,058 -7,511
ICT projects 8,380 535 6 6,615 -1,765
Business Service Centre 631 10 2 531 -100
Archives & Information Management 739 643 87 739 0
Customer 634 16 3 184 -450

Total 126,091 33,526 27 108,655 -17,436

Page 51



10

Adults Programme

48.Adults’ schemes are forecast to spend £7.637 million in 2019/20 against a 
budget of £7.109 million, giving a forecast in-year overspend of £0.527 million. 
This is due to accelerated forecast spend in the current year by the district 
councils on Disabled Facilities Grants.

Children & Families Programme 

49.Children & Families schemes are forecast to spend £21.503 million in 2019/20 
against a budget of £28.015 million, giving a forecast slippage of £6.512 million, 
a slight reduction to that previously reported to Cabinet. This is mainly due to 
planning issues and design delays associated with a small number of school 
expansion projects.

Highways Programme

50.Highways schemes are forecast to spend £56.839 million in 2019/20 against a 
budget of £57.465 million, giving a forecast in-year underspend of £0.626 million. 
This relates to the effect of the contract changeover delaying the design of a 
large number of schemes particularly in relation to bridges, landslips and road 
safety schemes to the point where the works that were planned for spring 2020 
will now not take place until the summer. There is also, potentially,  a substantial 
reduction in the spend forecast for the Gloucester to Quedgeley Cycle Track 
caused by reviewing the surface treatment and uncertainty over the continuation 
of the EU grant in the event of a no-deal Brexit (it would continue if there is a 
deal). This reduction is largely balanced by an increase in spend on Major 
Schemes where contracts have recently been awarded on a number of projects 
and an increase in the rate of carriageway investment.

Strategic Infrastructure Programme

51.Flood Alleviation schemes are forecast to spend £0.431 million in 2019/20 
against a budget of £0.418 million, giving a forecast in-year overspend of £0.013 
million. The Saturn Transport Modelling scheme is forecast to spend £0.155 
million in 2019/20 against a budget of £0.151 million, giving a forecast in-year 
overspend of £0.004 million. 

Waste Programme

52.Waste schemes are forecast to spend £0.830 million in 2019/20 against a budget 
of £1.228 million, giving a forecast in-year underspend £0.398 million. This 
relates to a delay in the introduction of mobilise compaction and related works at 
Wingmoor Farm HRC, as planning permission is needed for a proposed 
alteration to the site layout. 

Page 52



11

Libraries Programme

53.Libraries schemes are forecast to spend £0.292 million in 2019/20 against a 
budget of £0.909 million, giving a forecast in-year underspend £0.617 million. 
The main reason for the variance is due to the project to install open+ at 
specified libraries cannot be completed prior to March 2020.  This is due to staff 
and supplier capacity to deliver the projects and the need to consult on the 
changes with customers.

AMPS Programme

54.AMPS schemes are forecast to spend £10.058 million in 2019/20 against a 
budget of £17.570 million, giving a forecast slippage of £7.512 million. This is 
mainly due to delays on the following projects:

 Quayside new build – £3.500 million slippage, due for completion in 2021. 
 Quayside car park – £2 million slippage due for completion in 21/ 22. 
 Lewis Lane – £0.500 million slippage, awaiting decision from service.
 Shire Hall Block 1 & 2 – £0.500 million slippage due to revised timeline for 

completion.
 Rural Estates - £0.500 million slippage due to ecology surveys.

ICT Programme

55. ICT schemes are forecast to spend £6.615 million in 2019/20 against a budget of 
£8.380 million, giving a forecast slippage of £1.765 million, mainly due to delays 
in the implementation of ICT equipment replacement and the Windows 10 
upgrade.

Business Service Centre

56.BSC schemes are forecast to spend £0.531 million in 2019/20 against a budget 
of £0.631 million, giving a forecast slippage of £0.100 million, mainly due to 
delays in the implementation of SAP developments.

Customer Programme

57.Customer Programme are forecast to spend £0.184 million in 2019/20 against a 
budget of £0.634 million, giving a forecast slippage of £0.450 million, mainly due 
the delayed implementation of the business analytics platform.

All other Capital Programmes

58.All other programmes are forecast to spend in line with the current budget for the 
year.

Page 53



12

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2019/20 and future years

Highways

59. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £14.261 million in the 
Highways capital budget, funded by the following additional resources: 

 £13.710 million towards the Cyber Park scheme Phases 1 & 2 funded by 
grant subject to imminent sign off by the GFirst LEP Board. £2.391 million of 
this to be delivered in the current financial year.

 £0.007 million Parish Council contribution towards Slimbridge TRO.
 £0.003 million Parish Council contribution towards Twyning Kerbing 

scheme.
 £0.132 million developer contribution towards pedestrian and cycle links 

scheme.
 £0.080 million developer contribution towards the Quays to Southgate Street 

link.
 £0.038 million developer contribution towards RTPI – A46 Corridor.
 £0. 291 million Highways Locals revenue contributions to capital schemes.

Libraries

60. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £0.028 million in the capital 
budget for Matson Library, funded by developer contributions. 

Fire and Rescue

61. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £0.151 million in the GFRS 
capital budget, funded by the following additional resources;

 An increase of £0.070 million in the Light Fleet Vehicle capital budget, 
funded by capital receipts generated from the sale of surplus operational 
vehicles.

 An increase of £0.081 million to fund the replacement of the Tranman 
Fleet Management system funded by a revenue contribution from the 
Transformation Reserve.

AMPS

62. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £0.270 million in the AMPS 
capital budget for the purchase of a property to enable the generation of a 
significant capital receipt made possible by the relocation of an existing Council 
tenant. 

Overall
63.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by 

£14.710 million.

Page 54



1

PROCUREMENT OF CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE CASEWORK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
(KNOWN AS “LIQUIDLOGIC”) SUPPORT AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACT

Cabinet 13 November 2019

Finance and 
Change Cllr Lynden Stowe

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Papers

 n/a

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

n/a

Main Consultees Children’s Services, Legal, Procurement, Finance

Planned Dates New contract to be awarded by the end of March 2020 to meet the next cycle 
of service provision to Children’s Social Care.

Divisional 
Councillor All

Officer Mandy Quayle, 
Director of People
Tel: 01452 324303 Email: mandy.quayle@gloucestershire.gov.uk     

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to procure a new contract in respect of support and 
maintenance of the product known as the “Liquidlogic Children’s Social Care 
Casework Management System” when the current contract for such software 
support expires in March 2020.

Recommendations That Cabinet delegates authority to the Director of People, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member Finance and Change, to:
(1) Conduct a procurement process, using a Crown Commercial Service 
framework agreement (RM3821), for the award of a three-year software 
support and maintenance call-off contract in respect of the product known as 
the “Liquidlogic” Children’s Social Care Casework Management System”.  
The proposed contract will include an option to extend its term by up to two 
further years. 
2) Award such call off contract to the supplier evaluated as in accordance 
with the terms of the said CCS Framework (RM3821).  
3) Review the current Liquidlogic components on an annual basis to confirm 
whether all components continue to be required by the council and if any can 
be removed under the framework’s change control mechanism.

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



2

Reasons for 
Recommendations

The council’s current support and maintenance contract in respect of the 
product known as the “Liquidlogic” Children’s Social Care Casework 
Management System” will end in March 2020.  The Council is continuing to 
use Liquidlogic and therefore will continue to require these services which 
ensure that the system is up to date and able to meet statutory requirements.

A direct award of this contract is the only viable option available to the council 
for the reasons set out in section 4 of this report.  

Legal Services and the Strategic Procurement team have advised that this is 
a legally compliant route to procure this contract.

Resource 
Implications

The estimated total value for the support and maintenance contract in respect 
of the product known as the “Liquidlogic” Children’s Social Care Casework 
Management System” is not more than £200,000 per annum.  Accordingly, 
the total value of the contract over a maximum of 5 years will be not more 
than £1,000,000.
The funding is already within the base budget.

Page 56



3

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is required to fulfil a range of statutory 
social care functions which meet the needs of children, young people and 
families across the county. In order to do so, it is necessary to have a well-
maintained casework management system in place.

The “Liquidlogic” Children’s Social Care Casework Management System is used 
by the council across Social Care and Early Help and consists of the following 
modules:

 LCS Support & Maintenance
 LCS BOU Support & Maintenance
 LCS API Support & Maintenance
 LCS Workspaces Support & Maintenance
 LCS & Foster Care Interface Support & Maintenance
 EHM Support & Maintenance
 EHM BOU Support & Maintenance
 LCS Person Load
 LCS Additional User License Support & Maintenance
 Children's Portal Support & Maintenance
 Professional Portal Support & Maintenance
 Single View Support & Maintenance
 Troubled Families Workspace Support & Maintenance
 Troubled Families Updated Data Warehouse Support & Maintenance
 Mobile App S&M
 Additional Site License
 General Legal Workspace S&M
 General CSE Workspace S&M
 35 Day Service Pack (system enhancements and on-site support) X2

As part of the existing software supplier maintenance and software agreement, 
Liquidlogic charge GCC an annual maintenance fee to support the system and 
to provide patches and upgrades.  This is funded through the existing base 
budget of the ICT Revenues budget.   This ensures that the software is 
maintained and improved to meet changing needs and processes which can 
result from new legislation and/or requirements from the Department for 
Education.  The council’s current support contract for Children’s Liquidlogic will 
expire in March 2020.  

  

Page 57



4

4. Options

There are three options:

a) Option A: To procure a new support and maintenance contract in respect 
of Liquidlogic that will enable the council to continue to receive support and 
maintenance for the system. The exercise of this option will allow the 
Council to continue to operate its current ICT system to support the full 
range of statutory functions within Children’s services.

b) Option B: Allow the current maintenance and support contract to cease 
and provide in-house maintenance of both systems.  The Council does 
not have the in-house skills to undertake this work and would no longer be 
able to access new releases and patches from Liquidlogic.

c) Option C: To no longer use Liquidlogic and for the Council to develop its 
own application (similar to the current Casework Management system 
‘ERIC’ for Adult’s Social Care), to procure an alternative system or rely on 
a system which would require more manual intervention and as a result 
more staff resources. 

Officers’ recommended option is Option A as this will enable the Council to 
continue to support the Social Care sector within GCC with their Information 
Management System requirements. The Council needs to ensure robust ICT 
systems are in place to manage all aspects of these critical areas of business 
within Children’s Social Care. The Council or third-party providers do not have 
access to the source codes necessary to maintain the current Liquidlogic 
systems. The Developers (owners) of the Liquidlogic systems maintain the 
software for the database and are the only supplier of maintenance, patches 
and development available and able to carry out this function.

5. Risk Assessment

Corporate and Service Level Risks

Without specialist ICT system maintenance in respect of the council’s current 
Liquidlogic Casework Management systems, the Council is at increased risk 
of a critical system failure, with consequential risks including:

 Inability for the Council to carry out a wide range of statutory functions, 
including the safeguarding and care of children;

 The Council would not meet the required standards for access to the 
public services network (PSN) and could be cut off from wider 
government systems under the PSN code of connection;

Page 58



5

 The Council would have unsupported data systems and be at higher 
risk of potential data loss resulting in an increased likelihood of fines 
from the Information Commissioner;

 The Council would be at increased risk of cyber security attacks;
 Reputational risk both locally and nationally.

Failure to provide well maintained ICT data systems would put the Council at 
high risk not being able to fulfil its statutory duties across Children’s Services. 
The number of different components within Liquidlogic systems highlights the 
complexity of the solution. A replacement project for Children’s Social Care 
would take three years from inception to ‘go live’ so this is not an option.  The 
current solution meets our requirements and was a major factor in Adult Social 
Care’s decision to procure Liquidlogic’s Adult’s offering.

6. Consultation Feedback

n/a

7.    Equalities Considerations

The procurement of this Children’s Social Care Casework Management 
Software does not have an impact on equalities. It does however aid the 
Council with data collection, monitoring and reporting on different 
characteristics that are of interest to the Council in considering matters of 
equality and protected groups.

8. Performance Management/Follow-up

Face to face meetings with the assigned Account Manager from Liquidlogic are 
scheduled every four months and regular phone and email contact is 
maintained outside of these meetings. It is the responsibility of the Team 
Leader for ICT Service Application Support team to maintain that contact as per 
monitoring and system support requirements within the contract.

Page 59



6

Report Title Procurement of Children’s Social Care Casework 
Management System (known as “Liquidlogic”) support and 
maintenance contract 

Statutory Authority Local Government Act 1972 to procure the contracts and the 
Local Authority Goods and Services Act 1970 to provide services 
to Children and Families.

Relevant County Council 
policy

There is no particular policy but the service does help the Council 
meet various statutory monitoring & reporting obligations relating 
to Children’s Social Care.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships N/A

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Economy and Employment N/A

Caring for people Helps support front line employees that deliver Social Care 
Services to Gloucestershire children and families.

Built Environment
N/A

Natural Environment’ including 
Ecology (Biodiversity)

N/A

Education and Information N/A

Tackling Climate Change N/A

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No  

Human rights Implications N/A

Consultation Arrangements Strategic Procurement Services

Head of Commissioning for Learning

Integrated Systems Programme

Legal Services

Finance

Page 60



GLOUCESTERSHIRE CHILDCARE SUFFICIENCY ASSESSMENT 2019

Cabinet Date 13 November 2019
Deputy Leader of 
the Council 
Cabinet Member 
for Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Councillor Richard Boyles

Key Decision Yes  

Background 
Documents Early Education and Childcare – Statutory guidance for local authorities

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/718179/Early_education_and_childcare-
statutory_guidance.pdf

Main Consultees The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment reflects, and is informed by, the 
ongoing discussions between local providers of childcare and the Council’s 
Early Years team.

Planned Dates Following approval by Cabinet, the Childcare Sufficiency Strategy will be 
published on the Council’s website in November 2019.

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Tim Browne
Director of Education
tim.browne@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Tel. no. (01452) 328693

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for Gloucestershire’s Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment (2019)

Recommendations That Cabinet approves the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2019 and 
delegates authority to the Director of Education, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Children's Safeguarding and Early Years to make any 
final changes prior to publication.

Reasons for 
recommendations

There is a requirement that local authorities undertake an annual assessment 
of the capacity and quality of childcare in their area and bring this to the 
attention of elected members, prior to it being made available to the public.

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct resource implications arising from this report.

Page 61

Agenda Item 8

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718179/Early_education_and_childcare-statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718179/Early_education_and_childcare-statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718179/Early_education_and_childcare-statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718179/Early_education_and_childcare-statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/718179/Early_education_and_childcare-statutory_guidance.pdf
mailto:tim.browne@gloucestershire.gov.uk


MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1.0 Background

1.1 The Childcare Act 2006, and Early Education and Childcare statutory guidance, gives 
local authorities a duty to secure, so far as is reasonable practicable, childcare 
provision for children aged 0-14 and up to 18 for disabled children.  The provision 
should be sufficient to meet the requirements of parents/carers to enable them to work 
or undertake education or training leading to work, and for their child to access their 
free entitlement childcare place.

1.2 A key element within the range of duties placed on local authorities is to carry out an 
annual assessment of the childcare available in their area and produce an annual 
report for Council members on how the duty is being met, and to make it available to 
the public.  The local authority also has a strategic role in working with local partners 
and child care providers to shape provision to ensure it is well placed to meet the needs 
of local families.

1.3 The aim of the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2019 is to provide an analysis of 
childcare supply and demand for childcare in Gloucestershire.  This encompasses 
information about the quality, accessibility and affordability of local childcare provision, 
any gaps and how these will be addressed.

1.4 There is a considerable body of research evidence that accessing early education and 
childcare provision is associated with improvement in children’s cognitive and socio-
emotional development as they progress through primary and secondary school.  For 
disadvantaged children the opportunity to attend good quality provision is particularly 
important in enabling them to access resources and experiences they might not have at 
home.

1.5 Children’s entitlement to 15 hours a week (30 hours for some) of early education makes 
an important contribution towards ensuring children are ready for full-time education.  
The ‘school readiness’ of children, which describes their general level of development 
as they enter full-time education at foundation stage, can have a significant effect on 
children as they progress through school and later life. 

1.6 For many years the proportion of children in Gloucestershire achieving a good level of 
development (GLD) when assessed at the end of their reception year (in full-time 
education) has been lower than the national average.  Whilst this is due to a complex 
range of factors, the importance of children accessing good quality childcare provision 
cannot be overstated.  Intensive work over the last year now reversed this trend, with 
the provisional 2018/19 data showing a 2.8% increase in GLD, placing Gloucestershire 
above the national average at 71.9%.

1.7 A copy of the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (2019) is attached at Appendix 1.  Key 
headlines from the assessment include:

 There are currently 784 childcare settings, comprising 410 childminders, 148 day 
nurseries, 206 pre-school, 16 nursery units in independent schools and 4 private 
non-maintained nurseries.

Page 62



 There are 16,567 childcare places available for children aged 0-5 years in 
Gloucestershire.

 The quality of childcare in Gloucestershire is high; 88% of 2 year olds and 92% of 3 
and 4 year olds who access their funding entitlements are in ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ 
provision.

 Increasing staffing costs due to minimum and living wage increases, pension costs 
and marginal government funding for places are creating challenges for providers in 
sustaining and developing provision.  There has been an increase in the number of 
settings, particularly smaller businesses, that have closed or report a risk of closure.

 Whilst the take up of funded (targeted) early education for 2 year olds in 
Gloucestershire remains 3% higher than the national average at 71% and has seen 
a further increase in taken-up since January 2019, this area continues to be a 
priority for the Early Years Service.  The take up of universal funded early education 
for 3 and 4 year olds is broadly in line with national averages and has remained 
fairly consistent over the past years.

 Overall, the available provision in Gloucestershire is sufficient to meet demand in 
terms of the numbers of children requiring childcare; this is based on available birth 
data, projection of future demand and information of available childcare provision in 
the county.  Childcare for children with special educational needs and disabilities is 
available in Gloucestershire, comprising places within mainstream provision and 
special schools.

1.8 The Childcare Sufficiency Strategy has been completed by the Early Years Service, 
which is located within the Education Directorate of Children’s Services.  Comprising 
around 25 full-time equivalent staff, based in 3 locality teams (Gloucester and the 
Forest, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury, Stroud and Cotswolds), they play a key role in 
developing the quality and capacity of the childcare market in Gloucestershire.  This 
encompasses the administration and processing of payments, engaging potential new 
providers, ongoing guidance and support, statutory data returns to the Department for 
Education and the local implementation of national initiatives and priorities for 
childcare. 

1.9 Gloucestershire’s Childcare Sufficiency and Assessment (2019) concludes that there is 
currently sufficient provision to meet the needs of children requiring childcare, with the 
greater majority of provision of good or outstanding quality.  However, it also highlights 
some challenges in terms of the take up of the 2 year old targeted offer and the risks to 
provider sustainability due to a combination of cost and funding pressures.  The action 
plan attached is part of the sufficiency assessment aimed to address these issues.

2.0 Options

2.1 To approve the Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2019 and 
associated action plan.

Page 63



2.2 To not approve the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2019.  This would mean that the 
local authority would not be planning strategically and would be in breach of its 
statutory obligations.

3.0 Risk Assessment

3.1 There are a range of risks associated with the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment:

Risk:      There is insufficient accessible childcare capacity in Gloucestershire.  

Mitigation:  The action plan attached to the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment includes 
the completion of a Business Risk Analysis to identify areas of 
vulnerability and enhance the sustainability of provision.  This will take 
place alongside the ongoing programme of work to recruit and sustain 
the local childcare provider market.

Risk:  The quality of childcare is less than good or outstanding.  

Mitigation: The Early Years team will continue to work with providers and their 
workforce to ensure the children and families are able to access good or 
outstanding provision.

4.0 Officer Advice

4.1 The Childcare Act 2006 places a statutory duty on local authorities to undertake an 
annual assessment of the sufficiency and quality of childcare provision in their locality.  
Whilst the statutory duty is not prescriptive on its precise form, there is a requirement 
for the local authority to complete an assessment in order to meet its statutory 
obligations.

4.2 It is considered that the Childcare Sufficiency Strategy Assessment, attached at 
Appendix 1, is of good quality and represents a positive response to the requirements 
placed on Gloucestershire County Council, by the Childcare Act 2006, and associated 
statutory guidance.

4.3 The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment will be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it 
continues to reflect the changing patterns of childcare demand and capacity in 
Gloucestershire.

4.4 Officers therefore recommend that Cabinet adopts Option 1 and approves the 
Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2019 and associated action plan, 
subject to any final amendments agreed by Cabinet.

5.0 Equalities Considerations

5.1 The Childcare Act gives local authorities a duty to secure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, childcare provision for children aged 0-14 (or up to 18 for disabled 
children).  This is underpinned by a funded entitlement for all 3 and 4 year olds of up to 

Page 64



570 hours per academic year of free early education or childcare and a targeted offer, 
for eligible families, of 570 hours for 2 year olds.

5.2 A key part of the work of the Early Years team is to ensure that local provision is 
inclusive, non-discriminatory and able to meet the needs of children and families, 
including children with disabilities, special educational needs, BME and those from 
disadvantaged families.  The Sufficiency Assessment and resulting action plan outline 
how the Early Years Team will work with local providers to ensure the market continues 
to develop to meet the diverse needs of children in Gloucestershire.

6.0 Consultation Feedback

6.1 The Early Years Team is involved in a dialogue with childcare providers on an ongoing 
basis, to ensure that local provision continues to meet the needs of children and 
families in Gloucestershire.  Alongside demographic and birth data, the sufficiency 
assessment also draws upon the concerns and pre-occupations of childcare providers 
in order to develop a rich picture of the quality and distribution of childcare provision 
across the county.

6.2 The assessment, when published, will also be a resource for parents to understand the 
types and distribution of childcare in their area, and how the Early Years Team is 
working to ensure this is sustained and developed.

7.0 Performance Management/Follow Up

7.1 The Childcare Sufficiency Strategy assessment will be kept under regular review by the 
Early Years Team, Education and Disabilities and Children’s Services Senior 
Leadership Team to ensure it remains fit for purpose.  It will be refreshed on an annual 
basis.  This will include performance metrics that highlight take up of the funded child 
care offer, the quality and availability of provision acknowledging their importance as 
key contributors to the readiness of children to commence full-time education.

Page 65



Report Title Gloucestershire’s Childcare Sufficiency Assessment

Statutory Authority Childcare Act 2006

Early Education and Childcare statutory guidance for local 
authorities (2018)

Relevant County Council 
policy

Looking to the Future 2019-2022 – Children’s Wellbeing and 
Safeguarding.

Resource Implications There are no direct resource implications arising from this 
report.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships The Early Education and Childcare statutory guidance for local 
authorities (2018) outlines how local partners will work together 
to ensure that Early Education and Childcare in 
Gloucestershire is effective in meeting the needs of children 
and families.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

The Childcare Sufficiency Assessment is informed by the 
ongoing dialogue between the Early Years Team and existing 
or potential childcare providers.

Economy and Employment Accessible, good quality childcare provision is an important 
element in enabling adults to enter the jobs market and 
contribute to the local economy.

Caring for people The proposals accord with the Council’s strategic priorities 
relating to caring for people.

Social Value Accessible, good quality childcare provision is an important 
contributor to the development of children, particularly to the 
most vulnerable, and a key determinant of subsequent 
progress through school and on to adulthood.

Built Environment No impact.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

No impact.

Education and Information Accessible, good quality childcare provision is an important 
contributor towards school readiness and subsequent 
educational progress.

Page 66



Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications?  Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change?     Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

Human rights Implications None.

Consultation 
Arrangements

As detailed in report.

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 1

Gloucestershire
Childcare
Sufficiency
Assessment
Summary

 

July 2019

P
age 69



Director Foreword
It is difficult to overstate the importance 
to children of having the best possible 
start in life.  Getting off to a good start is 
hugely important to their subsequent 
outcomes as they progress through 
childhood to adolescence and adulthood. 
Being able to access good quality, local 
early years provision is a critical first step 
on that journey.

This Early Years Sufficiency Assessment 
provides an overview of the capacity, distribution and quality of early 
years provision across Gloucestershire. It highlights the sheer scale 
and diversity of provision and some of the challenges faced by the 
sector in meeting the needs of children and families in a challenging 
operating environment.

Good progress has been made by the Early Years Service over recent 
years to ensure provision is both accessible and of good quality. 
However, more work is needed to improve outcomes for children 
particularly in achieving a good level of development or ‘school 
readiness’ as a vital baseline measure to understand progress as they 
go through school.  This is particularly so for our more vulnerable or 
disadvantaged children.

The sufficiency strategy and action plan attached sets out the steps we 
will take to sustain and develop the local provider economy over the 
coming year.  Working with our partners, we will refresh the sufficiency 
strategy on an annual basis to ensure it remains fit for purpose and 
contributes to a sustainable and vibrant local early years offer across 
Gloucestershire.

Chris Spencer 
Director of Childrens Services

P
age 70



Executive Summary
This Childcare Sufficiency Assessment was undertaken in accordance 
with the Childcare Act 2006, and the associated statutory guidance: 
Early Education and Childcare - Statutory guidance for local authorities 
June 2018. The Act gives local authorities a duty to secure, so far as is 
reasonably practicable, childcare provision for children aged 0-14 (or 
up to 18 for disabled children). The provision should be sufficient to 
meet the requirements of parents/carers in order to enable them to 
work, or undertake education or training leading to work, and for their 
child to access their free entitlement childcare place. 

The Act requires local authorities to carry out an assessment of the 
childcare in their area and produce an annual report for Council 
Members on how the duty is being met, and to make it available to the 
public. The Act, places a statutory duty upon local authorities to play a 
strategic role in facilitating the childcare market.  The sufficiency 
assessments give local authorities the opportunity to work with local 
partners, filling gaps in the market and shaping childcare and services 
in their area to provide the best possible provision, which meets the 
needs of local families. 

The aim of this Childcare Sufficiency Assessment report is to present 
an analysis of childcare supply and demand for childcare in 
Gloucestershire. This includes information about the supply and 
demand of childcare for particular age ranges of children and 
affordability, accessibility, quality of provision and details of any gaps in 
childcare provision and how they will be addressed. 

Research undertaken as part of the study of early education and 
development (SEED) clearly tells us that accessing early education 
and childcare (ECEC) provision is associated with improvement in 
children’s cognitive and socio-emotional development at age three. 
This is in line with findings from the Effective Pre-school, Primary and 
Secondary Education (EPPSE) study, which found that ECEC 
continues to relate to improved cognitive and socio-emotional 
development through primary and secondary school. 

In particular, early years settings have a hugely positive impact upon 
children from disadvantaged backgrounds, giving them access to 
resources and experiences they might not have at home. Quality 
settings can reduce the gap in development for children and ensure all 
children start school reaching a good level of development as they 
enter year one.

For many years the percentage of children in Gloucestershire 
achieving a good level of development (GLD) at the end of their 
reception year has been lower than the national average.  This is due 
to a number of factors that are being addressed through a multi agency 
working group.  As a result of this work, there has been a considerable 
improvement, with the provisional 2018/19 data showing a 2.8% 
increase in GLD, placing Gloucestershire ahead of the national 
average at 71.9%.

Children’s entitlement to 15 hours (30 hours for some) a week of early 
education aims to ensure all children are school-ready. School 
readiness has a huge impact on a child’s life chances and not reaching 
a good level of development can have detrimental effects as children 
move through school and later life. Some of these include poor health, 
increased chances of turning to crime, lower achievements at school 
and adult poverty.

This is why early years settings are so important for children’s 
development. Not only do children need to attend early years settings, 
but the settings also need to be high in quality. High-quality settings 
have the biggest impact and are the settings which enable children to 
reach their full potential and support them in reaching good levels of 
development.

Overall, the available provision in Gloucestershire is sufficient to meet 
demand, with the early years population expected to remain stable for 
the foreseeable future.

P
age 71



There are currently 784 childcare settings across the county, providing 
16,567 childcare places for children aged 0-5 years.  These are made 
up of 410 childminders, 148 day nurseries, and 206 pre-schools, 16 
Nursery units in independent schools and 4 private non maintained 
nurseries.

The quality of childcare in Gloucestershire is high; 88% of 2 years olds 
and 92% of, 3 and 4 year olds access their funding entitlements in 
‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ provision. 

The fragility of the Early Years infrastructure presents a challenge to 
the sufficiency and quality of early education and childcare both locally 
and nationally. 

Rising costs and the low hourly childcare rate have led to nurseries 
struggling to recruit and retain staff qualified, and to ensure long term 
sustainability.  As a result of this, and general financial challenges for 
small child care businesses, we have started to see an increase in the 
number of settings closing or reporting that they are at risk of closure.  
We are currently conducting a risk analysis of charity run settings in 
the county and early indications of that many will need significant 
support to remain sustainable.

Whilst the take-up of funded early education for 2 year olds in 
Gloucestershire remains 3% higher than the national and has seen a 
further increase in take-up since January 2019, this area continues to 
be a priority for the Early Years Service.  Work will continue with 
partner agencies to promote and increase this further throughout the 
coming year.

The take up of universal funded early education for 3 and 4 year olds 
has remained fairly consistent over the past three years and is on par 
with national averages.

Childcare for children with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND) is available in Gloucestershire, both within mainstream 

provision and special schools offering early years places where this 
has been assessed as appropriate to meet the needs of the child. 

Clear guidance on SEND support and the funding for mainstream 
provision has been published, but will be developed further to increase 
the inclusion of children with SEND in mainstream settings.

As part of our continuing assessment of meeting needs, this year we 
have undertaken an additional piece of targeted research to 
understand how confident parents of children with SEND are in 
accessing childcare provision and the challenges or barriers to this. 
Further research into the needs of specific cohorts will enable a more 
accurate analysis of supply and demand for these groups. 

The childcare provision offered across the county is flexible with a full 
range of delivery models available for the free entitlement grants. 
These include term time and all year options, morning or afternoon 
sessions, and full days for 30 hours delivery. Whilst the number of 
early years childcare providers has decreased, particularly 
childminders, there remains sufficient capacity to meet demand, 
including the extended 15 hours entitlement in Gloucestershire. 

P
age 72



Contents 

Introduction ……………………………………………..........6

 What is a Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA)?
 Statutory Duty
 What is childcare?
 Early years and funded early education
 Good quality early years settings
 Types of childcare

Demographics ……………………………………………….11

 About Gloucestershire
 Characteristics of current population
 Children and young people
 Projected population figures
 Deprivation
 Life expectancy
 Gloucestershire economy and the labour market
 Future housing developments

Supply of Childcare in Gloucestershire ………………..18

 Number of early years providers and places
 Number of new and closed providers
 Hours
 Childcare offer
 Vacancies and waiting lists
 Costs

Quality of Childcare in Gloucestershire ………………..21

 Ofsted inspection grades
 Providers with met / not met grade  

 Comparing inspection grades over time
 Workforce 

Funded early education in Gloucestershire …………...23

 Introduction to funded early education
 Number of providers offering funded early education places
 Take up of funded early education
 3 and 4 year old funded entitlement applications

School place planning areas ……………………………..25

 Forest of Dean
 Tewkesbury
 Cotswolds
 Stroud
 Cheltenham
 Gloucester

SEND ………………………………………………………….57

 SEND survey

Methodology………………………………………………….60

Overall sufficiency and our plans for the future ………61

P
age 73



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 6

Introduction
The Early Years Service in Gloucestershire

Gloucestershire’s Early Years service is a county wide service 
comprises of a total of 25 full time equivalent staff.  Staff are configured 
in to 3 Locality Teams, a finance support team and Business Support 
and Market Management team.  The service provides a range of 
support services to both children and families and Early Years 
providers, including childminders.

The aim of the Early Years service is to improve outcomes and reduce 
inequalities for all children aged 0-5 years, by:

 Supporting the growth and development of the early years and 
childcare market to address gaps and support the sufficiency of high 
quality places for all.

 Building the quality and capacity of early years providers across the 
maintained, private, voluntary and independent sector.

 Having systems in place to identify and to provide holistic support for 
children with additional needs as early as possible, across home, 
education and the community.

 Providing a higher level of intervention for children with the most 
complex needs.

The 3 Locality Teams cover Gloucester and The Forest, Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury and Stroud and The Cotswolds.  Their role is to

 Lead partnership working in the locality to bring together all key 
partners to ensure a joined up, holistic approach to the provision of 
good quality early years education and care, achieving good 
outcomes for individual children.

 Offer professional information, advice, guidance and support to 
settings and other professionals to ensure children in early years 
settings achieve positive outcomes - in line with Welfare and 
Safeguarding, Early Years Foundation Stage (EYSF) and SEND 
frameworks.

 Manage targeted interventions and support for settings and 
childminders,  including the  implementation of the Early Years 
Intervention programme for all settings that have been judged as 
”Requires Improvement” or “Inadequate” by Ofsted. 

 Provide a range of training for early years settings including Special 
Educational Needs Co-ordinators (SENCO), Total Communication 
and Managing Behaviour.

 Create and embed systems to monitor outcomes for children in early 
years settings to understand countywide and locality priorities.

 Design and model good practice and developmental activities which 
promote development, learning and inclusion.

 Promote the early identification of need and the development of 
holistic assessments and support plans for children - developing and 
supporting the delivery of clear processes and pathways to enable 
children and families to access support early.

The Business Support and Market Management Team

The main purpose of team is to ensure there is sufficient high quality 
and sustainable EY provision for children across the county, working 
with a wide range of stakeholders across the maintained, private, 
voluntary and independent sector to:

 Support the growth of the early years market, engaging new 
providers and offering professional advice, guidance and support. 

 Secure early years funding contributions from developers to meet 
demand for childcare places in Gloucestershire.

 Ensure that priorities reflect national initiatives and are effectively 
implemented e.g. delivery of the 2, 3 and 4 year funding.

 Provide regular returns to the Department for Education on 
Gloucestershire’s early years provision and capacity.

 Ensure there are effective and efficient systems in place to provide 
timely payments to providers for state funded places.

 Process and administer funding, grants and contracts to providers of 
Early Years Education and Childcare, accurately recording child 
placement and setting details and process payments within 
published time scales.

P
age 74



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 7

 Develop information, stakeholder engagement plans and training 
materials for providers to build their capacity, skills and knowledge.

 Maintain effective analysis of early years outcomes to target those 
providers who are likely to require more intensive support and 
prioritise workload accordingly.

 Provide expert and responsive information, advice, guidance and 
support to early years providers on local and business needs.

What is a Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA)?

Childcare Sufficiency Assessments are a statutory duty for local 
authorities under the Childcare Act (2006).  A Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment (CSA) aims to provide an assessment of childcare 
provision for children aged 0‐14 years old (and up to 18 years old for 
children with SEND) to meet the needs of working parents and those 
studying or training for work.  

Statutory Duty

‘Childcare plays a crucial role in the lives of most families. It enables 
parents to go out to work to contribute to a decent family income when 
they have very young children.  A growing body of evidence shows that 
good pre-school childcare gives children a flying start and leads to 
better outcomes as they move through school.  It also allows older 
children to take part in a wide range of interesting activities that fosters 
their personal development in a safe environment.’
(Securing Sufficient Childcare: Statutory guidance for local authorities in 

carrying out their childcare sufficiency duties (DCSF1, 2007)).

Working parents with children use many 
different forms of childcare with their 
choices dependent on factors that include 
family income, employment patterns, 
parental preferences, childcare 
availability and the age of their children.  
Some families rely on informal 

(unregulated) childcare for example 
grandparents, older siblings, other 
relatives, friends and neighbours.  

The Nursery Education Grant was 
introduced to allow children to access 
early education or childcare for free.  Over 
time the number of hours that can be accessed has increased along 
with the lowering of the age range of children that can access this 
funding.  In Gloucestershire this is now called Funded Early Education.  

As a result, the need for childcare places has increased.  In order to 
address this increase, the Childcare Act 2006, Section 6 placed 
statutory duties on all local authorities in England and Wales to secure 
sufficient childcare for working parents and those undertaking training 
with the intention of returning to work for children aged 0 -14 or up to 18 
for children with SEN.  Local Authorities are required to undertake a 
detailed assessment of the supply of, and demand for, childcare in their 
area.  

What is childcare?

There are two forms of childcare - early years provision or later years 
provision.  Childcare is defined in Section 18 of the Childcare Act 2006, 
as ‘any form of care for a child’ including ‘education and any other 
supervised activity’.

Childcare does not include:
 education (or any other supervised activities) provided by a school 

during school hours, unless that pupil has not yet started Key Stage 
1;

 care provided by a parent, step- parent or person with parental 
responsibility, any relative or foster parent (local authority or private);

 care provided by a children’s home, a care home, a hospital, a 
residential family centre, a young offenders’ institution, a secure 
training centre or a secure college.

P
age 75



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 8

Early years provision is defined in Section 20 of the Childcare Act 2006, 
as ‘the provision of childcare for a young child beginning with their birth 
and ending immediately before the 1st September next following the 
date on which he attains the age of 5’.

Later years provision is defined as ’the 
provision of childcare for a child from the 1st 
September following the child’s 5th birthday 
until the age of 18 years’.

Early years and funded early education

Early education has been seen as important for children’s development 
since the early 1990’s when free early education was first introduced.  

More and more evidence is stacking up displaying the impact good 
quality early education can have for children.  Early years provision are 
no longer places where children go to be supervised while parents 
work, but are a key element in children being successful at school and 
in later life.

Early years provision has an hugely positive impact on children from 
disadvantaged backgrounds giving them access to resources and 
experiences they might not have at home.  Good quality early years 
provision can reduce the gap in development for children and ensure all 
children start school reaching a good level of development.

Studies have shown that many children from impoverished 
backgrounds may not have access to books and hear less vocabulary 
than children from more financially well off backgrounds.  This is why 
the pupil premium was introduced and also the two-year funding to 
close the gaps and ensure all children have the access to the early 
education, skills, and resources they need.  

Eligible families with 2 year olds may be entitled to 570 hours of free 
early education or childcare each academic year. This can be taken as 
15 hours per week over 38 weeks or 570 hours per year that can be 

used flexibly with one or more childcare provider and ‘stretched’ over a 
maximum of 50 weeks.

All 3 and 4 year olds in England are entitled to 570 hours of free early 
education or childcare (universal) each academic year.  This can be 
taken as 15 hours per week over 38 weeks or 570 hours per year that 
can be used flexibly with one or more childcare provider and ‘stretched’ 
over a maximum of 50 weeks.

Working eligible families with 3 and 4 year olds may also be entitled to a 
further 570 hours of free early education (extended).  This can be taken 
as 30 hours per week over 38 weeks or 1140 hours per year that can 
be used flexibly with one or more childcare provider and ‘stretched’ over 
a maximum of 50 weeks.  Not all early years providers offer stretched 
funding as an option.

Good quality early years settings

It is evident that good quality early years provision has a significant 
impact on children’s social, emotional and cognitive development and is 
a key factor in improving outcomes for children and families.  It narrows 
the gap between the highest and lowest performers and gives all 
children the positive start to play and learning that they need.  

Good quality early years providers have a secure working knowledge of 
the Early Years Foundation Stage Framework (EYSF) and how it 
should be implemented in practice, as well as 
continuous self-evaluation. 

The EYFS set standards for the learning, 
development and care of children from birth 
to 5 years old.  Children are defined as 
having reached a good level of development 
at the end of the EYFS if they have achieved 
at least the expected level in: the early learning goals in the prime areas 
of learning (personal, social and emotional development, physical 
development, and communication and language).  All schools and 
Ofsted registered early years providers must follow the EYFS. 

P
age 76

http://www.earlyyearscareers.com/eyc/learning-and-development/are-nurseries-doing-enough-to-narrow-the-gap-in-development/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2


Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 9

Ofsted inspect and regulate services that care for children and young 
people, and services providing education and skills for learners of all 
ages.  The Childcare Act 2006 gives Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of 
Education, Children’s Services and Skills (HMIC) responsibility for 
regulating registered childcare providers. 

Registration on the Early Years Register is compulsory for providers 
who care for children in the early years age group; from birth to 
compulsory school age.  The Childcare Register is for providers who 
care for children from birth to 18 years. It has two parts: 

• A Compulsory part, for providers who care for children aged from the 
end of the Foundation Stage up to seven years. 

• A Voluntary part, for providers who care for children aged eight and 
over and those providing care for children at any age for whom 
registration is not compulsory, e.g. nannies. 

The judgements which can be given are: Outstanding, Good, Requires 
Improvement or Inadequate.

Where there are no children on roll, Ofsted will make a judgement only 
on the ‘overall quality and standards of the early years provision’ with 
one of the three possible outcomes: Met, Not Met with actions or Not 
met with enforcements.

For early years providers registered on the Childcare Register, Ofsted 
will make a judgement of two possible outcomes: Compliant or Non-
Compliant.

Once a provider has registered on the Early Years or Childcare 
Register they can start to offer childcare.  Ofsted will carry out their first 
inspection within 30 months of registration; therefore a judgement of 

Awaiting Inspection is recorded against the early 
years provision. 

From May 2015, legislation changed for 
schools, enabling them to lower the age of entry 

to two years.  This is if the school and governing body feel there is 
sufficient requirements and capacity within the school to accommodate 
this increase in pupil numbers.  Therefore a judgement for any early 
years provision will fall under the Schools Ofsted.

Types of childcare

There are many different childcare 
types operating within 
Gloucestershire:

 Childminder - these are registered self-employed childcare 
professionals who work in their own homes.  They are registered for 
small numbers of children and will often care for a range of ages.  
Childminders may also offer flexibility to accommodate parents 
working patterns eg evening and weekends. 

 Day Nursery - these often care for children aged 3 months to 5 years 
and are predominately open from 8.00am to 6.00pm.  Most are open 
from Monday to Friday, but a few may open at weekends to help 
support parents’ different working patterns.  Day nurseries operate 
all year round, usually except for bank holidays.  Most offer the free 
early education places that are available to 2, 3 and 4-year olds. 

 Pre-school playgroups - these often care for children between 2 and 
5 years.  Pre-schools and playgroups tend to run term time only, 
from around 9am to lunchtime or from lunchtime to around 3 or 4 pm, 
depending of the sessions they operate. 

 Home carers - home carers are usually nannies who care for 
children of any age up to their 18th birthday wholly or mainly in the 
child’s own home, and care for children from no more than two 
families.  They are not required to register with Ofsted but may 
choose to do so, on the voluntary part of the Childcare Register. 

 Out of school provision - these are often referred to as Breakfast or 
After School Clubs and operate before school in the mornings, from 
the end of the school day and at the end of the working day.  The 
majority are run by schools themselves. 

 Holiday play schemes - holiday play schemes, take place during 

P
age 77



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 10

school holiday periods and may be run by a school, private or 
voluntary organisations.

P
age 78



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 11

Demographics
About Gloucestershire

Gloucestershire is a diverse county in the South West of England with a 
population of 628,139 (mid-year 2017 estimate).  It is mainly rural, with 
two urban centres of Gloucester and Cheltenham at its heart.  Nearly 
40% of the county’s population live in Gloucester and Cheltenham.  
Gloucestershire has a lower proportion of 0-19 year olds and 20-64 
year olds when compared to the national figure, whilst the proportion of 
people aged 65+ exceeds the national figure.  Between 2026 and 2041, 
the population is predicted to rise to 715,400, an increase of 7.2% of the 
2026 population.

The Armed Forces have some light presence, particularly in South 
Cerney, Fairford and Innsworth. Currently there are around 2,330 
serving military personnel, including 380 civilians, based in the county

Gloucestershire’s six districts population and gender split figures are as 
follows: 

Population
2017

Predicted 
Population 2026

Predicted 
Population 2041

Cheltenham 117,128 121,600 128,000
Cotswolds 87,509 91,500 96,500
Forest 85,957 90,900 96,900
Gloucester 129,083 139,100 150,900
Stroud 118,130 126,200 136,000
Tewkesbury 90,332 98,200 107,100
Gloucestershire 628,139 667,500 715,400

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury Gloucestershire
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Male

Female

Characteristics of current population

The 2011 Census found that 7.7% of Gloucestershire residents (46,100 
people) were born outside the UK compared with a national figure of 
13.4%.  The 2011 Census also found that 4.6% of the population in 
Gloucestershire was from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) 
backgrounds, this figure increased to 8.4% when Irish, Gypsy or Irish 
Traveller and ‘other White’ categories were included.  The proportion of 
people from Black and Minority Ethnic backgrounds was considerably 
lower than the national figure of 14.6%.

P
age 79



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 12

Population by ethnic group - number of people

Chelt Cots Forest Glos Stroud Tewks
0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000 White

Black and 
Ethnic 
Minority

Mixed Ethnic 
Group

Asian

Black/African
/Caribbean/Bl
ack British

Other Ethnic 
Group

Population by ethnic group - % of population

Chelt Cots Forest Glos Stroud Tewks
0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00% White

Black and Ethnic 
Minority

Mixed Ethnic 
Group

Asian

Black/African/Car
ibbean/Black 
British

Other Ethnic 
Group

Gloucestershire’s 0-19 year old group is more diverse than other age 
groups.  The 2011 Census found that 7.6% of this age group were from 
a Black and Minority Ethnic groups compared to 4.4% of 20-64 year 
olds and 1.4% of people aged 65+.  This trend is reflected at a regional, 
national and district level.  

Population by ethnic group and age

White Total BME Group Total
0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00% % of age group 
0-19

% of age group 
20-64

% of age group 
65+

The population of Gloucestershire has become increasingly diverse.  
The Black and Minority Ethnic population has increased by 70% 
between 2001 and 2011.  The number of people classed as ‘White 
Other’ which includes migrants from Europe, increased by 105.9% 
during the same period.  This trend is reflected at a regional, national 
and district level.

Children and young people

In total, there are 34,184 children under the age of five, 52,696 children 
aged 5-11, and 21,531 children aged 12-14 living in our local authority 
(source: GP Data 2018).  These children may require either early years 
childcare, or later years childcare: before and after school, and/or 
during the school holidays.

Age   
0

Age 
1

Age 
2

Age 
3

Age 
4 ¹

Age 
5

Age 
6

Age 
7

Age 
8

Age 
9

Age 
10

Age 
11

Age 
12

Age 
13

Age 
14

6000

6500

7000

7500

8000

(some four-year-olds will have started reception)

P
age 80



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 13

The key factors likely to have the greatest influence on managing 
childcare places across the county over the next 5 years include the 
birth rate, housing development, internal and overseas migration and 
the presence of the Armed Services in Gloucestershire.

Similarly to national figures the number of births has generally 
increased since 2007.  Births in Gloucestershire averaged 6,692 births 
per year between academic years 2006/7 and 2015/16, with high 
numbers in 2011/12 and 2015/16.  There was a significant decline for 
one year in 2008/09.  

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
6000

6200

6400

6600

6800

7000

Gloucestershire Births

Children with special education needs and disabilities (SEND) are 
entitled to support with childcare up to the age of 18 (age 14 for children 
who do not have a special need or disability).  The number of children 
with an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan in our local authority is:

Number of Children
Under 5s 239
Aged 5 to  10 1,514
Aged 11 to 15 1,332

(source: SEND Data Dashboard - July 2019)

Children’s needs change over time and are identified at different ages.  
Among the youngest children, SEND may only be identified when they 
start in childcare or school.  It is therefore possible that the number of 
children with SEND aged 0-4 is an underestimate.  Many children may 
have SEN but do not need an EHC plan.

Projected population figures

The projected population figures for Gloucestershire over the next 20 
years are listed.  The figures show a steady increase in the number of 
births from 6,873 in 2019 to 6,875 in 2029.

 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
0 

yrs 6895 6922 6946 6961 6957 6942 6919 6899 6886 6875

1 
yrs 6979 7002 7028 7053 7068 7064 7049 7026 7005 6993

2 
yrs 7028 7077 7101 7128 7152 7167 7164 7148 7126 7105

3 
yrs 7063 7126 7175 7200 7227 7252 7267 7263 7248 7225

4 
yrs 7081 7145 7209 7257 7283 7310 7336 7351 7347 7332

5 
yrs 7095 7170 7235 7299 7347 7374 7401 7426 7442 7438

6 
yrs 7198 7161 7237 7302 7366 7415 7441 7469 7494 7509

7 
yrs 7372 7260 7224 7300 7366 7430 7478 7505 7533 7558

8 
yrs 7639 7445 7329 7294 7371 7437 7501 7549 7577 7605

9 
yrs 7534 7700 7504 7385 7351 7428 7494 7558 7607 7635

10 
yrs 7437 7608 7774 7576 7453 7420 7498 7564 7629 7678

11 
yrs 7435 7504 7677 7844 7644 7518 7486 7564 7630 7695

12 
yrs 7479 7504 7575 7748 7916 7714 7585 7554 7632 7699

13 
yrs 7274 7546 7569 7642 7817 7985 7781 7649 7619 7698

14 
yrs 7140 7350 7626 7646 7721 7898 8067 7861 7726 7696

P
age 81



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 14

Deprivation

The Indices of Deprivation 2015 provide a set of relative measures of 
deprivation for small areas (Lower Super Output Areas) across 
England, based on seven domains of deprivation.

The domains were combined using the following weights to produce the 
overall Index of Multiple Deprivation: Income Deprivation (22.5%), 
Employment Deprivation (22.5%), Education, Skills and Training 
Deprivation (13.5%), Health Deprivation and Disability (13.5%), Crime 
(9.3%), Barriers to Housing and Services (9.3%), Living Environment 
Deprivation (9.3%).

An average IMD rank for each of the six districts in Gloucestershire 
shows that even the most deprived districts (Gloucester and Forest of 
Dean) fall in the middle quintile (middle 20%) for deprivation out of 326 
English authorities. Tewkesbury, Cotswold, and Stroud districts are in 
the least deprived quintile, with Cheltenham in the second least 
deprived quintile.

Ranking in 
Gloucestershire

(1 being most 
deprived)

Ranking in 
England (out of 
326 authorities, 

1 being most 
deprived)

Quintile
(Q1 being most 

deprived)

Cheltenham 3 228 Q4
Cotswold 5 267 Q5
Forest of 
Dean

2 155 Q3

Gloucester 1 139 Q3
Stroud 6 281 Q5
Tewkesbury 4 262 Q5
(source: Indices of Deprivation 2015 Gloucestershire, Strategic Needs analysis Team , 

GCC )

Looking at the 152 upper-tier authorities, Gloucestershire has a rank of 
124, putting it in the least deprived quintile for overall deprivation.  While 
there are certainly areas of deprivation in the county in comparison to 

the rest of England, overall Gloucestershire is not a very deprived 
county.

In terms of numbers of people living in deprived areas, the following 
chart shows the population of Gloucestershire in each deprivation 
quintile for each of the six districts in the county.  This gives a picture of 
the actual number of people estimated to be living in each 20% 
deprivation ‘band’ according to the national rankings. 

P
age 82



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 15

Life expectancy

Life expectancy within Gloucestershire for both men and women is 
slightly above the national average.  Gloucestershire men have a life 
expectancy of 80.1 years compared to the national average of 79.5 and 
women have a life expectancy of 83.5 years compared to the national 
average of 83.1. 

Public Health statistics for 2014-2016 show that Gloucestershire had a 
below the national average of infant mortality, with 3.1 deaths in infants 
aged under 1 year per 1000 live births compared to the national 
average of 4.0 deaths.

(source: Public Health England)

Gloucestershire economy and the labour market

Gloucestershire has a prosperous and resilient economy set within a 
highly attractive natural environment, which offers a high standard of 
living for local residents.   The county is predominantly rural with two 
urban centres that serve as the main business and commercial 
heartland.  The urban settlements are complemented by vibrant market 
towns that act as valuable employment hubs and key providers of 
services.  The development of the county has been strongly influenced 
by connectivity to the Midlands and South West via the M5 corridor and 
to London and the South East via the M4 corridor. 

The employment rate (the proportion of residents aged from 16 to 64 
who were in work) stands at 79.9% during the period April 2015 to 
March 2016, which is well above the national average of 73.7%.  

There are around 28,295 businesses in the county supporting a well-
qualified and highly skilled employed workforce of approximately 
289,400 people.
 
Both manufacturing and health are significant sectors in terms of 
employment.  Other major sectors include public administration and 
defence (e.g. GCHQ), education, construction and retail. Employment 
growth is predicted in the health, business administration and support 

P
age 83



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 16

services, construction, accommodation and food services and the 
mining, quarrying and utilities sector. 

There is a positive entrepreneurial culture in Gloucestershire, and 
businesses starting up have very high survival rates. The county also 
ranks highly in terms of self employment. 

(source: The Economy of Gloucestershire, February2017)

Below is a summary of the number and percentage of adults in 
Gloucestershire who are either in employment or unemployed - Jan 
2018-Dec 2018.

Gloucestershire South 
West

Great 
Britain

All People
Economically 
Active† 333,600 83.8% 81.3% 78.5%

   In Employment† 327,100 82.0% 78.7% 75.1%
      Employees† 267,100 68.2% 66.1% 64.3%
      Self employed† 58,700 13.7% 12.3% 10.6%
   Unemployed§ 6,500 2.0% 3.1% 4.2%

Males
Economically 
Active† 175,600 88.4% 84.8% 83.3%

   In Employment† 172,400 86.7% 82.2% 79.7%
      Employees† 131,700 67.7% 66.1% 65.3%
      Self employed† 40,000 18.8% 16.0% 14.1%
   Unemployed§ # # 2.9% 4.2%

Females
Economically 
Active† 158,100 79.2% 77.8% 73.7%

   In Employment† 154,700 77.5% 75.2% 70.6%
      Employees† 135,400 68.6% 66.2% 63.2%
      Self employed† 18,700 8.6% 8.7% 7.1%
   Unemployed§ # # 3.3% 4.1%

#   -   sample size too small for reliable estimate
†   -   numbers are for those aged 16 and over, % are for those aged 16-64
§   -   numbers and % are for those aged 16 and over. % is a proportion of economically 
active

(Source: nomis - official labour market statistics)

Future housing developments

Gloucestershire County Council receives information from the six district 
councils about expected levels of new housing through the annual 
housing audit and local core strategies.  

Pupil yield rates (the expected number of pupils from new house-
building) are informed by commissioned research.  From January 2019, 
there will be two pupil yields.  The first will apply to larger strategic 
developments of over 400 dwellings.  In this instance the ratios for each 
100 dwellings will be:

 26 Pre-school children
 42 primary school children
 21 secondary school children (11-15)
 1 post 16 children (16-18) 

The second will apply to smaller housing developments.  In this 
instance the ratios for each 100 dwellings will be:-

 23 Pre-school children
 37 primary school children
 19 secondary school children (11-15)
 1 post 16 children (16-18) 

The Joint Core Strategy supporting Cheltenham, Gloucester and 
Tewkesbury districts along with the individual local plans of the three 
other districts of Stroud, Cotswolds and Forest of Dean sets out the 
housing totals and phasing for each community area.  The density of 
housing development varies considerably across the county as outlined 
in the table over the page.

P
age 84



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 17

Number of Houses 
Lydney 1,900
Coleford 650
Rest of Forest of Dean across 6 sites 827
Cinderford / Ruspidge Northern Quarter 1,050
Innsworth / Twigworth 2,295
South Churchdown 1,100
North Brockworth (Perry Brook) 1,500
North West Cheltenham (Elms Park) 4,285
West Cheltenham 1,100
Winneycroft 620
Leckhampton (Farm Lane) 377
Stroud Gloucester Fringe (Hunts Grove) 2,500
West of Stonehouse 1,350
Berkeley 300
North East Cam 450
Stroud Valley across 7 sites 450
Chesterton 2,350
Moreton-in-Marsh 400
Bourton-on-the-Water 300
Fairford across 5 sites 400
Mickleton across 3 sites 200
Rissington 368

TOTALS 24,772

The scale of the programme of work required to provide additional 
school places for the houses identified above should not be 
underestimated. 24,772 (approx. 21,000 yet to be built) dwellings 
across the county roughly represents 6,937 primary and 3,716 
secondary places across Gloucestershire in the period from 2006 to 
2031 based on current pupil product rations, which are now known to 
be low.

In addition, the council is aware of other large developments that could 
come forward which are not in the current local plans.  Whilst these may 
or may not come to fruition, the information GCC has should they 
happen will enable the council to take  strategic decisions around 
securing land, ensuring Gloucestershire County Council owned land is 

kept available and looking at future proofing new schools by ensuring 
the site size is sufficient for the school to expand in the future. 

Gloucestershire County Council is also in early discussions with 
Gloucester City Council regarding the impact of two potential and 
significant regeneration projects in the city at Matson and Podsmead.  
All four local plans are at various stages.  

Two large strategic sites in North West Cheltenham and West 
Cheltenham of up to 4,500 and 1,200 new homes respectively have 
also been identified in the Joint Core Strategy plan.  These are 
significant housing developments and will provide three new primary 
schools.  It may also require some additional primary places at existing 
schools, if site capacity allows depending on the final number of 
dwellings built.  

The Joint Core Strategy plan has recently been adopted which covers 
the three county districts - Stroud’s Local Plan has just been updated, 
as has the Cotswolds Plan with the Forest of Dean plan adopted in 
2012.

P
age 85



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 18

Supply of Childcare in Gloucestershire
Number of early years providers and places

No of 
providers

% of 
Providers

No of 
registered 

places

No of 
Places 
per 100 
Children

Childminders 410 38% 2700 4

Day Nursery (non 
gov run) 145 14% 7491 18

Day Nursery (gov 
run) 3 0% 164 0

Pre-School 
Playgroup (non gov 
run)

144 13% 3963 19

Pre-School 
Playgroup (gov run) 62 6% 1659 8

Nursery Unit of 
Independent 
Schools

16 1% 422 2

Private Nursery 
School 4 0% 142 0

Out of school (non 
gov run) 114 11% 2224 7

Out of School (gov 
run) 67 6% 1397 5

Holiday Playscheme 104 10% 2097 4

For private, voluntary and independent nurseries and childminders, the 
number of registered places represents the maximum number of 
children who can be on the premises at any given time.  In practice, 
many providers choose to operate below their number of registered 
places. 

Children may attend childcare full time or part time.  This table records 
places for children who are attending full time, or for as many hours as 
the setting is open.  In some cases, two or more children attending part 
time may use one full time equivalent place.  For example, one child 
may attend in the morning and one child may attend in the afternoon.

Places per 100 children are calculated as follows:

 Childminders - children aged 0 - 8 years
 Day Nurseries & Private Nursery Schools - children aged 0 - 5 years
 Playgroups and Nursery Units of Independent - children aged 2 - 5 

years
 Out of School Clubs - children aged 5 - 8 years
 Holiday Schemes - children aged 5 - 12 years

Number of new and closed providers

Over the past 12 months we have not seen a huge movement in the 
early years market.  A total of 96 early years childcare providers closed 
and 87 opened, but we are still not anticipating a shortfall of places.

Closed Providers New Providers
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100 Childminder

Day Nursery (non gov run)

Day Nursery (gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (non gov 
run)
Pre-School Playgroup (gov run)

Nursery Unit of Independent 
School
Private Nursery School

Home Childcarer

Out of School (non gov run)

Out of School (gov run)

Holiday

P
age 86



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 19

Hours

Childcare is most commonly delivered between 8am and 6pm on 
weekdays.  However, some parents require childcare outside these 
times in order to fit with their work or other responsibilities.  

No of providers offering childcare

be
fo

re
 8

am
 

w
ee

kd
ay

af
te

r 6
pm

 
w

ee
kd

ay

A
t t

he
 w

ee
ke

nd

O
ve

rn
ig

ht
 C

ar
e

C
ar

in
g 

fo
r 2

, 3
 

or
 4

 y
ea

r o
ld

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

re
la

tiv
es

Childminders 142 40 22 37 24
Daycare 60 6 0 1

Childcare offer

Signed up to 
Tax-Free 
Childcare

Have 
wheelchair 

access
Childminders 112 34
Daycare 168 154

Currently 
providing 
childcare

Able to 
provide 

childcare

Have staff 
who are 

trained to 
provide 

childcare
for children with additional support needs

Childminders 25 99 64
Daycare 169 182 171

Vacancies and waiting lists

No of
Vacancies Waiting Lists

Childminder Daycare Childminder Daycare
Monday am 89 968 65 153
Monday pm 95 971 64 145
Tuesday am 73 792 75 183
Tuesday pm 83 852 75 195
Wednesday am 78 750 72 182
Wednesday pm 86 808 71 169
Thursday am 104 843 73 193
Thursday pm 104 898 73 168
Friday am 79 901 35 136
Friday pm 76 887 35 123

A vacancy is a place that could realistically be used by a child.  It does 
not necessarily have to be full time, but it should be possible for a family 
to use.

Vacancy rates are a snapshot, and often change rapidly.  In some 
cases, providers may have a vacancy which is only available for a 
specific age group, or for a particular part time arrangement. We ask 
providers to report vacancies to us so we can help promote them.  Not 
all choose to do this.  In general, vacancy rates are higher in the 
autumn, when children move to school

Costs

For early years childcare outside the funded entitlements, we report an 
average cost per hour, reported to us by settings.  There may be 
variations to prices based on the number of hours a family uses, with 
reductions for longer hours, or discounts for sibling groups.  There may 
be supplementary payments made for additional services, e.g. lunch 
and other meals which are not included in these prices.  

P
age 87



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 20

Childminder Daycare
This year £4.47 £4.780 - 2 year olds 2016* £4.87
This year £4.47 £4.573 and 4 year olds 2016* £4.75
This year £4.46 £4.53School aged 

children, 5 years and 
over 2016* £4.00

*source: Gloucestershire Assessment for Childcare Sufficiency - May 2016

P
age 88



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 21

Quality of childcare in Gloucestershire
Ofsted inspection grades

Gloucestershire currently has 86.4% of childminders and 93.4% of 
daycare providers with a good or outstanding Ofsted outcomes.

Childminders and private and voluntary providers who care for children 
from birth to 18 years must register with Ofsted on the Early Years 
Register.  Schools and standalone maintained nursery schools are on 
the Schools Register.  The grades for both registers are equivalent.  
Schools with nurseries have an overall inspection grade for the whole 
school and most will also have a separate early years grade.

Both schools and early years providers have four possible Ofsted 
grades: ‘outstanding’, ‘good’, ‘requires improvement’, and ‘inadequate’.  
Some providers will still be awaiting their first full inspection.  These 
providers are excluded from our calculation.  Nursery classes in 
independent schools do not generally have an Ofsted grade.

%
 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
go

od
 o

r 
ou

ts
ta

nd
i

ng %
 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
re

qu
ire

s 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t

%
 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
in

ad
eq

ua
t

e

Childminders 86.4% 1.5% 0.3%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 95.7% 2.6% 0.9%
Day Nursery (gov run) 50.0% 50.0% 0%
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run) 98.5% 1.5% 0%
Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 66.7% 28.6% 0%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools

92.3% 0% 7.7%

Private Nursery School 33.3% 33.3% 0%
Out of school (non gov run) 79.3% 2.3% 0%
Out of School (gov run) 100% 0% 0%
Holiday Playscheme 73.4% 6.3% 0%

Providers with met / not met grade  

When providers do not have any children on site at the time of their first 
inspection, they are given an Ofsted grade of ‘met’ or ‘not met’.  This 
shows whether they are meeting the requirements for Ofsted 
registration, and this usually happens when a new provider is being set 
up.  At present, we have 69 providers with a ‘met’ grade and 6 providers 
with a ‘not met’ grade. 

Comparing inspection grades over time

Below shows the trends for the percentage of providers either ‘good’ or 
‘outstanding’.

Jan 
2016

Jan 
2017

Jan 
2018

Jan 
2019

Childminders 80.1% 85.3% 86.0% 85.7%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 95.5% 92.5%
Day Nursery (gov run) 100% 50.0%
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run) 96.2% 97.8%
Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 70.0% 63.6%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools

100% 100%

Private Nursery School

91.3% 95.0%

100% 33.3%
Out of school (non gove run) 85.9% 78.7%
Out of School (go run) 50.0% 100%
Holiday Playscheme

69.3% 76.3%
76.3% 74.2%

Childminders Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run) Private Nursery School Holiday Playscheme
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Jan-18

Jan-19

P
age 89



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 22

Workforce

Strong numeracy and literacy skills are essential for those working with 
young children at a critical time in their development.  It is also essential 
that practitioners are able to model good language, communication, 
mathematical and problem solving skills, and have the appropriate level 
of ability and confidence in their skills to communicate with a wide range 
of audiences, such as parents, health workers, local authority staff and 
other professionals. 

In Gloucestershire, the number of staff (both paid and unpaid) that have 
the following relevant early year’s qualifications and work with children 
aged under 5 within childcare settings is as follows:

Childminder Daycare
Unqualified 54 290
Level 2 30 260
Level 3 127 1189
Level 4 7 88
Level 5 (Foundation) 8 101
Graduate Level 6 (Degree) 13 109
Level 7 (Masters) 2 12
Qualified Teacher Status (QTS) 8 104
Early Years Professional Status 
(EYPS) 

12 84

P
age 90



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 23

Funded Early Education in Gloucestershire
Introduction to funded early education

Some children are entitled to free childcare, funded by the government.  
These entitlements are for 38 weeks per year. 

 All children aged 3 and 4 are entitled to 15 hours per week term 
time only until they start reception class in school, which equates to 
570 hours per year.

 Children aged 3 and 4 where both parents are working, or from lone 
parent families where that parent is working, are entitled to 30 hours 
per week until they start reception class in school (available to 
families where each parent (or one parent in a single adult 
household) are earning the equivalent of working sixteen hours per 
week on the minimum wage), which equates to 1140 hours per 
year.

 Children aged 2 whose families receive certain benefits (including 
low income families in receipt of in-work benefits), or those who 
meet additional non-economic criteria , are entitled to 15 hours per 
week.  Nationally, about 40% of 2 year olds are entitled to this offer, 
but the proportion varies by area. 

Parents do not have to use all the hours of their funded entitlement.  
They may choose to split them between providers.  With the agreement 
of their provider, parents may also spread them across the year, for 
example, rather than taking 15 hours for 38 weeks a year they could 
take just under 12 hours for 48 weeks a year.

Number of providers offering funded early education 
places

Reg for 2 year 
funding

Reg for 3 and 4 
year funding

Offering 30 
hours

Childminders 274 306 288
Daycare 309 344 304

Take up of funded early education

The proportion of eligible children taking up their funded place (for at 
least some of the available hours) in Gloucestershire is:

Autumn 
2017

Spring 
2018

Summe
r 2018

Autumn 
2018

Spring 
2019

Summer 
2019

2  year 
olds 76.0% 74.8% 69.6% 59.5% 54.9% 72.8%

3 year 
olds 
universal

94.4% 95.0% 94.2% 90.7% 96.6% 96.3%

4 year 
olds
universal

97.4% 95.4% 94.6% 98.6% 97.1% 96.4%

3 and 4 
year olds 
universal

95.9% 95.2% 94.4% 94.7% 96.9% 96.3%

P
age 91

https://www.gov.uk/help-with-childcare-costs/free-childcare-and-education-for-2-to-4-year-olds
https://www.gov.uk/help-with-childcare-costs/free-childcare-2-year-olds-benefits


Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 24

2  year olds 3 year olds 
universal

4 year olds 
universal

3 and 4 year olds 
extended

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
Autumn 2017

Spring 2018

Summer 
2018

Autumn 2018

Spring 2019

Summer 
2019

3 and 4 year old funded extended entitlement 
applications

Parents who think they are entitled to a 30 hour extended hours place 
apply for this online through the Government’s Childcare Support 
website.  The same website is used to apply for tax free childcare and 
parents can apply for either or both.  If a parent is eligible, the system 
creates a code which they can use with their chosen childcare provider.  
If they are ineligible, they will still be entitled to the universal 15 hours of 
early education and childcare.  

A
ut

um
n 

20
17

Sp
rin

g 
20

18

Su
m

m
er

 
20

18

A
ut

um
n 

20
18

Sp
rin

g 
20

19

Su
m

m
er

 
20

19

Codes 
Issued 2743 4070 4675 3071 4296 5138

3 Year 
Olds 
Extended

2265 2441 2459 2464 2597 2686

4 Year 
Olds 
Extended

25 998 1573 73 1011 1638

% Take Up 83.5% 84.5% 86.2% 82.6% 84.0% 84.2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
Autumn 
2017

Spring 2018

Summer 
2018

Autumn 
2018

Spring 2019

Summer 
2019

P
age 92

https://www.childcare-support.tax.service.gov.uk/par/app/invitedtotrial


Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 25

School place planning areas

Gloucestershire County Council is responsible for planning and 
providing sufficient school places in appropriate locations.  To do so, it 
must monitor the supply of school places against forecasts of future 
demand.  

School place planning and ensuring schools are of the right size for the 
future enables (where appropriate) surplus space to be considered for 
alternative uses, including community purposes.  Accommodation 
released can be re-allocated to a wide variety of purposes including 
additional early years and childcare places, health care, libraries, adult 
and children’s services bases and community facilities.  

The planning of school places in Gloucestershire is based on the 
geographical areas defined by the secondary school catchments and 
feeder schools aligned to them.  These are the same demographic 
planning areas that the council is required to report on annually to the 

Department for Education (DfE) to inform future capital basic need 
allocations. 

In order to ensure consistency within the education teams at 
Gloucestershire County Council, the Early Years Service has aligned its 
childcare sufficiency assessment boundaries with the school place 
planning assessments boundaries.

There are currently 44 school planning areas within Gloucestershire: 
Forest of Dean - 9, Tewkesbury - 3, Cotswolds - 7, Stroud - 10, 
Cheltenham - 5 and Gloucester - 10. 

Forest of Dean

 9161100 Tidenham
 9161110 Lydney
 9161120 Coleford
 9161200 Brooks Dean
 9161210 Longhope / Mitcheldean
 9161220 Cinderford
 9161230 West Severn
 9161240 Newent
 9161250 Hartpury

Tewkesbury

 9161300 Tewkesbury / Ashchurch
 9161310 Bishops Cleeve
 9161320 Winchcombe

Cotswolds

 9161400 Chipping Campden / Moreton-in-Marsh
 9161410 Stow-on-the-Wold
 9161420 Bourton-on-the-Water

P
age 93



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 26

 9161430 Northleach
 9161500 Fairford
 9161510 Cirencester
 9161520 Tetbury

Stroud

 9161600 Nailsworth
 9161610 Eastcombe
 9161620 Stroud Town
 9161630 Cainscross / Whiteshill
 9161640 Painswick
 9161700 Stonehouse
 9161710 Frampton / Saul
 9161720 Berkeley
 9161730 Dursley
 9161740 Wotton-under-Edge

Cheltenham

 9161800 Swindon Road
 9161810 Whaddon
 9161820 Hesters Way
 9161830 Charlton Kings
 9161840 Hatherley / Leckhampton

Gloucester

 9161900 Churchdown / Innsworth
 9161910 Elmbridge / Longlevens
 9161920 Barton / Tredworth
 9161931 Hucclecote / Barnwood
 9161932 Abbey / Matson / Upton

 9161940 Tuffley
 9161950 Linden
 9161960 Quedgeley
 9161961 Quedgeley South East
 9161970 Brockworth

For further information on school place planning, please see the School 
Places Strategy.

P
age 94

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/gloucestershire-school-projects/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/gloucestershire-school-projects/


Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 27

Forest of Dean
Summary

In the Forest of Dean, the number of early years providers in this area has remained static over the last year for both 
childminders and daycare providers.

The majority of early years providers are daycare providers and they offer the most number of registered places.

75.7% of childminders and 91.7% of daycare providers are currently graded as good or outstanding by Ofsted.

The majority of early years providers are qualified to Level 3, with the highest qualified holding either a Qualified Teacher 
status or Early Years Professional status.

Number of Early Years Providers

Childminders ALL Daycare
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

P
age 95



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 28

Births

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Number of Births 801 765 784 813 831 801

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
500

600

700

800

900

Population

Population (Source: GP Data 2018)
0

years
1

years
2

years
3

years
4

years
5

years
6

years
7

years
8

years
9

years
10

years
11

years
12

years
13

years
14

years
779 833 905 890 897 949 958 1016 1006 974 977 932 940 976 954

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

P
age 96



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 29

Childcare Provision

No of 
providers

% of 
Providers

No of 
registered 

places

No of 
places 
per 100 
children

% achieving 
good or 

outstanding

% achieving 
requires 

improvemen
t

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / 

met

% achieving 
non 

compliant /    
not met

Childminders 42 29% 321 4 75.7% 24.3%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 21 14% 1009 19 88.2% 5.9% 5.9%
Day Nursery (gov run)
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov 
run)

27 18% 722 20 96.3% 3.7%

Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 12 8% 221 6 66.7% 33.3%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools

1 1% 100 3 100%

Private Nursery School
Out of school (non gov run) 22 15% 231 6 88.9% 11.1%
Out of School (gov run) 8 5% 158 4 100%
Holiday Playscheme 14 10% 124 2 80.0% 20.0%

NB: Totals will not always add up as some settings will be awaiting an Ofsted outcome and some governor run settings will come under schools Ofsted.

Childminder

Day Nursery (non gov run)

Day Nursery (gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup 
(non gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (gov 
run)

Nursery Unit of 
Independent School

Private Nursery School

Out of School (non gov 
run)

Out of School (gov run)

Holiday

% of Providers

            

ChildminderDay Nursery (non gov run)Day Nursery (gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (gov run)Nursery Unit of Independent SchoolPrivate Nursery SchoolOut of School (non gov run)Out of School (gov run)Holiday
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% % achieving good 
or outstanding

% achieving 
requires 
improvement

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / met

% achieving non 
compliant / not 
met

Ofsted Outcomes

P
age 97



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 30

Childcare Offer

No of providers offering childcare Childcare Offer

Currently 
providing 
childcare

Able to 
provide 

childcare

Have 
staff who 

are 
trained 

to 
provide 

childcare

Reg for 
2 year 

funding

Reg for 
3 and 4 

year 
funding

Offering 
30 hours

Signed 
up to 

Tax-Free 
Childcare

be
fo

re
 8

am
 

w
ee

kd
ay

af
te

r 6
pm

 w
ee

kd
ay

A
t t

he
 w

ee
ke

nd

O
ve

rn
ig

ht
 C

ar
e

C
ar

in
g 

fo
r 2

, 3
 o

r 4
 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

re
la

tiv
es

for children with additional 
support needs

H
av

e 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ac

ce
ss

Childminder 24 27 25 10 13 4 1 2 3 1 8 1 2
Daycare 54 59 58 31 14 1 28 33 32 28

Vacancies and Waiting Lists

Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Weds am Weds pm Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am Fri pm
Childminder 8 8 10 10 11 11 14 14 9 7Vacancies Daycare 206 234 173 200 183 226 187 220 178 187
Childminder 2 2 2 2 2 2 4 4 5 5No of Waiting 

Lists Daycare 12 12 19 18 16 15 18 14 10 7

Staff Qualifications

Unqualified Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 
(Foundation)

Graduate 
Level 6 

(Degree)
Level 7 

(Masters)
Qualified 
Teacher 

Status (QTS)

Early Years 
Professional 

Status 
(EYPS)

Childminder 7 3 8 2 2
Daycare 23 34 175 13 19 15 4 18 17

P
age 98



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 31

Costs

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds School aged children, 5 
years and over

Childminder £4.35 £4.35 £4.34
Daycare £4.62 £4.37 £4.51

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds 5 years and over
£-

£1.00
£2.00
£3.00
£4.00
£5.00
£6.00

Childminder
Daycare

Funding

Autumn 2018 Spring 2019 Summer 2019
2  year olds 41.7% 43.9% 55.2%
3 year olds universal 87.1% 96.9% 94.4%
4 year olds universal 95.4% 93.3% 94.1%
3 and 4 year olds universal 91.3% 95.1% 94.2%

2 year olds 3 year olds universal 4 year olds universal 3 and 4 year olds universal
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Autumn 2018
Spring 2019
Summer 2019

P
age 99



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 32

Tewkesbury
Summary

In Tewkesbury, the number of early years providers in this area has remained static over the last 
year for daycare providers.  However, there has been a decrease in the number of childminders.  

The majority of early years providers in the area are childminders.  Nevertheless, the highest 
number of registered places are offered by daycare providers.

81.4% of childminders and 88.0% of daycare providers are currently graded as good or outstanding 
by Ofsted.

The majority of early years providers are qualified to Level 3, with the highest qualified holding 
Qualified Teacher status or Early Years Professional status.

Number of Early Years Providers

Childminders ALL Daycare
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

P
age 100



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 33

Births

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Number of Births 460 488 473 500 502 592

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
700

800

900

1000

1100

Population

Population (Source: GP Data 2018)
0

years
1

years
2

years
3

years
4

years
5

years
6

years
7

years
8

years
9

years
10

years
11

years
12

years
13

years
14

years
529 622 590 597 593 621 605 643 674 615 621 598 565 582 587

0

200

400

600

800

P
age 101



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 34

Childcare Provision

No of 
providers

% of 
Providers

No of 
registered 

places

No of 
places 
per 100 
children

% achieving 
good or 

outstanding

% achieving 
requires 

improvemen
t

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / 

met

% achieving 
non 

compliant /    
not met

Childminders 48 46% 311 6 81.4% 2.3% 16.3%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 10 10% 522 15 100%
Day Nursery (gov run)
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov 
run)

15 14% 444 18 92.3% 7.7%

Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 4 4% 91 4 100%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools
Private Nursery School 2 2% 48 1 50.0% 50.0%
Out of school (non gov run) 11 10% 83 3 80.0% 10.0% 10.0%
Out of School (gov run) 4 4% 80 3
Holiday Playscheme 11 10% 155 4 83.3% 16.7%

NB: Totals will not always add up as some settings will be awaiting an Ofsted outcome and some governor run settings will come under schools Ofsted.

Childminder

Day Nursery (non gov run)

Day Nursery (gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (non 
gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (gov 
run)

Nursery Unit of 
Independent School

Private Nursery School

Out of School (non gov run)

Out of School (gov run)

Holiday

% of Providers

            

ChildminderDay Nursery (non gov run)Day Nursery (gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (gov run)Nursery Unit of Independent SchoolPrivate Nursery SchoolOut of School (non gov run)Out of School (gov run)Holiday
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% % achieving good 
or outstanding

% achieving 
requires 
improvement

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / met

% achieving non 
compliant / not 
met

Ofsted Outcomes

P
age 102



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 35

Childcare Offer

No of providers offering childcare Childcare Offer

Currently 
providing 
childcare

Able to 
provide 

childcare

Have 
staff who 

are 
trained 

to 
provide 

childcare

Reg for 
2 year 

funding

Reg for 
3 and 4 

year 
funding

Offering 
30 hours

Signed 
up to 

Tax-Free 
Childcare

be
fo

re
 8

am
 

w
ee

kd
ay

af
te

r 6
pm

 w
ee

kd
ay

A
t t

he
 w

ee
ke

nd

O
ve

rn
ig

ht
 C

ar
e

C
ar

in
g 

fo
r 2

, 3
 o

r 4
 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

re
la

tiv
es

for children with additional 
support needs

H
av

e 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ac

ce
ss

Childminder 30 36 35 14 20 7 4 7 3 3 11 8 3
Daycare 27 29 27 13 6 13 14 14 12

Vacancies and Waiting Lists

Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Weds am Weds pm Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am Fri pm
Childminder 16 16 10 11 10 11 13 10 11 7Vacancies Daycare 63 50 48 64 47 50 50 58 60 54
Childminder 2 2 7 6 5 4 5 5No of Waiting 

Lists Daycare 11 13 12 11 16 20 14 14 12 13

Staff Qualifications

Unqualified Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 
(Foundation)

Graduate 
Level 6 

(Degree)
Level 7 

(Masters)
Qualified 
Teacher 

Status (QTS)

Early Years 
Professional 

Status 
(EYPS)

Childminder 4 4 16 2 1 1 2 3
Daycare 24 16 73 4 7 10 1 12 8

P
age 103



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 36

Costs

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds School aged children, 5 
years and over

Childminder £4.45 £4.45 £4.50
Daycare £4.86 £4.52 £4.77

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds 5 years and over
£-

£1.00
£2.00
£3.00
£4.00
£5.00
£6.00

Childminder
Daycare

Funding

Autumn 2018 Spring 2019 Summer 2019
2  year olds 26.7% 22.9% 31.4%
3 year olds universal 93.6% 95.8% 96.8%
4 year olds universal 96.4% 98.8% 93.7%
3 and 4 year olds universal 95.0% 97.3% 95.2%

2 year olds 3 year olds universal 4 year olds universal 3 and 4 year olds universal
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Autumn 2018
Spring 2019
Summer 2019

P
age 104



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 37

Cotswolds
Summary

In the Cotswolds, the number of early years providers in this area has remained static over the last year for both 
childminders and daycare providers.  

There is an even split between childminders and daycare providers, with daycare providers offering the highest number of 
registered places.

88.9% of childminders and 100% of daycare providers are currently graded as good or outstanding by Ofsted.

The majority of early years providers are qualified to Level 3, with the highest qualified holding Qualified Teacher status or 
Early Years Professional status.

Number of Early Years Providers

Childminders ALL Daycare
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

P
age 105



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 38

Births

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Number of Births 717 663 687 683 717 727

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
600

650

700

750

800

Population

Population (Source: GP Data 2018)
0

years
1

years
2

years
3

years
4

years
5

years
6

years
7

years
8

years
9

years
10

years
11

years
12

years
13

years
14

years
726 766 790 805 856 841 912 914 948 894 961 971 940 919 899

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

P
age 106



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 39

Childcare Provision

No of 
providers

% of 
Providers

No of 
registered 

places

No of 
places 
per 100 
children

% achieving 
good or 

outstanding

% achieving 
requires 

improvemen
t

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / 

met

% achieving 
non 

compliant /    
not met

Childminders 46 34% 283 4 88.9% 3.7% 3.7% 3.7%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 20 15% 1102 23 100%
Day Nursery (gov run)
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov 
run)

16 12% 379 12 100%

Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 10 7% 252 8 100%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools

4 3% 107 3 100%

Private Nursery School
Out of school (non gov run) 13 9% 244 7 77.8% 22.2%
Out of School (gov run) 15 11% 237 7 100%
Holiday Playscheme 13 9% 174 3 71.4% 28.6%

NB: Totals will not always add up as some settings will be awaiting an Ofsted outcome and some governor run settings will come under schools Ofsted.

Childminder

Day Nursery (non gov run)

Day Nursery (gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (non 
gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (gov 
run)

Nursery Unit of 
Independent School

Private Nursery School

Out of School (non gov run)

Out of School (gov run)

Holiday

% of Providers

            

ChildminderDay Nursery (non gov run)Day Nursery (gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (gov run)Nursery Unit of Independent SchoolPrivate Nursery SchoolOut of School (non gov run)Out of School (gov run)Holiday
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% % achieving good 
or outstanding

% achieving 
requires 
improvement

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / met

% achieving non 
compliant / not 
met

Ofsted Outcomes

P
age 107



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 40

Childcare Offer

No of providers offering childcare Childcare Offer

Currently 
providing 
childcare

Able to 
provide 

childcare

Have 
staff who 

are 
trained 

to 
provide 

childcare

Reg for 
2 year 

funding

Reg for 
3 and 4 

year 
funding

Offering 
30 hours

Signed 
up to 

Tax-Free 
Childcare

be
fo

re
 8

am
 

w
ee

kd
ay

af
te

r 6
pm

 w
ee

kd
ay

A
t t

he
 w

ee
ke

nd

O
ve

rn
ig

ht
 C

ar
e

C
ar

in
g 

fo
r 2

, 3
 o

r 4
 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

re
la

tiv
es

for children with additional 
support needs

H
av

e 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ac

ce
ss

Childminder 32 36 35 11 13 4 3 5 6 2 11 6 6
Daycare 34 46 41 23 9 1 21 24 23 22

Vacancies and Waiting Lists

Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Weds am Weds pm Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am Fri pm
Childminder 10 8 9 10 6 6 12 11 9 10Vacancies Daycare 106 133 94 116 103 106 113 119 103 99
Childminder 5 5 7 7 5 5 4 4 5 5No of Waiting 

Lists Daycare 22 25 23 28 22 26 24 29 19 17

Staff Qualifications

Unqualified Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 
(Foundation)

Graduate 
Level 6 

(Degree)
Level 7 

(Masters)
Qualified 
Teacher 

Status (QTS)

Early Years 
Professional 

Status 
(EYPS)

Childminder 13 4 14 1 1 1 1
Daycare 61 32 155 21 21 16 13 6

P
age 108



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 41

Costs

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds School aged children, 5 
years and over

Childminder £4.72 £4.69 £4.51
Daycare £5.00 £4.99 £5.02

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds 5 years and over
£-

£1.00
£2.00
£3.00
£4.00
£5.00
£6.00

Childminder
Daycare

Funding

Autumn 2018 Spring 2019 Summer 2019
2  year olds 16.1% 20.3% 27.8%
3 year olds universal 81.9% 86.8% 84.6%
4 year olds universal 98.4% 94.0% 89.5%
3 and 4 year olds universal 90.4% 90.5% 87.1%

2 year olds 3 year olds universal 4 year olds universal 3 and 4 year olds universal
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Autumn 2018
Spring 2019
Summer 2019

P
age 109



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 42

Stroud
Summary

In Stroud, the number of early years providers in this area has remained static over the last year for 
both childminders and daycare providers.

There is an even split between childminders and daycare providers, with daycare providers offering 
the highest number of registered places.

84.9% of childminders and 94.2% of daycare providers are currently graded as good or outstanding 
by Ofsted.

The majority of early years providers are qualified to Level 3, with the highest qualified holding 
Qualified Teacher status or Early Years Professional status. 

Number of Early Years Providers

Childminders ALL Daycare
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

P
age 110



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 43

Births 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Number of Births 1072 948 928 974 985 964

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
800

900

1000

1100

1200

Population

Population (Source: GP Data 2018)
0

years
1

years
2

years
3

years
4

years
5

years
6

years
7

years
8

years
9

years
10

years
11

years
12

years
13

years
14

years
967 993 1069 1048 1095 1169 1305 1250 1348 1290 1370 1302 1336 1267 1309

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

P
age 111



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 44

Childcare Provision

No of 
providers

% of 
Providers

No of 
registered 

places

No of 
places 
per 100 
children

% achieving 
good or 

outstanding

% achieving 
requires 

improvemen
t

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / 

met

% achieving 
non 

compliant /    
not met

Childminders 71 37% 445 4 84.9% 15.1%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 15 8% 709 11 100%
Day Nursery (gov run) 1 1% 55 1
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov 
run)

35 18% 865 20 100%

Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 12 6% 290 7 33.3% 66.7%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools

3 2% 74 2 100%

Private Nursery School
Out of school (non gov run) 21 11% 506 10 81.3% 18.8%
Out of School (gov run) 15 8% 261 5
Holiday Playscheme 18 9% 437 5 75.0% 16.7% 8.3%

NB: Totals will not always add up as some settings will be awaiting an Ofsted outcome and some governor run settings will come under schools Ofsted.

Childminder

Day Nursery (non gov run)

Day Nursery (gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (non 
gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (gov 
run)

Nursery Unit of 
Independent School

Private Nursery School

Out of School (non gov run)

Out of School (gov run)

Holiday

% of Providers

            

ChildminderDay Nursery (non gov run)Day Nursery (gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (gov run)Nursery Unit of Independent SchoolPrivate Nursery SchoolOut of School (non gov run)Out of School (gov run)Holiday
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% % achieving good 
or outstanding

% achieving 
requires 
improvement

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / met

% achieving non 
compliant / not 
met

Ofsted Outcomes

P
age 112



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 45

Childcare Offer

No of providers offering childcare Childcare Offer

Currently 
providing 
childcare

Able to 
provide 

childcare

Have 
staff who 

are 
trained 

to 
provide 

childcare

Reg for 
2 year 

funding

Reg for 
3 and 4 

year 
funding

Offering 
30 hours

Signed 
up to 

Tax-Free 
Childcare

be
fo

re
 8

am
 

w
ee

kd
ay

af
te

r 6
pm

 w
ee

kd
ay

A
t t

he
 w

ee
ke

nd

O
ve

rn
ig

ht
 C

ar
e

C
ar

in
g 

fo
r 2

, 3
 o

r 4
 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

re
la

tiv
es

for children with additional 
support needs

H
av

e 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ac

ce
ss

Childminder 42 48 43 18 27 9 4 10 3 5 18 11 3
Daycare 54 58 51 34 7 2 36 39 37 31

Vacancies and Waiting Lists

Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Weds am Weds pm Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am Fri pm
Childminder 10 17 11 12 11 13 17 17 10 12Vacancies Daycare 174 149 139 137 102 108 136 125 158 136
Childminder 9 9 14 14 17 17 18 18 6 5No of Waiting 

Lists Daycare 31 21 40 32 41 34 34 27 28 18

Staff Qualifications

Unqualified Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 
(Foundation)

Graduate 
Level 6 

(Degree)
Level 7 

(Masters)
Qualified 
Teacher 

Status (QTS)

Early Years 
Professional 

Status 
(EYPS)

Childminder 6 7 17 1 1 2 2 3
Daycare 33 42 191 7 15 10 1 13 12

P
age 113



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 46

Costs

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds School aged children, 5 
years and over

Childminder £4.60 £4.60 £4.60
Daycare £4.63 £4.44 £4.17

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds 5 years and over
£-

£1.00
£2.00
£3.00
£4.00
£5.00
£6.00

Childminder
Daycare

Funding

Autumn 2018 Spring 2019 Summer 2019
2  year olds 26.9% 25.0% 34.8%
3 year olds universal 89.4% 97.6% 97.4%
4 year olds universal 97.2% 95.4% 93.8%
3 and 4 year olds universal 93.4% 96.5% 95.6%

2 year olds 3 year olds universal 4 year olds universal 3 and 4 year olds universal
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Autumn 2018
Spring 2019
Summer 2019

P
age 114



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 47

Cheltenham
Summary

In Cheltenham, the number of early years providers in this area has remained static over the last 
year for daycare providers.  However, the number of childminders has slightly decreased.

There is an even split between childminders and daycare providers, with daycare providers offering 
the highest number of registered places.

90.3% of childminders and 98.3% of daycare providers are currently graded as good or outstanding 
by Ofsted.

The majority of providers are qualified to Level 3, with the highest qualified holding Qualified 
Teacher status or Early Years Professional status.

Number of Early Years Providers

Childminders ALL Daycare
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

P
age 115



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 48

Births 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Number of Births 1385 1338 1387 1294 1321 1281

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
1000

1100

1200

1300

1400

Population

Population (Source: GP Data 2018)
0

years
1

years
2

years
3

years
4

years
5

years
6

years
7

years
8

years
9

years
10

years
11

years
12

years
13

years
14

years
1239 1300 1330 1328 1388 1401 1407 1398 1465 1390 1412 1413 1348 1403 1470

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600

P
age 116



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 49

Childcare Provision

No of 
providers

% of 
Providers

No of 
registered 

places

No of 
places 
per 100 
children

% achieving 
good or 

outstanding

% achieving 
requires 

improvemen
t

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / 

met

% achieving 
non 

compliant /    
not met

Childminders 64 35% 414 3 90.3% 1.6% 6.5% 1.6%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 31 17% 1671 21 100%
Day Nursery (gov run) 1 1% 61 1 100%
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov 
run)

21 11% 523 10 100%

Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 6 3% 188 3 50.0% 50.0%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools

6 3% 111 2 100%

Private Nursery School 1 1% 28 0
Out of school (non gov run) 22 12% 511 9 72.2% 5.6% 22.2%
Out of School (gov run) 8 4% 182 3
Holiday Playscheme 24 13% 711 7 66.7% 6.7% 26.7%

NB: Totals will not always add up as some settings will be awaiting an Ofsted outcome and some governor run settings will come under schools Ofsted.

Childminder

Day Nursery (non gov run)

Day Nursery (gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (non 
gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (gov 
run)

Nursery Unit of 
Independent School

Private Nursery School

Out of School (non gov run)

Out of School (gov run)

Holiday

% of Providers

            

ChildminderDay Nursery (non gov run)Day Nursery (gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (gov run)Nursery Unit of Independent SchoolPrivate Nursery SchoolOut of School (non gov run)Out of School (gov run)Holiday
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% % achieving good 
or outstanding

% achieving 
requires 
improvement

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / met

% achieving non 
compliant / not 
met

Ofsted Outcomes

P
age 117



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 50

Childcare Offer

No of providers offering childcare Childcare Offer

Currently 
providing 
childcare

Able to 
provide 

childcare

Have 
staff who 

are 
trained 

to 
provide 

childcare

Reg for 
2 year 

funding

Reg for 
3 and 4 

year 
funding

Offering 
30 hours

Signed 
up to 

Tax-Free 
Childcare

be
fo

re
 8

am
 

w
ee

kd
ay

af
te

r 6
pm

 w
ee

kd
ay

A
t t

he
 w

ee
ke

nd

O
ve

rn
ig

ht
 C

ar
e

C
ar

in
g 

fo
r 2

, 3
 o

r 4
 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

re
la

tiv
es

for children with additional 
support needs

H
av

e 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ac

ce
ss

Childminder 40 44 42 21 18 5 1 1 3 4 19 13 7
Daycare 52 59 47 25 5 1 27 28 27 23

Vacancies and Waiting Lists

Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Weds am Weds pm Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am Fri pm
Childminder 10 9 7 8 10 10 9 9 12 12Vacancies Daycare 162 158 126 123 122 107 147 138 176 180
Childminder 21 21 19 20 20 20 18 18 10 11No of Waiting 

Lists Daycare 34 33 52 51 47 47 52 49 29 31

Staff Qualifications

Unqualified Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 
(Foundation)

Graduate 
Level 6 

(Degree)
Level 7 

(Masters)
Qualified 
Teacher 

Status (QTS)

Early Years 
Professional 

Status 
(EYPS)

Childminder 6 3 31 1 1 4 1 1
Daycare 59 51 227 17 16 27 2 21 11

P
age 118



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 51

Costs

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds School aged children, 5 
years and over

Childminder £4.68 £4.69 £4.61
Daycare £4.97 £4.79 £5.08

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds 5 years and over
£-

£1.00
£2.00
£3.00
£4.00
£5.00
£6.00

Childminder
Daycare

Vacancies and Waiting Lists

Autumn 2018 Spring 2019 Summer 2019
2  year olds 36.3% 31.6% 38.7%
3 year olds universal 88.7% 90.0% 87.9%
4 year olds universal 101.6% 98.7% 98.4%
3 and 4 year olds universal 95.3% 94.4% 93.2%

2 year olds 3 year olds universal 4 year olds universal 3 and 4 year olds universal
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Autumn 2018
Spring 2019
Summer 2019

P
age 119



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 52

Gloucester
Summary

In Gloucester, the number of early years providers in this area has remained static for both 
childminders and daycare providers.

The majority of early years providers in the area are childminders.  Nevertheless, the highest 
number of registered places are offered by daycare providers.

90.0% of childminders and 88.7% of daycare providers are currently graded as good or outstanding 
by Ofsted.

The majority of early years providers are qualified to Level 3 with the highest qualified holding 
Qualified Teacher status or Early Years Professional status.
 

Number of Early Years Providers

Childminders ALL Daycare
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Aug-18 Sep-18 Oct-18 Nov-18 Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Jun-19 Jul-19

P
age 120



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 53

Births 

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Number of Births 2286 2256 2150 2178 2327 2092

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
1500

1600

1700

1800

1900

Population

Population (Source: GP Data 2018)
0

years
1

years
2

years
3

years
4

years
5

years
6

years
7

years
8

years
9

years
10

years
11

years
12

years
13

years
14

years
2141 2112 2376 2299 2321 2362 2459 2335 2251 2288 2321 2130 2093 1971 1972

0

400

800

1200

1600

2000

2400

P
age 121



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 54

Childcare Provision

No of 
providers

% of 
Providers

No of 
registered 

places

No of 
places 
per 100 
children

% achieving 
good or 

outstanding

% achieving 
requires 

improvemen
t

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / 

met

% achieving 
non 

compliant /    
not met

Childminders 139 46% 926 4 90.0% 2.7% 7.3%
Day Nursery (non gov run) 48 16% 2478 18 91.2% 5.9% 2.9%
Day Nursery (gov run) 1 0% 48 0 100%
Pre-School Playgroup (non gov 
run)

30 10% 1030 11 100%

Pre-School Playgroup (gov run) 18 6% 617 7 57.1% 28.6% 14.3%
Nursery Unit of Independent 
Schools

2 1% 30 0 50.0% 50.0%

Private Nursery School 1 0% 66 0 100%
Out of school (non gov run) 25 8% 649 7 75.0% 25.0%
Out of School (gov run) 17 6% 479 5
Holiday Playscheme 24 8% 496 3 71.4% 14.3% 14.3%

NB: Totals will not always add up as some settings will be awaiting an Ofsted outcome and some governor run settings will come under schools Ofsted.

Childminder

Day Nursery (non gov run)

Day Nursery (gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (non 
gov run)

Pre-School Playgroup (gov 
run)

Nursery Unit of 
Independent School

Private Nursery School

Out of School (non gov run)

Out of School (gov run)

Holiday

% of Providers

            

ChildminderDay Nursery (non gov run)Day Nursery (gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (non gov run)Pre-School Playgroup (gov run)Nursery Unit of Independent SchoolPrivate Nursery SchoolOut of School (non gov run)Out of School (gov run)Holiday
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% % achieving good 
or outstanding

% achieving 
requires 
improvement

% achieving 
inadequate

% achieving 
compliant / met

% achieving non 
compliant / not 
met

Ofsted Outcomes

P
age 122



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 55

Childcare Offer

No of providers offering childcare Childcare Offer

Currently 
providing 
childcare

Able to 
provide 

childcare

Have 
staff who 

are 
trained 

to 
provide 

childcare

Reg for 
2 year 

funding

Reg for 
3 and 4 

year 
funding

Offering 
30 hours

Signed 
up to 

Tax-Free 
Childcare

be
fo

re
 8

am
 

w
ee

kd
ay

af
te

r 6
pm

 w
ee

kd
ay

A
t t

he
 w

ee
ke

nd

O
ve

rn
ig

ht
 C

ar
e

C
ar

in
g 

fo
r 2

, 3
 o

r 4
 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
w

ho
 a

re
 

re
la

tiv
es

for children with additional 
support needs

H
av

e 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ac

ce
ss

Childminder 106 115 108 38 51 11 9 12 6 10 32 25 13
Daycare 85 93 80 42 19 2 44 44 38 38

Vacancies and Waiting Lists

Mon am Mon pm Tues am Tues pm Weds am Weds pm Thurs am Thurs pm Fri am Fri pm
Childminder 35 37 26 32 30 35 39 43 28 28Vacancies Daycare 257 247 212 212 193 211 210 238 226 231
Childminder 26 25 26 26 23 23 24 24 9 9No of Waiting 

Lists Daycare 43 41 37 55 40 27 51 35 38 37

Staff Qualifications

Unqualified Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 
(Foundation)

Graduate 
Level 6 

(Degree)
Level 7 

(Masters)
Qualified 
Teacher 

Status (QTS)

Early Years 
Professional 

Status 
(EYPS)

Childminder 18 9 41 2 4 5 1 2 2
Daycare 90 85 368 26 23 31 4 27 30

P
age 123



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 56

Costs

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds School aged children, 5 
years and over

Childminder £4.26 £4.27 £4.31
Daycare £4.78 £4.51 £4.20

0 - 2 year olds 3 and 4 year olds 5 years and over
£-

£1.00
£2.00
£3.00
£4.00
£5.00
£6.00

Childminder
Daycare

Funding

Autumn 2018 Spring 2019 Summer 2019
2  year olds 41.7% 36.4% 47.1%
3 year olds universal 89.1% 96.7% 95.0%
4 year olds universal 95.8% 94.9% 93.7%
3 and 4 year olds universal 92.5% 95.8% 94.4%

2 year olds 3 year olds universal 4 year olds universal 3 and 4 year olds universal
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Autumn 2018
Spring 2019
Summer 2019

P
age 124



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 57

SEND
Childcare and early year’s education for children with special 
educational needs and disabilities is available in Gloucestershire, both 
within mainstream provision and Special schools offering early years 
places where this has been assessed as appropriate to meet the needs 
of the child.  

The local authority provides a range of training across the entire 
childcare sector. This includes training and advice to support the early 
years market to offer high quality, inclusive childcare and early 
education for children with SEND.

The Local Authority Early Years Service, Advisory Teachers and 
Educational Psychologists support the childcare sector to ensure that 
children and families receive additional support when needed, following 
our established graduated response model. Support is also provided to 
the school sector, again following the graduated response approach. 
Practitioners and families have access to support from appropriate 
specialists, relevant to the needs of the child. Settings may also be 
allocated an Early Years Advisor for a set period of time to support 
them with meeting the needs of children with more complex special 
educational needs or disabilities. 

The Children and Families Act 2014 requires each Local Authority to 
produce and publish a Local Offer which sets out, in one place, 
information about provision available across education, health and 
social care for children and young people in the area, who have special 
educational needs or are disabled.

The Early Years service has encouraged all registered childcare 
providers to have individual versions of the local offer, which outlines 
how they support children with special educational needs or disability. 
This document should be made available to parents and published on 
the provider’s and each Local Authorities’ website.  Currently 226 
(approximately 30%) of early years settings have submitted their local 
offer to the local authority.

As part of the new Early Years National Funding Formula (April 2017), 
local authorities introduced a Disability Access Fund (DAF). This 
funding ensures that providers receive an additional lump sum for each 
child attending their setting who is in receipt of Disability Living 
Allowance. Since its introduction, 196 children have been supported 
through DAF. 

Local authorities also had to build upon existing funding allocation to 
provide additional top up funding for providers to improve outcomes for 
children with special educational needs. In Gloucestershire, this top up 
funding is referred to as Early Years Inclusion Funding. Applications for 
Inclusion Funding are submitted to a panel of professionals for 
approval.  Previously this panel has also included representation from 
Health practitioners; this helped to ensure that holistic support was 
planned for and provided for children and their families.  This is 
something we are currently hoping to re-establish with health 
colleagues.

Clear guidance on SEND support and the funding available for 
mainstream provision has been published, but will be developed further 
to increase the inclusion of children with SEND in mainstream settings. 

As part of our continuing assessment of meeting needs, this year we 
have undertaken an additional piece of targeted research to understand 
how confident parents of children with SEND are in accessing childcare 
provision and the challenges or barriers to this.

SEND Survey

During the month of April 2019, the Early Years Service sent out a 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities questionnaire to all 
registered families of The Key.  The Key is a register that holds 
information about children and young people with SEND (birth to 25 
years) who have chosen to be on the register and live in 
Gloucestershire.  

The purpose of the survey was to develop a better understanding of the 
perceptions, experiences and barriers of accessing suitable childcare 

P
age 125



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 58

for families with children and/young people with disabilities, and identify 
gaps in local provision.

The total number of responses received was 84.  70 of the 84 
responses received provided their postcode, so we were also able to 
identify the districts the replies were received from.

11.4%

11.4%

14.3%

25.7%

20.0%

17.1% Cheltenham

Cotswolds

Forest of Dean

Gloucester

Stroud

Tewkesbury

82 of the replies received identified which age group the child/young 
person in the family was in.

13.4%

45.1%

28.0%

13.4%

0-5 years 6-10 years

11-14 years 15-18 years

When asked to identify what special needs/disability the child/young 
person has, the following replies were received.  Some of the 
respondents ticked multiple types.

11.3%

29.1%

12.6%

31.8%

6.0%
9.3% Physical disability

Learning 
difficulty/disability

Sensory impairment

Autistic spectrum disorder

Complex health needs

Other

It was identified that 32.1% of families that responded did use 
childcare/early years education provision, with holiday clubs being used 
the most, followed by a personal assistant/family member.

7.7%

10.3%

5.1%

10.3%

25.6%

15.4%

2.6%

15.4%

7.7% Childminder
Day Nursery
Playgroup
Out of School club
Holiday Club
Family Member
Nanny
Personal Assistant
Other

P
age 126



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 59

Interestingly, the ways in which families found out about childcare/early 
years education provision in their area was through other professionals, 
and then friends.   

28.6%

10.7%

7.1%
0.0%

53.6%

Friend

Family Information Service

The Key

Job Centre

Other Professional (eg Health 
Visitor)

For those families that did not use formal childcare/early years 
education, when asked ‘what could be done to help parents get the right 
childcare’, the following responses were received:

23%

31%18%

20%

1%
7% More help and support to find the 

right childcare

More support/training for childcare 
providers in SEN and Disability

More information about childcare 
and childcare options

Benefit advice

Make it more affordable

Other

88.9% of families were aware of the free childcare entitlements for 2, 3 
and 4 year olds.  However, only 59.3% of families were aware that there 
may be some benefits available to help towards childcare costs.  And 
as a result only 14.5% of families therefore used the Childcare Choices 
website for further information on entitlements.

The reasons families with a child/young person with special 
needs/disability used childcare for varied.  The reasons are stated 
below:

24.5%

3.4%

6.8%

27.9%

33.3%

4.1% To return to work

To start training

To return to education

To have a break

To enhance my child(ren) 
learning/social 
experience

Other

When the families were asked if they were aware that Gloucestershire 
County Council had an Early Years Service that could help them find 
childcare for a child with SEND/provide support to the setting, the 
responses received were:

23%

9%68%

Yes but I have not used this

Yes, I have had support from 
this service
No, I was not aware of this 
services

The survey has provided some interesting results and highlights some 
areas for the Early Years Service to focus on over the next coming 
months.

P
age 127



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 60

Methodology for the Sufficiency Assessment
 Birth data: ONS Live Births
 Population: GP Data 2018
 Supply of childcare: data provided by Ofsted, who regulate early 

years provision in schools and childcare provision.
 Quality of childcare: data provided by Ofsted, who regulate early 

years provision in schools and childcare provision
 Childcare offer: collected from combined provider surveys 

completed Summer Term 2018, Autumn Term 2018 and Spring 
Term 2019

 Vacancy data: collected from combined provider surveys completed 
Summer Term 2018, Autumn Term 2018 and Spring Term 2019

 Waiting lists data: collected from combined provider surveys 
completed Summer Term 2018, Autumn Term 2018 and Spring 
Term 2019

 Staff qualifications data: collected from combined provider surveys 
completed Summer Term 2018, Autumn Term 2018 and Spring 
Term 2019

 Costs of childcare: collected from combined provider surveys 
completed Summer Term 2018, Autumn Term 2018 and Spring 
Term 2019

 Funded early education: Headcount data provided by EY Funding 
team.  Data on entitlement to a funded early education place for 2 
year olds is provided by the Department for Work and Pensions.  

 Children with EHC plans: based on data held by our local authority.
 Data from parents: a Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

questionnaire to all registered members of The Key.

P
age 128



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 61

Overall sufficiency and our plans for the 
future
At the present time, Gloucestershire has sufficient childcare overall.  
This is based on available birth data, projections of future demand and 
information of available childcare provision in the county.  

Over the next 12 months the Early Years Service will prioritise the 
following areas for development or implementation.  This will further 
enhance our knowledge of sufficiency and management of the early 
years market, as we strive to ensure continued sufficient high quality 
childcare for all.

Early Years Childcare Market (Section 7, Childcare Act 
(2006))

 Continue to recruit and sustain a childminding market.
 Offer business support to all early years providers.
 Liaise with schools to ensure the Local Authority has a full up-to-date 

data set of governor run early years provision, including out of school 
and holiday care. 

 Ensure data is collected from schools on the number of early years 
places, out of school and holiday provision being offered. 

 Continue to support all early years providers to deliver flexible 2, 3 
and 4 year old nursery education funded places, as well as 
supporting the expansion and development of childcare places 
across all areas.

 Continue to ensure childcare is inclusive and meets the needs of 
children with special educational needs and disabilities by re-visiting 
the SEND survey and encouraging settings to publish a Local Offer.

 Encourage special schools to provide support for parents by offering 
breakfast, after school and holiday provision. 
 Carry out an audit of Early Years premises across the county to 

identify settings potentially vulnerable to closure or future 
potential premises issues.  Monitor this to ensure this does not 
jeopardise the sustainability of provision in future

 Carry out an Early Years Business risk analysis across Early 
Years provision in Gloucestershire to identify vulnerability with 
regards to future sustainability of settings. Target settings 
identified for intensive business support including a full business 
health check.

Promotion of childcare options (Section 12, Childcare 
Act (2006))

 Liaise with the Family Information Service to improve information and 
signposting in order to maximise the ability for parents to identify and 
secure childcare. 

 Liaise with the Family Information Service to discuss and improve 
data collection for:
 Childcare enquiries
 Website hits
 Brokerage data.

 Liaise with the Family Information Service to ensure they promote to 
grandparents caring for grandchildren under 12, that they could 
qualify for National Insurance credits that can top up their income in 
retirement.

 Liaise with the Family Information Service to assist with parental 
survey – using  social media where appropriate.

 Work with Job Centre Plus to promote return to work agenda.

Two year old funding (Sections 1 & 2, Childcare Act 
(2016))

 Review 2 year old funding postcards and rebrand the offer and 
information.

 Identify and contact parents of eligible 2 year olds not taking up 
entitlement.

 Work with Locality Leads to promote the A2YO offer to early years 
settings and Health Visitor teams.

 Liaise with neighbouring authorities at regional meetings to share 
processes and identify good practice models.

P
age 129



Education Data Hub, Gloucestershire County Council || Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 62

Children open to social care and/or adopted children 
(Sections 1 & 2, Childcare Act (2016))

 Identify the children aged 2-5 years who are open to social care.
 Identify the children aged 2-5 years who are adopted.
 Promote early years funding to these parents/carers not taking up 

their early years funded entitlement.

Self Update portal (Section 6, Childcare Act (2006))

 Roll out the childcare sufficiency data collection on the self update 
portal.  

 The benefits of having this additional system includes:
 A single system for collecting secure data, which will reduce 

administration duties for the Local Authority.
 Empower early years and childcare providers to maintain 

information about their provision themselves (funded early years 
funded settings already use the system).

 Enable the Local Authority to have more up-to-date information.
 Allow parents to have access to the very latest information.

Mapping Project (Section 6, Childcare Act (2006))

 Carry out straight line distance exercise to determine if families use 
childcare close to home or work for 3 and 4 year olds.  
 Early years provision does not have catchment areas and families 

are free to access any setting they wish in the county and in 
neighbouring counties. 

 In some cases, due to travelling, a deficit of places could be 
turned into a surplus of places, particularly in more affluent areas 
where families are more mobile.

Trends and Forecasting (Section 6, Childcare Act (2006))

 Perform detailed trends and forecasting analysis based on:
 Population

 Number of early years providers and places
 Take up for 2, 3 and 4 year olds
 Determine impact of 2 year funded children vs non funded 

children and Good Level of Development (GLD) in YR

School Place Planning Areas (Section 6, Childcare Act 
(2006))

 Perform detailed analysis based on above for each of the 44 
School Place Planning Areas.

P
age 130



M5 JUNCTION 10 IMPROVEMENT SCHEME; CAPITAL BUDGET APPROVAL, 

RECRUITMENT RESOURCE ALLOCATION, DELIVERY AND CONSTRUCTION.

Cabinet 13 November 2019

Environment & 
Planning Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

 M5 Junction 10 webpage

 Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP3 2016)

 Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan 2014 
 Adopted Joint Core Strategy

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/m5-junction-
10/
http://www.gfirstlep.com/

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3 

https://www.jointcorestrategy.org/
Main Consultees • GCC Strategic Communities and Infrastructure Members Board 

(SCIMB)
• Tewkesbury Borough Council
• Cheltenham Borough Council
• Gloucester City Council
• Gfirst LEP
• Ministry for Housing, Communities, Local Government (Cathy Francis, 

Director of Land and Housing Delivery and (then) Secretary of State 
James Brokenshire)

• Homes England
• Highways England
• MPs Laurence Robertson, Alex Chalk, Richard Graham
• Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy

Page 131

Agenda Item 9

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/m5-junction-10/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/m5-junction-10/
http://www.gfirstlep.com/
http://www.gfirstlep.com/
http://www.gfirstlep.com/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3


Planned Dates Homes England Funding Decision – Autumn 2019

Conclusion of options selection (Technical Appraisal Review) – November 
2019

Public consultation  - Spring 2020

Preliminary design – Spring – Autumn 2020

Planning - Autumn 2020 – Autumn 2021

Construction - Spring 2022 – Spring 2024

Divisional 
Councillor

Cllr Phil Awford

Cllr Simon Wheeler

Officer Simon Excell – Lead Commissioner; Strategic Infrastructure 
simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328487

Purpose of Report To ask Cabinet to delegate authority to the Lead Commissioner, Highway 
Authority in consultation with Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, 
for the purpose of: 

1. Authorising an increase of £220M to the Highways Capital budget, 
pending approval from the Homes England Housing Infrastructure 
Fund (HIF) and subject to any conditions of contract between 
Gloucestershire County Council (“GCC”) and Homes England that may 
restrict the immediate availability of HIF funding; 

2. Recruitment of an dedicated project management team within GCC’s 
Major Projects Team, to ensure that the management and delivery of 
the M5 Junction 10 Improvement Scheme (the “Scheme”) is 
sufficiently resourced, throughout project design and delivery;

3. Conducting competitive procurement processes in respect of all 
necessary contracts required by GCC for the supply of construction 
contracts in relation to each phase of the Scheme;

4. Awarding such contracts to the successful tenderers

Recommendations That Cabinet delegates authority to the Lead Commissioner, Highway 
Authority [in consultation with Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning] to:

1. Authorise an increase of £220M to the Highways Capital budget, 
pending approval from the Homes England Housing Infrastructure 
Fund (HIF) 

Page 132

mailto:simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. Recruit a dedicated project management team to the GCC Major 
Projects Team 

3. Conduct competitive procurement processes in respect all necessary 
contracts required by GCC for the supply of construction contracts in 
relation to each phase of the Scheme;

4. Award such contracts to the successful tenderers. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

The decision will enable the council to deliver £220M scheme improvements 
in accordance with any conditions of contract agreed between GCC and 
Homes England and provide the best opportunity to meet the timescales for 
project delivery. 

Resource 
Implications

Pending approval, the Scheme will be predominantly funded by Housing 
Infrastructure Fund, through Homes England. GCC has submitted a £220M 
bid and, upon approval, will capitalise all legitimate costs expended against 
capital activities as part of the bid work (June 2018-March 2019) and 
subsequent critical programme work (from April 2019 – Nov 2019).

Scheme design and programme has been developed to align with the forecast 
£220M budget allocation and construction cost estimates have been 
developed as part of the preliminary scheme design. Within the works 
estimate, a risk value of £35M has been allocated for the risks identified 
within the schemes risk register set out in the bid document (project and 
construction risk). 

As stated in the County Council’s Constitution, ‘Directors are responsible for 
ensuring that variations in capital project estimates that occur during the 
course of a contract are contained within the resources allocated to that 
service’. The Scheme’s costs have been monitored to date and will continue 
to be managed accordingly. Recruitment costs will be funded from the 
revenue staffing budget.

Page 133



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

Gloucestershire faces significant challenges to achieve its vision for economic growth. 
A Joint Core Strategy (JCS) – a partnership between Gloucester City Council, 
Cheltenham Borough Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council was adopted to 
produce a coordinated strategic development plan to show how the area will develop 
during the period up to 2031. This includes a shared spatial vision targeting 35,175 new 
homes and 39,500 new jobs by 2031. Major development of new housing (c.9,000 
homes) and employment land (c.100ha) is proposed in strategic and safeguarded 
allocations in the West and North West of Cheltenham, much of which lies within 
Tewkesbury Borough. This, in turn, is linked to wider economic investment, including a 
government supported and nationally significant Cyber Park 2 adjacent to GCHQ, 
predicted to generate c.7,000 jobs.

However, to unlock and enable the housing and job opportunities, significant highway 
network improvements are required, including the M5 Junction 10 Improvement 
Scheme.

M5 J10 is currently one of the few junctions on the M5 with restricted access and 
resolving this issue is a top priority within the County Council’s adopted Local Transport 
Plan. At present, the junction has no access to join the motorway travelling south and 
there is no exit for motorway traffic coming from the south. This results in traffic wishing 
to access the north west and west of Cheltenham areas having to use M5 Junction 11 
and local roads which causes congestion and severance. A new layout would see 
environmental benefits from less traffic travelling through Cheltenham and businesses 
would see savings in their transport costs as they would no longer need to travel to and 
from J11. Emergency services would also be able to respond more quickly to incidents 
on the M5 in the vicinity of the junction.

The M5 J10 improvements will increase, accelerate and enhance housing delivery in 
the JCS area, support economic growth within the JCS area and beyond and provide 
an integrated package of transport infrastructure improvements that can facilitate 
housing and economic development.

The following infrastructure improvements make up the M5 Junction 10 Improvement 
Scheme

 An all-movements junction at M5 Junction 10;
 A new Link Road from Junction 10 to West Cheltenham Cyber Park;
 Dualling of the A4019 to the East of the Link Road; 
 A38/A4019 junction improvements at Coombe Hill; and
 Extension to Arle Court Park and Interchange.

Page 134



The development of M5 J10 supports a commitment to growth in the adopted JCS, 
alongside a recently successful Garden Communities Fund bid at Ashchurch and 
Garden Village funds for Cheltenham. Government commitment to an expanded GCHQ 
is linked to plans for the UK Cyber Business Park; delivering sustainable communities, 
excellent job and training opportunities and nearby housing. 

GFirst LEP also recognise that their proposals for the M5 Growth Zone will require the 
improvement of various motorway junctions including M5 J10 and regard the 
improvements as one of the top infrastructure priorities in the county identified in their 
Strategic Economic Plan. 

The M5 J10 Improvements Scheme is supported by a wide range of stakeholders 
including Highways England, the MP for Cheltenham, the MP for Tewkesbury, the JCS 
planning authorities, local parish councils, the emergency services and many local 
businesses and organisations.

GCC will be assuming responsibility for project management, design and construction 
delivery for the proposed scheme. Highways England have confirmed to GCC that they 
do not intend to deliver the works themselves. To deliver this hugely significant project, 
recruitment to a re-evaluated GCC Major Project structure is required. Delivering the 
appropriate level of project management and governance for a new £220M project will 
require a dedicated project management team that will work solely on the delivery of 
M5 J10 Improvement Scheme.  Salaries will be capitalised against the scheme costs 
and staff costs were included as part of the £220M bid. 

The bid to fund the project took the form of the submission of an Expression of Interest 
(EoI) to Homes England’s Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF). This EoI was submitted in 
September 2017 and having received initial support, GCC subsequently submitted a 
business case in March 2019 for consideration for funding. 

A funding decision is expected to be announced in November 2019. If successful, 
public consultation will commence in early 2020 with a preferred route being announced 
in March 2020 and construction due to commence in 2022. Scheme delivery is planned 
for 2024. The below funding table is the proposed drawdown set out in the bid to 
Homes England.

Funding breakdown:
Source 2019/20 2020/21 2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024
Homes England 
funding

£6.75M £11.39M £17.32M £101.77M £82.62M

TOTAL £220M

Page 135



2. Options

 Option A: To authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority to action all 
of the recommendations as set out in this report;

 Option B: Decline authorisation for  the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority 
to action any of the recommendations as set out in this report and consequently 
suspend the delivery of the Project; or

 Option C: To authorise recommendations 1 and 2 (set out in the third page of 
this Report) only and instruct the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority to seek 
individual Cabinet approval for the matters described in recommendations 3 & 4.

3. Risk Assessment  

Option C (described in section 2 of this Report); In the event that Cabinet resolve to 
proceed with Option C, the risk is that the requirement for additional Cabinet approvals 
will impede the ability to keep to programme, acknowledging that Cabinet sign off is not 
an immediate process.

An up to date Risk Register (RR) for the scheme was produced as part of the HIF bid 
and is subject to regular updates in line with the GCC Risk Management process, in 
order to investigate, manage and mitigate key risks. These risks are based on the 
assumption of a positive determination regarding funding decision. However, at this 
stage, with a funding decision pending, the project team have looked to identify those 
key risks that require work towards mitigation measures in the short term, providing 
Members with a greater level of risk information to enable them to better understand 
any potential impact on the project. Understandably, at this stage, the quantity of risks 
identified, in advance of any detailed design, is significant. However, many are sub-
risks associated with the following key risks.

The key risks can be summarised as follows:

Whole life scheme costs are in excess of funding ‘ask’ (£220M); GCC engaged a 
specialist cost consultant from Highways England’s supply chain to develop a robust 
cost estimate for the business case submission. This cost estimate has been reviewed 
further and updated for the local factors by GCC engineers. During this current phase 
the project is undertaking a verification of the cost estimating exercise based on the 
current layout options. The exercise is considering several factors such as construction 
costs, design and client management costs, land costs, risk contingency and inflation. 
Going forward at each stage the scheme design will be verified against this baseline 
cost estimate to ensure no cost increase as compared to the agreed budget for 
preferred route. 

Junction improvement options are not supported by Highways England; The M5 J10 
project team have been regularly liaising with Highways England since the development 
of the Business Case. Highways England have provided written support of this scheme 
for the HIF bid submission and reconfirmed their support during the bid due-diligence 
process.  At present, Highways England are a member of the Monthly Project Board 

Page 136



and are kept informed of all key decisions. For options selection and future stages GCC 
has developed a collaborative approach to work with Highways England which is 
currently with Highways England for comment and action. This approach will ensure 
that Highways England are involved in development of scheme and correct solutions 
are developed first time.  

CPO will be required for land take. Scheme subject to Public Inquiry due to CPO 
challenge which in turn compromises the March 2024 scheme completion deadline; 
Land required and associated risk is considered from the inception of the project and it 
is a key criteria for the options selection process. Following the preferred option 
selection, the approach for any land required is firstly by negotiation and agreement 
with landowners in advance of the construction. In line with this strategy, discussions 
with significant landowners will continue during the development phase. During this 
period the project will continue to carry out diligent inquiry to identify all persons with an 
interest in the land affected by the proposed compulsory acquisition. Following the 
informal discussions during early stages of the project, we will enter into negotiations to 
acquire other parties' interests voluntarily and progress those discussions when the 
scheme boundary is defined during preliminary design stage. These negotiations are 
not yet complete. Although the project remains committed to this approach, it is 
necessary for it to have the ability to acquire the land interests by compulsory 
acquisition if necessary in order to ensure that the Scheme can be delivered on time. 
Where land is not secured via negotiations, GCC will use the CPO powers only after 
the High Court challenge period.  The costs of the CPO promotion/Inquiry process will 
be funded by GCC, via drawdown of funds from the HIF; if GCC receives a positive 
funding decision in autumn 2019.  CPO will only be commenced if a positive funding 
decision is received. This consideration is built into the programme for land acquisition.

Risk of planning application being challenged or refused: An integrated planning 
application is likely to become very complex as meeting the requirements of the 
Council, Highways England and private developers’ interests could be very challenging. 
GCC engaged (via Amey) a specialist planning consultant to recommend the suitable 
planning route at the inception of the scheme. The current recommendation for this 
scheme is to progress planning permission through the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. To mitigate risk associated with the planning process the project team will keep 
the planning strategy under review as scheme options develop further. The scheme 
planning consultant will be engaged throughout the development and planning phases 
to make sure that all statutory processes are followed. The scheme planning consultant 
and project team will liaise closely with GCC, Tewkesbury and Cheltenham Planning 
Departments as well as the members of the three Councils.

Conditions of Contract set out by Homes England requires GCC forward funding in 
advance of milestones being met (such as planning); If we are successful in our bid we 
will start negotiations with Homes England immediately in regards to the length of time 
forward funding is required to try and reduce the time period and therefore leaving GCC 
less exposed. GCC will be able to cash flow the project of this scale in the first few 
years with an estimated £1.1 million to £1.4 million monthly spend through use of our 
Treasury function and may require some internal borrowing.  

Page 137



However we would not recommend we carry the risk of this funding which could be up 
to £33.6 million (£1.4m x 24 months) of revenue up to planning application stage.  
Therefore if Homes England do not agree to picking up the liability for the pre-planning 
expenditure then we could not proceed. However by time construction starts in 2022 
the monthly expenditure is estimated to be in the region of £8 million per month at 
which stage this should be funded in advance by Homes England as planning would 
have been granted.

Therefore the biggest risk to GCC is if planning is not obtained and the project does not 
go ahead.  The majority of the money spent up to the planning would not be funded by 
Homes England and we would not be able to capitalise the money expenditure.

The bid application does not provide the necessary detail regarding funding. Therefore 
GCC can only start to agree the milestones that are linked to the funding when the bid 
decision is known. Until then, it is difficult to assess the potential risk.  If the discussions 
with Homes England leave GCC at risk financially then we would report back to Cabinet 
seeking a decision as to whether to proceed or not. 

Overall, at this early stage, the key risks are well understood and, as can be 
demonstrated by the above mitigation work, GCC will continue to work on developing a 
better understanding of these risks, their constraints on the specific work streams and 
on their impact on the wider project programme. Risks will continue to be actively 
monitored and any significant changes affecting the scope of the project will be 
reported to the Project Board and Lead Cabinet Member.

4. Officer Advice

That Cabinet approve Option A (described in Section 2 of this Report) and the 
recommendations as set out in this report.

5. Equalities considerations

The Due Regard Statement (Appendix A) will be reviewed and updated on completion 
of work packages (i.e. on completion of design, procurement, on completion of 
construction, after opening etc) to ensure a continuing duty of regard for equality 
impacts on groups with protected characteristics.

The Due Regard Statement demonstrates that ‘due regard’ has been shown to the 
three aims of the public sector equality duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) 
during the development of the ‘policy’.

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited by the Act

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and people who do not share it; and

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic

Page 138



Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

6. Consultation feedback

Given the relative infancy of the scheme bid process, no formal consultation has been 
undertaken with GCC statutory consultees or the wider public. Since bid submission in 
March 2019, work has taken place to identify and begin a collaborative information 
gathering exercise with key partners and tier 1 stakeholders (those with land interest) in 
the vicinity of M5 J10. Through comprehensive stakeholder mapping workshops, GCC 
has worked  to develop a Communication Strategy that prioritises the work required in 
this ‘pre-bid determination’ phase – acknowledging that further, fuller work on wider 
public consultations will be a requirement should funding be approved. 

Tier 1 stakeholders for this phase of the project, are as follows;

 GCC Cabinet Members
 Cheltenham Borough Council 
 Tewkesbury Borough Council 
 Gloucester City Council
 GFirst LEP
 MHCLG (Homes England)
 Highways England
 DfT
 Environment Agency
 Historic England
 Natural England
 MPs
 Members of the North West Cheltenham Strategic Alliance
 Members of the West Cheltenham Strategic Alliance

In addition to the above, environmental survey work has also been undertaken within 
the designated buffer zone around M5 J10. To enable this, affected land owners have 
been contacted to request their consent to permit data collection through non-intrusive 
surveys on their property / land.

7. Performance Management/Follow-up 

GCC have set up a clear and robust structure to provide accountability and an effectual 
decision making process for the management of the major projects. GCC-led monthly 
project boards, monthly standing reports to Lead Cabinet Members and monthly 
meetings of the Local Transport Plan Management Board, attended by the 
Commissioning Director; Economy, Environment and Infrastructure, have been in place 
since March 2019.

In the event of a successful bid determination, a dedicated monthly financial monitoring 
meeting will be established with GCC finance lead. It is also expected that both 

Page 139



quarterly and annual financial returns will form part of any contract conditions with 
Homes England.

Page 140



Report Title M5 Junction 10 Improvement Scheme; Capital budget 
approval, recruitment resource allocation, delivery and 
construction.

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004

Relevant County Council 
policy

Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 3) 2016

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships The delivery of the project aligns with strategic objectives held 
by a number of key project partners including: CBC, TBC, 
Highways England, Homes England and GFirst LEP. Future 
partnerships will be developed throughout the life of the 
scheme, including work with partner agencies such as the 
Environment Agency and Natural England. Early contractor 
involvement will also be key for scheme success and a 
productive, progressive partnership will be required to deliver 
this project.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

GCC’s ‘Code of Corporate Governance’ underlines the 
management and delivery of the M5 J10 Improvements 
Scheme. Regular Project Board meetings, which include 
representatives from the County Council, local Borough 
Councils, Highways England and Atkins, ensures cross-
organisation involvement, clear communication and 
transparency. For the strategic highways network, Highways 
England will be consulted prior to making a final decision. In 
terms of decision making, GCC has final sign-off on all 
decisions made at Project Board meetings.

Economy and Employment In delivering the scheme, Gloucestershire’s local economy will 
be supported through the creation of approximately 12,212 jobs 
in the west and north-west of Cheltenham (2020 – 2041). This 
will be as a result of the proposed scheme increasing network 
capacity, connectivity, and the accelerated delivery of new 
homes.

Social Value Assuming an inclusive recruitment approach is adopted, 
construction of the scheme presents a good opportunity to 
maximise benefits for those seeking employment locally, 
including those from protected characteristics groups. It is 
anticipated that construction of the schemes will facilitate 
development in the immediate area. The employment land 
provided may also provide longer term employment prospects.
During the scheme’s operation it is expected to have a positive 
impact on the area local to junction 10 of the M5 through the 
creation of long-term, sustainable housing growth. 

Page 141



Built Environment The proposed infrastructure will enable the accelerated delivery 
of 8,967 new housing units and employment land across north 
and north-west Cheltenham (up to 2041).

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

To inform ongoing work on options assessment for Junction 10, 
ecological surveys on land within 500 metres of M5 J10 of the 
M5 have been taking place since May 2019. These surveys will 
ensure that any improvements to the highway network will have 
a minimal impact on the surrounding natural area, environment 
and local wildlife. The results of the surveys will help the 
Council understand the potential impacts of the scheme on the 
surrounding environment and will inform the final environmental 
mitigation design of the scheme.

Education and Information Early engagement with relevant stakeholders is already 
underway. This will continue throughout the delivery of the 
scheme and will begin to include a wider range of stakeholders 
and members of the public following a successful funding 
announcement. All materials and communications relating to 
the scheme will be clear and simple to understand to ensure it 
is accessible for all. Detailed strategies for stakeholder 
engagement and consultation are detailed in the 
Communications Plan. 

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications The Human Rights Act 1998 incorporated into domestic law the 
European Convention on Human Rights. The following Articles 
of the Convention are relevant to the determination as to 
whether any CPO should be confirmed: 

Article 1 of the First Protocol protects the right of everyone to 
peaceful enjoyment of possessions. No person can be 

Page 142

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


deprived of their possessions except in the public interest and 
subject to the relevant national and international laws. As with 
Article 8, any interference with such rights must be 
proportionate and in determining whether a particular measure 
is proportionate a fair balance must be struck between the 
public benefit sought and the interference with the rights in 
question. 

Article 6 entitles those affected by the exercise of powers 
including those sought in the CPO to a fair and public hearing 
by an independent and impartial tribunal. 

Article 8 protects the right of an individual to respect for his 
private and family life, his home and correspondence. A public 
authority cannot interfere with these interests unless such 
interference is in accordance with the law and is necessary in 
the interests of national security, public safety or the economic 
wellbeing of the country. 

Consultation 
Arrangements

Given the relative infancy of the scheme bid process, no formal 
consultation has been undertaken with GCC statutory 
consultees or the wider public. Since bid submission in March 
2019, work has taken place to identify and begin a 
collaborative information gathering exercise with key partners 
and tier 1 stakeholders (those with land interest) in the vicinity 
of M5 J10. Through comprehensive stakeholder mapping 
workshops, GCC has worked  to develop a Communication 
Strategy that prioritises the work required in this ‘pre-bid 
determination’ phase – acknowledging that further, fuller work 
on wider public consultations will be a requirement should 
funding be approved. 

Tier 1 stakeholders for this phase of the project, are as follows;

 GCC Cabinet Members
 Cheltenham Borough Council 
 Tewkesbury Borough Council 
 Gloucester City Council
 GFirst LEP
 MHCLG (Homes England)
 Highways England
 DfT
 Environment Agency
 Historic England
 Natural England

Page 143



 MPs
 Members of the North West Cheltenham Strategic 

Alliance
 Members of the West Cheltenham Strategic Alliance

In addition to the above, environmental survey work has also 
been undertaken within the designated buffer zone around M5 
J10. To enable this, affected land owners have been contacted 
to request their consent to permit data collection through non-
intrusive surveys on their property / land.

Page 144



THE PROCUREMENT OF HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION SERVICES IN CONNECTION WITH THE 
WEST OF CHELTENHAM TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENT SCHEME AND UK CYBER BUSINESS 
PARK PHASES 1 & 2 AND MAKING OF ANY ANCILLARY ORDERS IN RELATION THERETO

Cabinet Date 13th November 2019

Environment and 
Planning Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

 GCC Cabinet report 10th October 2018

 GFirst LEP Board Paper and associated appendix (September 2018)

 Adopted Local Transport Plan
 Adopted Joint Core Strategy
 GCC Project Website

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

The 10th October 2018 GCC Cabinet report can be viewed here;
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8
901&Ver=4
The September 2018 GFirst LEP Board Paper and associated appendix can 
be viewed by clicking on the links below:
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/264-
agenda_item_7.i_cheltenham_cyber_park_-_11-9-18.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/261-7.ii_appendix_1_-
_cheltenham_cyber_park.pdf
GCC’s West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme UK Cyberpark 
Website
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/west-
cheltenham-transport-improvement-schemes-uk-cyber-business-park/
GCC Adopted Local Transport Plan
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-
plan-2015-2031/
Joint Core Strategy
https://www.jointcorestrategy.org/
LEP Board Decision
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/281-item_8.pdf

Main Consultees • Lead Cabinet Members 
• Local Members 
• Cheltenham Borough Council
• Tewkesbury Borough Council
• GFirst LEP
• Highways England
• MP’s Alex Chalk (Cheltenham), Laurence Robertson (Tewkesbury) 

Richard Graham (Gloucester)
• Residents, general public and businesses (Public share events 

undertaken in June 2019)
• Wide range of consultees as part of the statutory consultation exercise 

(Police/Ambulance/Freight & Haulage associations etc.)

Page 145

Agenda Item 10

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8901&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8901&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8901&Ver=4
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/264-agenda_item_7.i_cheltenham_cyber_park_-_11-9-18.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/264-agenda_item_7.i_cheltenham_cyber_park_-_11-9-18.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/261-7.ii_appendix_1_-_cheltenham_cyber_park.pdf
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/261-7.ii_appendix_1_-_cheltenham_cyber_park.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/west-cheltenham-transport-improvement-schemes-uk-cyber-business-park/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/highways/major-projects-list/west-cheltenham-transport-improvement-schemes-uk-cyber-business-park/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2015-2031/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2015-2031/
https://www.jointcorestrategy.org/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/downloads/library/281-item_8.pdf


Planned Dates • LEP Investment Panel – November 2019
• GCC Cabinet decision – November 2019 
• Full Business Case Decision by LEP – December 2019
• Tender assessment and award – March 2020
• Construction start – Spring 2020
• Scheme complete and open to the public – Spring 2021

Divisional 
Councillors

Cllr Simon Wheeler for Benhall and Up Hatherley, 
Cllr Robert Vines for Brockworth

Officer Simon Excell – Lead Commissioner; Strategic Infrastructure 
simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328487

Purpose of Report To ask Cabinet to delegate authority to the Lead Commissioner, Highway 
Authority (in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning) for the purpose of commissioning the construction works in relation 
to the West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme; and UK Cyber 
Business Park Phases 1 & 2; and awarding such contracts.

In addition, it will be necessary to make further ancillary orders to 
successfully implement the scheme and authority is sought to enable GCC to 
make legal orders such as temporary traffic regulation orders (TTRO’s for 
speed limits etc.) during the construction phase of the project.

Recommendations That Cabinet delegates authority to the Lead Commissioner, Highway 
Authority (in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning) to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process for the supply of highway 
construction works in relation to the West of Cheltenham Transport 
Improvement Scheme; and UK Cyber Business Park Phases 1 & 2; 
and award such contract(s) to the successful tenderer.

2. Make any other ancillary traffic regulation orders that might be required 
to successfully implement the scheme such as temporary traffic 
regulation orders (TTRO’s for speed limits etc.) during the construction 
phase of the project.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The decision will enable the Council to engage suppliers for the purpose of 
securing a highways construction contract in respect of the West of 
Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme, which will provide the best 
opportunity to meet the timescales set out in the Full Business Case for full 
delivery. 

Resource 
Implications

The West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement scheme will be funded by a 
Capital Growth Deal Grant of £22M through the GFirst LEP following the 
approval of the proposed package of scheme’s at the LEP Board on the 4th 
December 2018. 

Page 146

mailto:simon.excell@gloucestershire.gov.uk


The Outline Business Case has been approved by the GFirst LEP for funding 
of Phases 1 and 2 and the Full Business Case is in the process of being 
finalised with a view to submitting in November 2019. 

Pending approval of the Full Business Case in December 2019 for phases 1 
and 2 of the scheme, Capital grant funding of £13.7 million will be allocated to 
the County Council to undertake a compliant procurement process.    

As scheme promoter, the County Council will be liable for any future cost 
overruns associated with the delivery of the suite of transport schemes (as is 
the case with all Growth Deal projects). This will be funded from within the 
scheme funding envelope or alternative funding, such as the highways capital 
programme, Section 106 developer contributions, Community Infrastructure 
Levy, etc.  However, as stated in the December 2018 LEP Board paper, the 
LEP understand the need to also manage the capital risk of the project 
through the total (£22m) allocation to the project.

As stated in the County Council’s Constitution, ‘Directors are responsible for 
ensuring that variations in capital project estimates that occur during the 
course of a contract are contained within the resources allocated to that 
service’. The scheme’s costs will be monitored and managed accordingly.

Page 147



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

The A40 Corridor is a key strategic route for both local and national traffic entering from 
the M5 (Junction 11). It is currently the primary link for commuters travelling between 
Gloucester and Cheltenham. The Arle Court roundabout acts as conduit for road users 
into Cheltenham. The land adjacent to the scheme and immediate surroundings 
consists of residential developments, businesses and a park and ride facility. 

The County Council is highly supportive of the Cyber Park proposals, including 45 
hectares of much needed employment land.  The proposal will be focussed on cyber 
industries generating new highly skilled jobs.  The site is important to the economic 
prosperity of the county and the aspiration for Gloucestershire to become a magnet 
county attracting young professionals.  The proposed Cyber Park will be served by the 
currently highly congested A40 corridor from the M5 J11 to Cheltenham Spa Rail 
Station. 

The corridor currently experiences significant congestion and delays, particularly during 
peak hours. A package of schemes has been identified to improve key areas, aiming to 
increase capacity, optimise the efficiency of the infrastructure and reduce journey time 
delays for all traffic using the A40, whilst also maintaining and improving access for 
businesses, and facilities for pedestrians and cyclists.

The Full Business Case process for transport schemes is designed to ensure that 
investments are directed at the right schemes, and that these are managed and 
delivered in the best way. This ensures that transport investment addresses important 
issues in an effective way, delivering value for money. 

The £22m package of West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Schemes (WCTIS) 
(UK Cyber Business Park) identifies four key phases of improvements, Phase 1 Arle 
Court, Phase 2 M5 Junction 11, Phase 3 Arle Court Roundabout to Benhall including 
Telstar Way, and Phase 4 Benhall.  Phases 1 and 2 of the scheme have been fast-
tracked for early intervention in Spring 2020 to ensure that the most congested part of 
the route is treated earlier.  The design for phases 3 and 4 is underway and it is 
anticipated that these phases of work will follow on directly after Phases 1 and 2 are 
complete. This will also allow greater cost certainty before entering into a construction 
contract for phases 3 and 4.  It is anticipated that construction contracts for all phases 
of the work will be in place before March 2021 to align with the LEP Funding 
agreement.     

Under current proposals, the preliminary design for Phase 1 Arle Court and Phase 2 M5 
Junction 11 includes:

Phase 1 - Arle Court Roundabout

 Provision of an additional circulatory lane around the roundabout

 Corresponding additional lanes to the A40 on the approaches and exits to and 
from the junction

Page 148



 New bus lane on the B4063 approach from Staverton, also improving facilities for 
cyclists 

 Bus lane modifications to improve journey times for public transport

 Widening the Hatherley Lane arm to the south side of the roundabout 

 Park and Ride Entrance/Exit westbound (towards Gloucester) from Arle Court 
Roundabout

 Proposal to improve cyclist access at specific junctions, such as Fiddlers Green 
Lane

 Investigating other cycling improvements as part of this phase

Phase 2 - M5 Junction 11 southbound slip road to Arle Court Roundabout

 M5 J11 to Arle Court eastbound carriageway widening (towards Cheltenham)

The scheme will be funded by a Capital Growth Deal Grant of £22M through the GFirst 
LEP following the approval of the proposed package of schemes at the LEP Board on 
the 4th December 2018. The Outline Business Case has been approved by the GFirst 
LEP for funding of Phases 1 and 2 and the Full Business Case is in the process of 
being finalised with a view to submitting to the LEP in November 2019. 

The below sets out the projected spend as outlined in the Full Business Case for all 
four phases: 

 
Phase Latest Budget 

Estimates

Phase 1 – Arle Court Roundabout £9,230,000

Phase 2 – A40 E/B Widening: M5 – J11 to Arle 
Court

£4,480,000

Phase 3 – A40 E/B Widening: Arle Court 
Benhall Rbt

£4,800,000

Phase 4 – A40 E/B Widening: Benhall Rbt to 
Griffiths Avenue

£3,490,000

Total £22,000,000

The funding breakdown associated with the delivery of phases 1 and 2 of the project 
are as follows:

Design 
(including 
historic)

Estimated 
Tender Costs

Procurement Supervision 
and Back 
Office 
Support

Land 
Purchase

Total Costs

Phase 1 and 2 
Combined 
Costs

£2,068,851 £9,419,190* £60,000* £756,959* £1,405,000 £13,710,000

*The estimates provided are in line with market conditions

Page 149



2. Options

The options for Cabinet are as follows:

 Option A: To authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority to progress 
the scheme as set out in this report’s recommendations; or

 Option B: To decline to authorise such recommendation.  The LEP funding is 
secured on the basis that the scheme in its entirety must be delivered by 2021, if 
the highway construction works cannot be competitively tendered then the 
funding of the project in its entirety would be at risk.     

3. Risk Assessment  

An up to date risk register for the scheme exists and has been regularly updated in line 
with the GCC Risk Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate 
key risks.

The key risks can be summarised as follows:

Scheme clashes with other Highways England projects leading to delays due to 
network occupancy
Extensive liaison has been undertaken with Highways England on an ongoing basis.  
Highways England are a member of the WCTIS Project Board and the close working 
partnership has allowed an understanding of the programming of adjacent works at 
Staverton Bridge and M5 Junction 11.  The phasing and traffic management of the 
scheme has been carefully considered to minimise impact on Highways England works.  
The sequencing of the M5 Junction 11 Highways England works has been delayed until 
September 2020, which minimises the clash with the WCTIS Phase 1 Arle Court works.

Delay to the Business Case
An experienced team has been employed to mitigate the risk of delays to the business 
case impacting on delivery; the Full Business Case is in the process of being finalised 
with a full review by key stakeholders underway.   The Full Business Case remains on 
programme to be authorised by the GFirst LEP in November 2019.

Delays Associated with Planning
The project team are currently working on the basis of a scenario that a full planning 
application will be required, the environmental impacts of the project have been 
carefully investigated from the onset and comprehensive mitigation measures have 
been implemented as part of the phase 1 and 2 design including additional tree 
planting. 

Funding Expiry
The GFirst LEP £22million contribution is subject to all construction contracts being in 
place before March 2021, the programme is well understood and the construction 
contracts for phases 1 and 2 are anticipated to be in place before Spring 2020.    
Overall, the risks are well understood and are being eliminated or mitigated as the 
project moves forward. There are, however, a number of risks that could have an 
impact on the design and cost of the project. Clarifying the planning position via an 

Page 150



Environmental Impact Assessment Screening exercise is the next critical step in 
managing the project’s risk profile down. Risks will continue to be actively monitored 
and any significant changes affecting the scope of the project will be reported to the 
Major Projects Board and Lead Cabinet Member.

4. Officer Advice

That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.

5. Equalities considerations

The Due Regard Statement (Appendix A) will be reviewed and updated on completion 
of work packages (i.e. on completion of design, procurement, on completion of 
construction, after opening, etc.) to ensure a continuing duty of regard for equality 
impacts on groups with protected characteristics.

The strengthening actions identified in the Due Regard Statement include:
 Incorporating equality issues identified in the public engagement in the scheme 

detailed design of the scheme 
 Traffic management plan to cater for those with protected characteristics
 Equality and diversity policies from external contractors undertaking construction 

and operations to be provided
 Monitoring of service users once in operation to identify if groups with protected 

characteristics are being discriminated against or if this scheme is advancing 
options for these groups.    

The Due Regard Statement demonstrates that ‘due regard’ has been shown to the 
three aims of the public sector equality duty (section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) 
during the development of the ‘policy’.
Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

6. Consultation feedback

A comprehensive engagement exercise has been completed for Phases 1 and 2 of the 
WCTIS including press releases, letter drops, public share events and emails to key 
stakeholders.

A total of two Public Share Events covering Phases 1 and 2 of the WCTIS – UK Cyber 
Park have been held at two different locations in Cheltenham:

1. 18th June 2019: Jury’s Hotel
2. 20th June 2019: St Mark's C of E Junior School

Following a full letter drop of 1,600 letters, the events were well-attended with close to 
500 people visiting across the two sessions. At both events, presentation boards were 
provided with large scale plans and graphics together with scheme introduction, 
background and FAQs. GCC and Atkins staff were on hand to answer questions from 
key stakeholders and members of the public. 

Page 151



Consultation has involved a full range of stakeholders for phase 1 and 2 of the project 
which has included:

• GCC Cabinet Members
• Local County Councillors
• Cheltenham Borough Council
• Tewkesbury Borough Council
• Internal GCC consultees
• GFirst LEP
• Bus Service Providers
• Haulage Associations
• Emergency Services
• Cycle, Walking and Horse Riding Groups
• Highways England
• MP’s Alex Chalk (Cheltenham), Laurence Robertson (Tewkesbury) Richard 

Graham (Gloucester)
• Residents, general public and businesses 

Questionnaires were available to complete at the two public share events, a full 
breakdown of the responses and suggested feedback has been incorporated into the 
Full Business Case and will be published on the GCC website subject to approval by 
the GFirst LEP in December 2019.

The feedback received from the two public share events included several themes, 
notably the difficulty entering Arle Court Roundabout from Fiddlers Green Lane, 
measures will be incorporated into the design to ease traffic on this approach. Several 
respondents requested greater emphasis on walking and cycling, the scheme includes 
a range of infrastructure improvements to maintain and where possible improve 
provision along the route.  The overall feedback suggested that overall the scheme 
would ease congestion.

The County Council will require that, as part of the tender process, any successful 
contractor will undertake contractor share events in advance of any works commencing 
to introduce the contractor, answer any concerns and provide more information on the 
construction programme.  This will be supported by pro-active scheme communications 
including a press release and an associated letter drop. 

7. Performance Management/Follow-up 

GCC has set up a clear and robust structure to provide accountability and an effective 
decision making process for the management of the major projects. GCC-led monthly 
project boards, monthly standing reports to Lead Cabinet Members and monthly 
meetings of the Local Transport Plan Management Board are all in place.

Regular monthly updates are provided to the GFirst LEP and they remain an integral 
member of the Project Board.  Robust governance is also supported by the submission 
of Outline and Full Business Case Submissions to the GFirst LEP along with regular 
financial reporting.

Page 152



Report Title The procurement of highway construction services in 
connection with the West of Cheltenham Transport 
Improvement Scheme and UK Cyber Business Park  Phases 1 
& 2; and making of any Ancillary Orders in relation thereto

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004
Local Transport Act 2008
Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013
Infrastructure Act 2015

Relevant County Council 
policy

Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 3) 2016

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships The delivery of the WCTIS aligns with strategic objectives held 
by a number of key project partners including: Highways 
England, CBC, TBC and GFirst LEP and has garnered 
significant support.  Strong partnership working has been 
instilled at project board meetings, all of these parties support 
the positive progress currently being made regarding the 
project. 

Decision Making and 
Involvement

During the scheme delivery phase, Gloucestershire County 
Council retains governance and control of the delivery of the 
Contract. Gloucestershire County Council will act as the client 
under the contract with a Contractor appointed via a 
competitive tender process. Representatives from 
Gloucestershire County Council or their professional services 
provider will be appointed to undertake the project 
management and supervision roles and will be responsible for 
managing the Contract during the works.

Economy and Employment The A40 between M5 Junction 11 and Griffiths Avenue is a key 
commuter corridor linking the M5 with employment areas to the 
West of Cheltenham including GCHQ and the proposed new 
Cyber Park site.  The congestion along the route is 
constraining future development and the purpose of the GFirst 
LEP funding is to help enable the opening up of a strategic 
employment land allocation by bringing forward transport 
infrastructure improvements, enabling capacity on the network 
to accelerate an early phase release of the west of Cheltenham 
employment site and Cyber Business Park.

Caring for people The local community is severely constrained by the current 
road network causing severance, air pollution and road safety 
concerns. The proposed transport schemes will have a positive 
impact on many of Cheltenham’s residential areas by reducing 
congestion and pollution and supporting accessibility.

Page 153



Social Value The WCTIS will support the future development of 45 hectares 
of employment land and will encourage significant development 
in line with the adopted Joint Core Strategy and the 
Gloucestershire 2050 Vision, growing our economy presents 
the opportunity for Gloucestershire to be a ‘magnet’ county – 
growing the working age population by keeping and attracting 
more 18-40 year olds with high level qualifications who want to 
live and work in the county.

Built Environment The proposed transport schemes will help to enable future 
growth as outlined above. 

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Careful consideration has been made to offset the effects of 
the scheme on the natural environment, landscaping will be 
incorporated into the proposals creating new habitats and 
providing screening.

Education and Information As part of any future quality tender evaluation, the successful 
contractor will need to outline their strategy for community 
engagement, (school visits / weekly site bulletins / social media 
and comms plan).

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     
Yes/No  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications None

Consultation 
Arrangements

Public Share Events were held at the Jurys Inn, Cheltenham on 
the 18th June 2019 and St Marks C of E Junior School on the 
20th June 2019 on a drop in basis. Presentation boards were 
provided with large scale plans and graphics together with 
scheme introduction, background and FAQs. Extensive 
feedback from those that attended and from a formal 
consultation process will be summarised in the Full Business 
Case.   

Pre-consultation included engagement with key stakeholders 
and interest parties included the Local members, Town and 
Parish Councils, access and rights of way groups, scheme 
users and emergency services.

Page 154

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


WEST CHELTENHAM TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENT SCHEME RISK REGISTER

New Ref Date Added Risk Description IR
 

L
ik

e
li
h

o

o
d

IR
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

IR
 R

is
k
 

S
c
o

re

Current controls in place R
R

 

L
ik

e
li
h

o

o
d

R
R

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

R
R

 

R
is

k
 

S
c
o

re Direction of 

Travel Risk Owner

Date 

Reviewed Timescale

Latest Period 

Comments Consequences Minimum Event

Minimum Cost 

(£1000) Expected Event

Expected Cost 

(£1000)

Maximum 

Event

Maximum Cost 

(£1000) Risk Status Further Actions Required FA Due Progress of FA

FA & Risk Status 

Comments FA Owner

1. Strategic / Political / Policy
A1.1 05/07/19 Scheme clashes with HE projects in 

the area leading to delays due to 

network occupancy or a delay to start 

of scheme.

3 4 12 Ongoing laison between GCC / 

Atkins and HE.  

Road space booked. 

GCC to issue press release to 

advertise the scheme  during 

design phase.

Joint comms strategy 

document to be developed 

between all parties. 

2 4 8 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Long Press release and share 

events completed. 

Atkins to review HE 

construction programme 

and diversion routes for 

bridge works. 

Excessive congestion, 

reputational damage. 

Delays to scheme

No change, 

conflicts 

resolved

0 Minor 

amendments to 

scheme 

programme

20 Significant 

delays to 

scheme / other 

scheme

100 Open Review HE programmes to 

minimise conflict. 

Continue to laise with and 

provide updates to other 

schemes

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A1.2 05/07/19 Local GCC Member(s), councillors or 

public oppose scheme, or alter 

scheme design / dilute benefits

3 4 12 GCC and PM have been 

consulting with members to 

review preliminary plans. Share 

events and WCHAR 

consultation held. Comments to 

be considered and 

implemented where possible. 

2 4 8 Decreased GCC Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Short GCC PM to maintain 

regular contact. Local 

political support 

expressed for the 

scheme. Cabinet 

approval planned for Oct 

19. Ongoing 

correspondance

Reputational damage, 

delays and costs due 

to scheme changes or 

scheme cancelled

No changes 

required to 

scheme

0 Minor changes 

to scheme 

design

10 Delays, more 

significant 

changes to 

design or 

scheme no 

longer 

supported by 

GCC. 

50 Open Frequent briefing of local 

members and reactive 

response. Set up member 

steering group.

Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

A1.3 05/07/19 Local stakeholders (environmental 

groups, residents, businesses, cycle 

groups) do not support the scheme

4 3 12 Enguagement with 

stakeholders at share events. 

Further consultation with non-

motorised users via WCHAR 

consultation. Feedback to be 

reviewed during detailed 

design. 

3 3 9 Remains the 

same

GCC Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Short Stakeholder feedback 

reviewed and included in 

FBC. Design 

ammended or 

comments considered 

during detailed design. 

Delays and additional 

costs. Reputational 

damage

No changes 

required to 

scheme

0 Minor changes 

included within 

scheme 

10 Delay and 

redesign in 

order to gain 

support

100 Open Ongoing meetings and updates 

during detailed design. 

Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

2. Economic / financial / management
A2.1 05/07/19 The capital costs of the scheme 

increase as a result of factors 

uncovered at detailed design stages. 

Eg. Additonal structural work to 

subway / retaining wall, additional 

utility diversions

4 4 16 The current scheme estimates 

assume worst case where 

possible. Scheme costs to be 

reviewed again at completion of 

detailed design. Risk 

contingency within budget.  

4 3 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Scheme cost estimate 

updated for final FBC 

submission based on 

preliminary design 

drawings. Estimates to 

be reviewed during 

detailed design. 

Reduction in funding 

for future phases. 

GCC has to find 

additional funding to 

cover cost overruns.

Very minor 

changes 

required to 

scheme

50 Some design 

changes lead to 

higher costs

250 Unassessed 

risks realised

750 Open Continue to review risk register 

to manage residual risks

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A2.2 05/07/19 The tender prices received from the 

contractors exceed the available 

budget to construct the scheme.

3 4 12 The scheme cost estimate will 

be at the end of detailed 

design. 

Ensure adequate allowances 

for contingencies and risk. 

Procurement strategy has been 

developed and agreed to 

achieve best value.

  

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Design ongoing, cost 

estimate updated prior 

to final FBC submission 

and will be reviewed 

after completion of 

detailed design (post 

FBC approval). 

Reduction in funding 

for future phases.

GCC would have to 

find additional funding 

to cover cost 

overruns.

Tender price 

within 

budget/risk 

allowance

0 Contractor's 

price is 

negotiated to 

acceptable 

level

200 Major design 

changes lead to 

significant 

increase in cost

500 Open Regular review of project 

scope. 

Review prices to account for 

increased construction industry 

inflation as a result of currency 

fluctuations. Monitor and review 

during detailed design.

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A2.3 20/01/17
LEP failure to reimburse scheme 

development costs (i.e. if scheme 

does not achieve approval of Full 

Business Case the costs incurred 

prior to this would be GCC's liability).

3 5 15 Develop robust Full Business 

Case to secure funds.

Business case reviewed in draft 

form prior to final submission. 

2 5 10 Remains the 

same

GCC Project 

Manager

26/07/17 Medium LEP money will not be 

issued to GCC until the 

FBC is approved.

Political support for 

scheme given likely 

future development in 

area. 

Scheme cancellation 

or GCC have to find 

additional funding

FBC approved 

in programme

0 FBC approved 

in programme

0 FBC not 

approved and 

LEP do not 

reimburse costs

970 Open None Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

3. Statutory Process / Legal / Land acquisition
A3.1 05/07/19 Judicial review of processes evoked. 

Eg. Questions over AQMA, planning / 

consenting strategy

3 4 12 Robust design and consenting 

strategy ongoing. Ensure 

correct procedures being 

followed in liaison with local 

authorities.

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

GCC Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Consenting stragtegy 

technical note produced. 

Delay to scheme, 

reputational damage

No JR 0 No JD 0 6 months delay 

& legal costs

100 Open Confirm planning and 

environmental screening 

requirements. 

Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

A3.2 05/07/19 Requirement for additional 3rd party 

land purchase identified as a result of 

change of design at detailed design 

stages (post FBC approval)

2 5 10 Review of scheme design 

against highway boundary 

plans. Identify worst case 

scenario when design 

optioneering. Any design 

changes to be accomodated 

within highway boundary if at all 

possible. 

2 5 10 Decreased Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Review of scheme 

design against highway 

boundary plans. 

Delay to scheme, 

additional costs

No additional 

land required

0 Any changes 

within highway 

boundary / 

GCC land

50 Additional 3rd 

party lane 

required. 12 

months delay & 

legal costs

200 Open Confirm any highway boundary 

changes required. Review of 

detailed design agaist land 

plans. 

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A3.3 05/07/19 3rd party property purchases by GCC 

on Hatherley Lane fall through and 

are not completed. 

2 4 8 GCC progressing 2 x property 

purchases. Offers currently 

accepted on both properties. 

2 4 8 Decreased GCC Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Change of design and 

reduced scheme 

benefits. 

Properties 

aquired

0 Properties 

aquired with 

some additional 

cost / delay

25 Properties not 

aquired. 

50 Open GCC to confirm property 

ownership. Progress agreed 

planning / concenting for 

demolition and highway 

widening. 

Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

4. Design / technical / preparatory works
A4.1 05/07/19 Exact details and cost of required 

utility diversions are currently not 

finalised. Cost of diversions could be 

higher than expected and higher than 

allowance in budget. 

4 4 16 Trial pits completed to identify 

exact utility locations. C4 cost 

estimates received from utility 

companies.

Further discussion and review 

taken place with utility 

companies. Design to be 

ammended to reduce 

diversions where possible. Risk 

allocation included within 

scheme budget.

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Risk of design changes 

creating the need to 

revised utility diversion 

cost estimates

Delay to scheme, 

additional costs.

Utility diversions 

within budget or 

less

0 Minor additional 

diverisons.

150 Major additional 

diversions. 

400 Open Progress C4 enquiries and trial 

holes following FBC approval 

during detailed design. 

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A4.2 05/07/19 Design changes required during 

detailed design result in additional 

works required. (Eg. Scope of work 

on Hatherley Lane, P&R, bus layby, 

cycle crossings)

3 4 12 Preliminary design reviewed by 

Atkins. Feedback from share 

events to be considered. Earky 

laison with GCC regarding 

departures from standard

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Late changes to 

design. Delays to 

design completion. 

Increase in works 

estimate /

Very minor 

changes

10 Minor 

ammendments

35 Significant re-

design

80 Open Finalise preliminary design. 

Ongoing liaison. 

Meetings with GCC Strategic 

Planning team. 

Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager / 

Amey Project Manager

A4.3 05/07/19 Unfavourable Road Safety Audit 

response causes design changes

3 3 9 RSA Stage 1 completed based 

on preliminary design drawings 

and designers response 

drafted. Further safety audit at 

detailed design stage.  

3 3 9 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium RSA 1 complete on 

Preliminary design 

Ammendments 

required to design. 

Delays / additional 

costs

No changes 0 Minor 

ammendments

15 Major design 

changes 

necessary / 3 

month delay

200 Open Further RSA during detailed 

design

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A4.4 05/07/19 Delays incurred during detailed 

design.

3 4 12 Early review of handover 

preliminary design. Robust 

programme developed. 

Resoursed programme 

developed. 

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Delays to start of 

construction and 

additional design 

costs

No Delay 0 2 month delay 25 6 month delay 100 Open Ongoing monitoring of detailed 

design programme

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

Printed on: 04/11/19

Page 1 of 3 UNCONTROLLED IF PRINTED

Ref: ConHW-GL-TPL-22

Rev 01     Date Apr-17 

S:\GENERAL\Cabinet\Cabinet 2019\Report Holding Folder\November 2019\Item 10 (a) Risk Register Phase 1

P
age 155



WEST CHELTENHAM TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENT SCHEME RISK REGISTER

New Ref Date Added Risk Description IR
 

L
ik

e
li
h

o

o
d

IR
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

IR
 R

is
k
 

S
c
o

re

Current controls in place R
R

 

L
ik

e
li
h

o

o
d

R
R

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

R
R

 

R
is

k
 

S
c
o

re Direction of 

Travel Risk Owner

Date 

Reviewed Timescale

Latest Period 

Comments Consequences Minimum Event

Minimum Cost 

(£1000) Expected Event

Expected Cost 

(£1000)

Maximum 

Event

Maximum Cost 

(£1000) Risk Status Further Actions Required FA Due Progress of FA

FA & Risk Status 

Comments FA Owner

A4.5 05/07/19 Need for additional surveys identified 

during detailed design

3 3 9 Survey works completed during 

preliminary design phase. 

Review of design and surveys 

taken place. 

3 3 9 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Short Survey required for 

properties on Hatherley 

Lane

Delays to completion 

of design. Additional 

cost

No Delay 0 1 month delay 15 3 month delay 40 Open Confirm if final design layout 

requires additional survey 

information

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A4.6 05/07/19 Design departures required not 

acceptable to GCC

2 4 8 Produced non conformance 

report to highlight departures. 

Early liaison with GCC. 

2 4 8 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Short Delays to completion 

of design. Design 

changes. Additional 

cost

DFT authorised 0 Some minor 

design changes 

/ further work

5 Major redesign 50 Open Departure review meeting to be 

arranged with GCC. 

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A4.7 05/07/19 Scheme clashes with other projects 

on the road network (Highways 

England / GCC schemes)

3 4 12 Ongoing meetings and liaison 

with Highways England

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Short Delays to scheme. 

Excessive delays on 

road network. 

No clashes 0 Some clashes 

with diversion 

routes

0 Major traffic 

management 

clashes 

50 Open Ongoing liaison with Highways 

England

Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager / 

Amey Project Manager

A4.8 05/07/19 Delays submitting Full Business Case 

(FBC) leads to late approval of FBC 

by LEP board

3 4 12 Ongoing liaison with FBC 

review Consultancy. Stagger 

submissions of ph 1-4

3 4 12 Increased Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Submitted on 

programme

0 Delayed 

submission but 

approved at 

LEP board

0 Delayed to next 

LEP board 

meeting

20 Open Ongoing liaison with Aecom 

and LEP

Ongoing Behind Target Consultant Project 

Manager

5. Environmental
A5.1 05/07/19 Further environmental investigations 

reveal the presence of protected and 

/ or invasive species on the site since 

the initial survey, leading to changes 

in design and additional mitigation.

3 3 9
Environmental desk top 

assessmnent and site survey 

completed. The current cost 

estimate makes an allowance 

for risks to cover the potential 

for additional environmental 

mitigation measures - covering 

drainage, ecology, 

archaeology, air quality, noise, 

landscape etc.  

3 3 9 Remains the 

same

Consultant 

Environmental Lead

05/07/19 Medium Environmental 

requirements assessed 

as part of FBC 

submission. 

Additional scheme 

costs

Further surveys 

to properties

10 1 month delay 15 2 month delay 50 Open Further environmental surveys 

and design work ongoing during 

preparation of the FBC. 

Ongoing On Target Consultant 

Environmental Lead

A5.2 05/07/19 Vegetation clearance works required 

after the beginning of bird nesting 

season. 

3 3 9 Conduct all site clearance 

works prior to the nesting 

season . Or ensure an 

Ecologist inspects all trees and 

hedgerows prior to removal

2 3 6 Remains the 

same

Consultant 

Environmental Lead

05/07/19 Medium Review progamme and 

manage tree/hedgerow 

removal based on that 

programme

Trees need to be 

removed during 

nesting season need 

to be inspected by 

ecologist prior to 

removal thereby 

incurring additional 

cost and possible 

delay

Does not occur 0 Does not occur 0 Trees not 

removed prior 

to nesting 

season need 

inspecting

5 Open Review construction 

programme during detailed 

design to identify any potential 

issues. 

Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A5.3 05/07/19 Requirement for noise protection / 

additional planting measures 

identified. 

3 3 9

Noise and planting assessment 

completed for FBC. Ongoing 

environmental input to design

2 3 6 Remains the 

same

Consultant 

Environmental Lead

05/07/19 Medium Noise and planting 

assessment within FBC. 

Design chnages, 

additional cost and 

delays to scheme. 

Not required 0 Some minor 

work required

10 Major works 

necessary

40 Open Further environmental surveys 

and design work during detailed 

design post FBC approval. 

Ongoing On Target Consultant 

Environmental Lead

A5.4 05/07/19 Part One Claims - claims arising from 

noise, pollution 12 months after the 

scheme opening. 

2 3 6 Noise assessment completed 

for FBC. Review requirement 

for further noise and AQ 

assessments undertaken post 

scheme opening (1 year).

2 3 6 Remains the 

same

Consultant 

Environmental Lead

05/07/19 TB Some possible claims No claims 0 Some minor 

claims

5 Some minor 

claims

10 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant 

Environmental Lead

A5.5 05/07/19 Increase to impervious surface area 

requires more extensive drainage 

design / construction and concenting 

than orginally anticipated

3 3 9 Drainage surveys, assessments 

of drainage design and 

consenting strategy complete.

2 3 6 Remains the 

same

Consultant Drainage 

Lead

05/07/19 Medium Programme delay and 

additional costs

No delay 0 1 month delay 5 2 month delay 10 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant Drainage 

Lead

A5.6 05/07/19 Scheme requires EIA planning 

application / record of determination/ 

EIA screening report

3 5 15 Consenting strategy technical 

note produced and shared with 

GCC. Further confirmation to 

be agreed with planning 

authority

3 5 15 Increased Consultant 

Environmental Lead / 

Project Manager

05/07/19 Medium GCC sort advice of 

GCC legal team

Significant delays to 

scheme. Additional 

cost of fees to 

complete 

assessments

No delay 5 1 month delay 10 6 month delay 75 Open Ongoing Behind Target Consultant 

Environmental Lead

A5.7 05/07/19 Further air quality works reuqired by  

Local Planning Authority due to works 

within Air Quality Management Areas

3 4 12 Consenting strategy technical 

note produced and shared with 

GCC. Further confirmation to 

be agreed with planning 

authority

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant 

Environmental Lead / 

Project Manager

05/07/19 Medium Programme delay and 

additional costs

No delay 5 No delay 10 3 month delay 20 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant 

Environmental Lead

6. Stakeholder Management / Consultation
A6.1 05/07/19 Ineffective share event and/or comms 

strategy. 

3 3 9 Ensure early consultation with 

stakeholders. Public share 

events held in June 19.  

Developed a communication 

plan to engage with the public 

and key stakeholders.

3 3 9 Remains the 

same

GCC Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Comms team 

involvement at early 

stage. Detailed comms 

plan developed and 

utilised. Share events 

held 18/06/19 and 

20/06/19

Increased resource to 

deal with public, 

delays, objections, 

scheme design 

changes

Does not occur 0 Existing 

resource 

adequate no 

significant 

complaints

0 Delays, 

objections, 

design 

changes, 

support for 

scheme 

questioned

50 Open Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

7. Procurement
A7.1 05/07/19 Receipt of lower cost alternative 

tenders which extends into 3rd party 

land or requires planning application. 

2 3 6 Contract specification to 

highlight constraints.

1 3 3 Decreased Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Delay, reputational 

damage if better 

alternatives are 

proposed. 

No alternatives 

need to be 

considered

0 No alternatives 

need to be 

considered

0 Delay whilst 

alternatives 

considered

20 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A7.2 05/07/19 Lower number of contractors price 

the scheme leading to reduced 

competition 

3 3 9 Early planned notification of 

tender opportunity. Adequate 

time to be provided to price and 

mobilise scheme. 

2 3 6 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Less competition. 

Higher tender price

High number of 

tenderers

0 Moderate 

number of 

tenderers

250 Low number of 

tenderers

500 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

8. Construction
A8.1 05/07/19 Scheme is not delivered in the 

timescales expected by LEP.  

3 4 12 Robust programme developed 

for design and delivery. 

Scheme split into phases to 

allow staggered construction. 

Ongoing agreement of 

timescales with LEP and GCC

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

GCC Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Detailed design and 

construction programme 

developed.

Delay of LEP spend. 

Possible loss of LEP 

funding. Delay of 

construction of other 

phases of projects, 

reputational damage.

Delivered in line 

with current 

timescale

0 3 month delay 50 6 month delay 100 Open Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

A8.2 05/07/19 Excessive construction noise leading 

complaints. 

3 3 9 Determine works to be carried 

out at night. Look at alternative 

proposals and do work during 

daytime. Liaison with residents 

and businesses

3 3 9 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium No progress yet due to 

timeline of project.

Change in 

construction 

methodology. 

Compaints and 

negative publicity. 

Not Significant 0 Not significant 0 Road Closure 10 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

Printed on: 04/11/19

Page 2 of 3 UNCONTROLLED IF PRINTED

Ref: ConHW-GL-TPL-22

Rev 01     Date Apr-17 

S:\GENERAL\Cabinet\Cabinet 2019\Report Holding Folder\November 2019\Item 10 (a) Risk Register Phase 1

P
age 156



WEST CHELTENHAM TRANSPORT IMPROVEMENT SCHEME RISK REGISTER

New Ref Date Added Risk Description IR
 

L
ik

e
li
h

o

o
d

IR
 

Im
p

a
c
t 

IR
 R

is
k
 

S
c
o

re

Current controls in place R
R

 

L
ik

e
li
h

o

o
d

R
R

 

Im
p

a
c
t 

R
R

 

R
is

k
 

S
c
o

re Direction of 

Travel Risk Owner

Date 

Reviewed Timescale

Latest Period 

Comments Consequences Minimum Event

Minimum Cost 

(£1000) Expected Event

Expected Cost 

(£1000)

Maximum 

Event

Maximum Cost 

(£1000) Risk Status Further Actions Required FA Due Progress of FA

FA & Risk Status 

Comments FA Owner

A8.3 05/07/19 Excessive traffic delays on A40. AM 

queueing back of traffic to M5 J11 / 

M5 motorway and PM towards 

Cheltenham. 

4 4 16 Traffic management proposal 

to be developed. Current 

assumptions that any lane 

closures will be off peak. HE 

aware of plans and ongoing 

meetings taking place. 

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Significant traffic 

delays, negative 

publicity

Traffic delays 

acceptable

0 Minor expected 

delays at peak 

times

0 Significant 

delays leads to 

change of 

traffic 

management

50 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A8.4 05/07/19 Unexpected difficulties during 

construction (Eg. ground conditions, 

design changes, unknown utilities) 

4 4 16 Extensive site surveys 

complete. Robust detailed 

design to be developed. Risk 

allowance to be included within 

budget estimates. 

3 4 12 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Delays and additional 

coists. 

No significant 

changes

100 Some changes 

but managed 

within 

programme

250 Significant 

difficulties 

resulting in 

delays and 

costs

750 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

A8.5 05/07/19 Unknown / unchartered services 2 5 10 GPR and trial hole surveys 

complete in areas of widening. 

Liaison with utility companies. 

Detailed design to be 

developed including necessary 

utility diversions

2 5 10 Remains the 

same

Consultant Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Medium Delays and additional 

coists. 

Some changes 

to known 

diversions

25 Some changes 

but managed 

within 

programme

50 Significant 

additional 

diversions

150 Open Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

9. Operations & Maintenance
A9.1 05/07/19 Scheme does not deliver agreed 

benefits. 

2 5 12 Robust FBC produced. 2 5 9 Decreased GCC Project 

Manager

05/07/19 Long Modelling shows 

improvement to journey 

times and positive BCR. 

Reputational damage.  

Further measures to 

improve traffic delays

No significant 

issues

0 No significant 

issues

0 Reputational 

damage

25 Open Post completion surveys 

required to assess scheme 

impact. 

Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

Printed on: 04/11/19

Page 3 of 3 UNCONTROLLED IF PRINTED

Ref: ConHW-GL-TPL-22

Rev 01     Date Apr-17 

S:\GENERAL\Cabinet\Cabinet 2019\Report Holding Folder\November 2019\Item 10 (a) Risk Register Phase 1

P
age 157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



West of Cheltenham Improvement Scheme - Phase 2 M5J11 to Arle - Project Risk Register

New Ref Date Added Risk Description IR
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o

d IR
 I

m
p

a
c

t 

IR
 R

is
k
 

S
c
o

re

Current controls in place R
R

 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o

d R
R

 I
m

p
a
c

t 

R
R

 R
is

k
 

S
c
o

re Direction of 

Travel Risk Owner

Latest Period 

Comments Consequences

Minimum 

Event

Minimum Cost 

(£1000)

Expected 

Event

Expected Cost 

(£1000)

Maximum 

Event

Maximum Cost 

(£1000) Risk Status Further Actions Required FA Due

FA & Risk Status 

Comments FA Owner

1.7 10/12/18 Scheme clashes with other HE 

projects leading to delays due to 

network occupancy

4 4 16 GCC/Atkins to liaise with HE 

to programme works. 

Amey have booked to book 

road space 

High level meetings between 

GCC/Atkins/HE have been 

arranged to discuss joint 

comms and delivery 

4 4 16 up SML/RS Press release on 

27/11/2018 issued. 

Road space booked

ongoing liaison with HE

HE works now 

confirmed at Staverton 

bridge so risk travel up

Scheme will not go 

ahead, LEP funding 

lost, reputational 

damage

No change, 

conflicts 

resolved

0 Minor 

amendments to 

scheme 

programme

20 Significant 

delays to 

scheme / other 

scheme

100 Open Atkins/GCC to continue to 

liaise with HE and ensure 

programme is not effected

Ongoing RS/SML

1.1 10/12/18 Programming of proposed HE bridge 

scheme clashes. HE scheme may 

take priority with streeworks causing 

delay 

3 4 12 Book road space early and 

release Comms. Liaison with 

HE to programme works 

2 4 8 Static RS/SML Road space booked 

and media release on 

27/11/2018. RS in 

liaison with HE

Scheme delayed, 

possible loss of 

funding and 

reputational damage

No change, 

conflicts 

resolved

0 Minor 

amendments to 

scheme 

programme

50 Significant 

delays to 

scheme / other 

scheme

200 Open Continual updates, liaison, 

programming and coordination 

with HE 

Ongoing On Target RS/SML

1.2 10/12/18 All 4 phases may require EIA & 

planning permission 

3 5 15 Atkins to complete an 

environmental consenting 

assessment

3 4 12 Static GCC Project 

Manager

Atkins consenting 

strategy recommends 

EIA screening

Delay in completing 

environmental 

assessments

No change, 

conflicts 

resolved

0 Minor 

amendments to 

scheme 

programme

20 Significant 

delays to 

scheme / other 

scheme

100 Open GCC to determine if EIA 

screening is required

30/09/2019 On Target GCC Project Manager

1.3 10/12/18 Local stakeholders (environmental 

groups, residents, businesses, cycle 

groups) do not support the scheme 

and additional consultation and input 

required.

4 3 12 Engagement with stakeholders 

at share events. Further 

consultation with non-

motorised users via WCHAR 

consultation. Feedback to be 

reviewed during detailed 

design. 

3 3 9 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

Stakeholder feedback 

reviewed and included 

in FBC. Design 

amended or comments 

considered during 

detailed design. 

Delays and additional 

costs. Reputational 

damage

No changes 

required to 

scheme

0 Minor changes 

included within 

scheme 

10 Delay and 

redesign in 

order to gain 

support

100 Open Communicate to Atkins design 

teams

ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

2. Economic/financial/management
2.1 10/12/18 Open market Procontract tender 

prices are above the available 

budget

4 3 12 Detailed design will be costed 

prior to tender stage to allow 

the design to be value 

engineered and therefore 

expected tender prices will be 

within budget

1 5 5 Down Consultant Project 

Manager

removing the HE 

element from the scope 

of works should ensure 

tender prices are within 

budget

Scheme will not go 

ahead or reduction in 

scope of future 

phases, reputational 

damage

No changes 

required to 

scheme

0 5% over 

estimated cost

182 10% over 

estimated cost

264 Open monitor Ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

2.20 10/12/18 Environmental surveys identify 

protected species causing additional 

cost

3 4 12 Environmental surveys to be 

completed to identify risks and 

have time to manage them

3 4 12 up Consultant Project 

Manager

Amey environmental 

assessment assumed 

the presence of great 

crested newts due to 

access to residential 

ponds denied.  

Additional cost No changes 

required to 

scheme

0 Minor changes 

included within 

scheme 

10 Delay and 

redesign in 

order to gain 

support

100 Open Atkins environmental input 

required to reassess the Amey 

assumptions

31/09/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

2.3 10/12/18
LEP failure to reimburse scheme 

development costs (i.e. if scheme 

does not achieve approval of Full 

Business Case the costs incurred 

prior to this would be GCC's liability).

3 5 15 Develop robust Full Business 

Case to secure funds.

Business case reviewed in 

draft form prior to final 

submission. 

2 5 10 Static GCC Project 

Manager

LEP money will not be 

issued to GCC until the 

FBC is approved.

Political support for 

scheme given likely 

future development in 

area. 

Scheme cancellation 

or GCC have to find 

additional funding

FBC approved 

in programme

0 FBC approved 

in programme

0 FBC not 

approved and 

LEP do not 

reimburse 

costs

970 Open monitor Ongoing On Target GCC Project Manager

3. Environmental
3.1 10/12/18 Judicial review of processes 

evoked. E.g. Questions over AQMA, 

planning / consenting strategy

3 4 12 Robust design and consenting 

strategy ongoing. Ensure 

correct procedures being 

followed in liaison with local 

authorities.

3 4 12 static Consultant Project 

Manager

Consenting strategy 

technical note 

produced. 

Delay to scheme, 

reputational damage

No JR 0 No JD 0 6 months delay 

& legal costs

100 Open

3.2 10/12/18 Mammal burrows within the 

embankment may require additional 

licences to allow the work to start 

this will cause a delay

2 4 8 Environmental investigation to 

be completed

2 3 6 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

delay and additional 

cost

No changes 

required to 

scheme

0 Minor changes 

included within 

scheme 

20 Delay and 

redesign in 

order to gain 

support

100 Open complete environmental 

survey

31/09/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

3.3 10/12/18 Private land owners will not allow 

access for the Environmentalist to 

check private ponds for newts

3 3 9 Contact land owners before 

start of surveys 

3 3 9 up Consultant Project 

Manager

unable to gain land 

access to complete 

pond survey

unable to check 

private ponds for 

protected species

No mitigation 

required

0 mitigation 

required 

30 mitigation 

required

30 Open attempt to gain access to 

residential ponds

31/09/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

3.4 10/12/18 Vegetation clearance works required 

after the beginning of bird nesting 

season. 

3 3 9 Conduct all site clearance 

works prior to the nesting 

season . Or ensure an 

Ecologist inspects all trees 

and hedgerows prior to 

removal

2 3 6 static Consultant Project 

Manager

Review programme and 

manage tree/hedgerow 

removal based on that 

programme

Trees need to be 

removed during 

nesting season need 

to be inspected by 

ecologist prior to 

removal thereby 

incurring additional 

cost and possible 

delay

Does not occur 0 Does not occur 0 Trees not 

removed prior 

to nesting 

season need 

inspecting

5 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

3.50 10/12/18 Environmental survey completed in 

winter months. It is likely that when 

the works start Himalayan Balsam or 

other invasive species will be 

present during summer months

4 3 12 Amey Environmental team are 

to write a method statement on 

how to handle the risk without 

causing much delay and cost 

to the works

4 1 4 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

Delay and additional 

cost

Does not occur 0 Does not occur 0 Trees not 

removed prior 

to nesting 

season need 

inspecting

5 Open write method statement 31/03/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

4. Design/Technical
4.10 10/12/18 Need for additional surveys 

identified during detailed design

3 3 9 Survey works completed 

during preliminary design 

phase. Review of design and 

surveys taken place. 

3 3 9 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

additional cost and 

delay to detailed 

design

Does not occur 0 Does not occur 0 additional 

surveys

15 Open monitor ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

4.20 10/12/18 Design departures required not 

acceptable to GCC

2 4 8 Produced non conformance 

report to highlight departures. 

Early liaison with GCC. 

2 4 8 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

Delays to completion 

of design. Design 

changes. Additional 

cost

DFT authorised 0 Some minor 

design 

changes / 

further work

20 Major redesign 100 Open review when GIR complete 31/10/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

4.30 10/12/18 Stakeholders challenge design 

decisions leads to programme delay

4 4 16 early liaison with stakeholders 

but final decisions with 

Principal designer

4 2 8 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

member briefings and 

radio comms have 

taken place. GCC web 

page currently being 

created

delay to design and 

reputational damage

Does not occur 0 Does not occur 0 change in 

design

50 Open liaison with stakeholders 

regarding design decisions 

e.g. WCHAR share events, 

press releases

ongoing On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

1. Strategic/Political/Policy

Printed on: 04/11/19

Page 1 of 2 UNCONTROLLED IF PRINTED

Rev|: 20190509-ATKINS-001    

Date May-19 

P
age 159



West of Cheltenham Improvement Scheme - Phase 2 M5J11 to Arle - Project Risk Register

New Ref Date Added Risk Description IR
 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o

d IR
 I

m
p

a
c

t 

IR
 R

is
k
 

S
c
o

re

Current controls in place R
R

 

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o

d R
R

 I
m

p
a
c

t 

R
R

 R
is

k
 

S
c
o

re Direction of 

Travel Risk Owner

Latest Period 

Comments Consequences

Minimum 

Event

Minimum Cost 

(£1000)

Expected 

Event

Expected Cost 

(£1000)

Maximum 

Event

Maximum Cost 

(£1000) Risk Status Further Actions Required FA Due

FA & Risk Status 

Comments FA Owner

4.40 10/12/18 Unknown addition of HE cameras, 

Police ANPR Camera, 

weatherisation's 

4 3 12 Liaison with possible asset 

owners

2 2 4 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

delay to design Does not occur 0 Does not occur 0 additional 

equipment 

5 Open discuss with HE 30/09/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

4.50 10/12/18 Delays submitting Full Business 

Case (FBC) leads to late approval of 

FBC by LEP board

3 4 12 Ongoing liaison with FBC 

review Consultancy. Stagger 

submissions of ph 1-4

3 4 12 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

Submitted on 

programme

0 Delayed 

submission but 

approved at 

LEP board

0 Delayed to 

next LEP board 

meeting

20 monitor FBC progress 20/09/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

4.60 10/12/18 Unfavourable Road Safety Audit 

response causes design changes

2 3 6 RSA stage 1/2 to be applied 

for based on prelim design

2 1 2 Static Consultant Project 

Manager

Open Does not occur 0 Does not occur 0 changes to 

design

5 RSA1/2 to be submitted once 

prelim design complete

31/08/2019 On Target Consultant Project 

Manager

Printed on: 04/11/19

Page 2 of 2 UNCONTROLLED IF PRINTED

Rev|: 20190509-ATKINS-001    

Date May-19 

P
age 160



UPGRADE TO THE VISION MOBILISING SYSTEM 

FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE

Cabinet Date 13 November 2019 

Public Protection, 
Parking and 
Libraries

Councillor David Norman 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

 Fire and Rescue Services Act (2004)

 The Fire and Rescue Services (Emergencies) (England) Order 2007

 Civil Contingencies Act 2004

 Gloucestershire County Council Strategy: 

“Looking to the Future” 2019-22”

 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service:

“Integrated Risk Management Plan 2018-21”

Location/Contact for 
inspection of 
Background 
Documents

www.gov.uk 

www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

www.glosfire.gov.uk

Main Consultees  GCC Strategic Finance – Capital Business Case

 GCC Strategic Procurement – Contract and procurement advice.

 GCC Legal Services – Compliance and Assurance

Planned Dates Completed

Divisional Councillor n/a

Officer Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Tel: 01452 888777
Email: wayne.bowcock@glosfire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek approval for expenditure on necessary upgrades for the Fire and Rescue 
Service mobilising system in order to maintain an effective and efficient response to 
emergency incidents. 

Page 161

Agenda Item 11

http://www.gov.uk/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/
mailto:wayne.bowcock@glosfire.gov.uk
mailto:wayne.bowcock@glosfire.gov.uk


Recommendations That Cabinet:

Delegates authority to the Chief Fire Officer (in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries), to award a five year 
contract  for the supply of an upgrade to the Fire and Rescue Service mobilising 
system to include hardware, software and the provision of maintenance and 
support through the KCS Provision of Managed Services for Business Solutions 
Framework (Y16018) without further competition (direct award).
  

Reasons for 
recommendations

The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 places a legal obligation on all Fire 
Authorities to:

 Secure the provision of the personnel, services and equipment necessary 
efficiently to meet all normal requirements

 Make arrangements for dealing with calls for help and for summoning 
personnel

 Make arrangements for obtaining information needed for the purpose of 
extinguishing fires in its area and protecting life and property in the event of 
fires in its area

The proposed upgrade to the mobilising system is designed to:

 Fulfil Gloucestershire Fire Authority’s legal obligation set out within the Fire 
and Rescue Services Act 2004

 Support the delivery of the Council Strategy 2019/22
o A Resilient County - Active, resilient local communities that keep 

people safe, provide them with support and help them to make a 
positive contribution.

 Meet Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service’s Mission Statement - 
“Working in partnership we will provide the highest standard of community 
safety and emergency response services to the communities of 
Gloucestershire” 

 Address Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service’s Strategic Aims
o Increased focus on prevention and protection initiatives
o Explore, further develop and maximise opportunities to collaborate 

with partners and other stakeholders
o Reconfigure and reform our Service

 Demonstrate how Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service will address the 
risk of fire faced by the communities of Gloucestershire. In this procurement 
we will be moving from version 4 to version 5 of the solution.

Commercial rationale:
 The current mobilising system used by GFRS comprises highly sophisticated 

software which engages with a number of Fire Service software systems. The 
cost of implementation of an alternative software system would be significant 
and given the benefits of software incumbency (the cost of software in situ vs 
the cost of implementation of a totally new solution) is not viewed as a value 

Page 162



for money outcome.
 As a result of such incumbency benefit, it is in the interest of the Council to 

minimise resources in time and money to deliver the new contract proposed 
in this Report.

Resource 
Implications

Resources required to achieve delivery of the plan:
 Capital funding of £300,000 has been approved through the 18-19 MTFS 

process to procure the system and support implementation.
 Ongoing maintenance charges for the extant mobilising system are met and 

will continue to be so through existing revenue streams for the Fire and 
Rescue Service. The cost for this contract is £189,755 over the five year life 
of the proposed contract.

Page 163



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 
1.1 Legal Requirement

The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 sets out the responsibilities of Fire and Rescue 
Authorities (FRAs). There are four key responsibilities for FRAs that they must ensure that they 
make provision for including:

 Extinguishing fires in their area

 Protecting life and property in the event of fires in their area

 Rescuing and protecting people in the event of a road traffic collision

 Rescuing and protecting people in the event of other emergencies.

These four key responsibilities are underpinned by a duty to:

 Secure the provision of the personnel, services and equipment necessary efficiently to 
meet all normal requirements

 Make arrangements for dealing with calls for help and for summoning personnel

 Make arrangements for obtaining information needed for the purpose of extinguishing fires 
in its area, and protecting life and property in the event of fires in its area

To support the Fire Authority in discharge of its duties, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
produce an Integrated Risk Management Plan every three years; the latest of which includes the 
following strategic aims:

 ‘Ensure our services are delivered by a professional, well equipped, highly skilled, 
motivated and well developed workforce which is able to work safely and whose 
composition reflects our diverse community’  

 ‘Respond promptly and effectively to deal with fires and other emergencies when they 
occur’.

1.2 System Provision

In order to achieve legal compliance and meet the outlined strategic aims, Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service maintain a Fire Control Room based at the Tri-Service Centre in Quedgeley 
and a ‘Stand-by’ Control Room at Stroud Fire Station.

Both of these facilities are equipped with the Vision mobilising system and an Integrated 
Command and Control System (ICCS) that were introduced in 2013 following the cessation of the 
National Fire Control programme led by HM Government. At the time of purchase, the ‘Vision 4’ 
system was one of the most advanced systems available and provided the functions required of a 
modern Command and Control Solution.

The role of Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services’ Fire Control Room has evolved over the 
last five years since the existing Vision 4 mobilising system was introduced. Fire Control personnel 
are no longer limited to only handling 999 calls. They are now a multi-faceted call taking Control 
Room. Handling calls for the Telecare Service, Coroners, Safe and Well, Concerns for Safety and 
administration. This has led to an almost 100% increase in call volume since 2013.

Page 164



1.3 Technical Issues
The current ‘Vision 4’ hardware (Servers and PC’s) is now six years old; recognised ICT industry 
good practice recommends that critical servers should be in use for longer than five years. 
However, owing to good maintenance, the server ‘life’ in this case has already been extended by a 
further two years beyond manufacturer warranty. 

In addition to this, the current contract for licensing and maintenance of the existing fire and 
rescue service mobilising system comes to an end in September 2020. As it is now 6 years since 
Vision 4 was installed and whilst this has evolved over time, it is prudent for the Service to move to 
the latest version of software (i.e. Vision 5) as well as installing new hardware at the same time.

This will not only future proof the current mobilising system in terms of the ability to provide the 
appropriate response for the communities of Gloucestershire for the next five years or more, it will 
also align the provision to be compatible with the forthcoming Emergency Services Network (ESN) 
which will see all critical communications move from traditional radio based applications over to 
the use of 4G digital services. 

It is proposed that the procurement of the software and hardware upgrade described herein is 
undertaken utilising the direct contract award procedure available under the KCS Provision of 
Managed Services for Business Solutions Framework (Y16018). The chosen supplier is the 
incumbent supplier of the current mobilising system as the intention is to refresh and not replace 
the existing system and to award a contract for the maintenance and support of both the hardware 
and software elements of the refreshed system during the period Oct 2019 – September 2024. 

1.4 Resource Requirement

1.4.1 Procurement costs:

 System purchase: £293,780 (to include all hardware and software)

 System maintenance/support (5 years): £189,755

 Sum total: £483,535

1.4.2 Resource Implications:

Capital Funding (£300,000) for this purpose has been agreed as part of the 18-19 MTFS process 
and the ongoing maintenance and support costs are covered under the Fire Service’s existing 
revenue budget. It should be noted that the £6,000 differential between the capital bid and the 
indicated system cost will include cost to enable current control room staff to be freed up to assist 
with overseeing the implementation and learning of the system.

Ongoing maintenance charges for the extant mobilising system are met and will continue to be so 
through existing revenue streams for the Fire and Rescue Service. The cost for this contract is 
£189,755 over the five year life of the proposed contract.

2. Options

As described in Section 1.1 above, the Fire Authority has a legal duty to ensure provision of a 
command and control solution to enable resources to be effectively and efficiently utilised for the 
purposes defined within the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.

The other option available would be to undertake a competitive procurement process to include 
either full competition or a ‘mini’ competition for the work required.

The supplier market for mobilising systems is extremely limited with each system being bespoke. 
Therefore the above processes would be very unlikely to attract any interest in regards to an 
‘upgrade’, and it would have required significant resource to manage the process. This is 
considered to be inefficient within the context of a time critical project. On this basis, a direct award 
to the existing supplier under a framework is recommended as the most suitable, and legally 
compliant route.  

Page 165



3. Risk Assessment  

There are a number of risks associated with delivery of the mobilising system upgrade: 

3.1 Operational

Under the Fire and Rescue Service Act 2004, the Fire Authority have a statutory requirement to 
provide responses to fires, road traffic collisions and promote fire safety. As our mobilising 
system becomes dated, it will be difficult for the Fire Control Room to deliver the necessary 
response.   

3.2 Economic

If a decision is taken not to support recommendation, a complete replacement will need to be 
sought in 2020. The likelihood is that there would be a significant increase in cost if this route is 
chosen.

3.3 Technological

An aging system increases exposure to the risk of Cyber Security, non-compliance with GDPR 
and partial or total system failure leading to an inability to respond to emergency incidents 
and/or support other GCC functions (e.g. Telecare/Coroners Out of Hours etc).

Failure to upgrade the mobilising system would also mean that Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service will be unable to benefit from future enhancements that ESN offers.

As part of Airwave and ESN, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services’ Fire Control Room are 
bound by the protocols of being connected to these networks (Codes of Connection). If the 
mobilising system is dated and lacking the required updates, the Service would be unable to 
connect to the national radio schemes. 

Lead Time (Supplier) - From signature of contracts (earliest October 2019), the overall lead 
time to develop, build and deliver all elements of this system will be a minimum of eight months; 
this can only start once legal elements around the contract have been finalised, agreed and the 
contract signed by both parties.

3.4 Legal

GCC Legal Services were satisfied that use of the KCS Software Products and Associated 
Services Framework is in itself a legally compliant route to market for procurement of the 
proposed software upgrade, however raised concerns around paucity lack of detail contained in 
the call-off terms and conditions.

4. Officer Advice

As with all ICT based systems, there is a need to keep up with current technology and 
standards to maintain system integrity, as well as complying with various codes of connection 
that must be adhered to. This maintains overall functionality within Fire Control, ensuring that 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service continue to offer the highest possible standards of 
service to the communities it serves.

The Chief Fire Officer’s recommendation, based on all of the available evidence and 
subsequent analysis, is that approval be given to upgrade the fire and rescue mobilising system 
through the award of a five year contract that also encompasses maintenance and support 
services, approve the proposed level of expenditure and approve the identified procurement 
route. 

Page 166



5. Equalities considerations

Consideration of the likely equalities impact of the recommended option indicates that the 
provision of an up to date Integrated Command and Control System coupled with market 
leading mobilising technology provides equal access for all residents of Gloucestershire, 
thereby ensuring that GCC’s legal obligations are met when delivering the fire and rescue 
function to the communities of Gloucestershire. A Due Regard Statement has not, therefore 
been prepared in the matter.

6. Consultation feedback

GCC Strategic Finance – A capital business case was presented requesting £300,000 towards 
delivery and completion of this project. The request was approved with the following feedback 
‘That, having considered the additional consultation responses and the Public Sector Equality 
Duty Assessment, approval is given to the MTFS and the revenue and capital budgets for 
2018-19’ (extract from the minutes of the County Council meeting February 2018 - Policy and 
Budget Framework - Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Council Strategy).

GCC Strategic Procurement – Contract and procurement advice coupled with strategic support 
was sought for this project. Feedback received clearly indicated that a direct single supplier 
award (outside of a framework), was not legally compliant and that use of a competitively 
tendered framework was advised. To this end, initial progress was made using the Crown 
Commercial Services Digital Applied Solutions Framework, however due to technical difficulties 
an alternative option has been sourced – the KCS Provision of Managed Services for Business 
Solutions Framework.

GCC Legal Services – were satisfied that the use of the KCS Software Products and 
Associated Services Framework is in itself a legally compliant route to market for procurement 
of the proposed software upgrade, however raised concerns around the lack of detail contained 
in the call-off terms and conditions.

It was felt that the terms and conditions were ‘only marginally more robust than generic Ts&Cs’ 
and that on this basis ‘the council’s interests would not, in their view, be best served by using 
the KCS framework’ albeit it was accepted that due to the time constraints facing the project 
there was no other suitable alternative at this point in time.

Strategic Procurement - The ‘commercial’ view point is that the Council has used this 
framework for its current Capita SIMS contract and we have been advised that other Councils 
have used this framework for the same purpose.

7. Performance Management/Follow-up 

The contract that will be drawn up under the KCS Software Products and Associated Services 
Framework will include a number of Service Level Agreements held with the Supplier.

Performance will be monitored and discussed at regular meetings with the designated 
Customer Relationship Manager. Underperformance is highlighted and reviewed with resolution 
sought and remedial measures put in place by the Supplier as and when necessary.

This arrangement builds upon the existing relationship already in place with the Supplier which 
to date has been wholly satisfactory for both parties.

Page 167



Report Title Upgrade to the Vision Mobilising System for Fire and 
Rescue Service 

Statutory Authority Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004.

Relevant County Council 
policy

Gloucestershire County Council Strategy 2019 - 22

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships This project will make use of a partnership framework developed by 
Kent County Council in order to provide the required access to the 
relevant supplier, in this case Capita.
The system in its own right provides access through the Integrated 
Command and Control Solution to and for all partner organisations.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

A formal decision is required from GCC regarding procurement of the 
upgrade to the mobilising system for fire and rescue.

Economy and Employment Provision of the most advanced technology in mobilising is designed 
to help minimise the impact of fire and other types of emergency on 
individuals and the local economy.

Caring for people Matching resources to risk allows the Service to correctly allocate 
resources and assists in meeting the needs of the most vulnerable 
within the communities of Gloucestershire.

Social Value The mobilising system is integral to enabling the Service to build on 
existing partnerships utilising existing equipment and skills to deliver 
additional benefit particularly in the arena of health and social care. 
This work has already proved to deliver tangible ‘social value’ in 
terms of support to other areas and functions of GCC Service 
Delivery.

Built Environment Matching resources to risk allows the Service to correctly allocate 
resources to help minimise the impact of fire and other types of 
emergency thus protecting the built environment.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Matching resources to risk maintains the Services ability to protect 
the natural environment due to fire and other events.

Education and Information Provision of the most advanced technology in mobilising enables Fire 
Control Operatives to provide fire and other types of safety 
information directly to members of the public thereby promoting 
greater awareness of risk and a higher degree of public safety for the 
communities of Gloucestershire.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

Page 168



Human rights Implications No

Consultation 
Arrangements Not Applicable

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CONSULTATION RESPONSE TO THE LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP: 

DRAFT GLOUCESTERSHIRE INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY (LIS)

Cabinet 13 November 2019

Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

Environment and 
Planning

Cllr Patrick Molyneux 

Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision No 

Background 
Documents

 Draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy
 Table outlining LIS core content and feedback comments from GCC 

departments 
Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/ 

Appendix1 – Core Content and GCC Officer Consultation Feedback 

Appendix 2 and 2a – GCC Officer Response to LEP Consultation Questions 

Main Consultees Senior Officers, Corporate Management Team, Cabinet Members.

Planned Dates Consultation on first Draft Gloucestershire LIS 19th September 2019 to 31st 
October 2019

Member/Chief Officer liaison – SCIMB 14th October, COMT 17th October and 
Cabinet COMT 28th October. GEGJC 20th November   

Publication of the final Gloucestershire LIS by March 2020

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Claire Edwards

Team Leader - Economic Growth and Strategic Planning

Tel:  01452 328303

Email: claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Purpose of Report To inform Cabinet of the consultation process for the Draft Gloucestershire 

Local Industrial Strategy and seek endorsement of the recommended GCC 
response. 

Recommendations That the Cabinet approve the submission of the proposed formal GCC 
consultation response to GFirst LEP to help shape the final LIS version.

Page 171

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/industrial-strategy/
mailto:claire.edwards@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Reasons for 
recommendations The Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy is a key document that will 

support future economic growth opportunities for the County. Although not a 
bidding document, the LIS will be seen as the blueprint for potential future 
Government investment. The LIS is being co written by GFirst LEP and 
Government. However, it is important that the contents of the draft LIS has 
the full oversight and support of key stakeholders such as the County 
Council, as this will strengthen future discussions GFirst LEP have with 
Government on what is presented in the final version of the Strategy by 
March 2020. 

Resource 
Implications

The resource provided by GCC staff from the Economic Growth and 
Planning, Performance and Change teams are funded from within existing 
revenue budgets. There are no additional financial implications to this report 

Page 172



3

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

1.1 As part of its modern Industrial Strategy, the government aims to agree Local 
Industrial Strategies (LISs) with all parts of England by March 2020. LISs will guide 
future action and investment, locally and nationally, to improve productivity. They are 
not bidding documents or project pipelines. They will be agreed with Mayoral Combined 
Authorities where relevant, and Local Enterprise Partnerships everywhere else. 
Gloucestershire is in the final wave (Wave 3) of LEPs working with government on their 
LISs, with a March 2020 target for publication. LISs for the West Midlands, Greater 
Manchester, the West of England, Oxfordshire, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, 
Buckinghamshire and South East Midlands (the Oxford-Cambridge Arc LEPs) have 
been published to date.

2. Key Points

2.1 The drafting of the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) process began in 2018 with two 
meetings of a LIS ‘Vision Group’ comprising a range of stakeholders from the public, 
private and third sector in Gloucestershire and two LEP Board strategy away days. 

2.2 There was an open call for evidence March to May 2019 with over 270 pieces of 
evidence, both quantitative and qualitative, building a rich picture of the county’s 
strengths and weaknesses and the views of various stakeholders.

2.3 Supported by a small officer working group, including GCC staff from the Economic 
Growth and Planning, Performance and Change teams, an Evidence Baseline report 
was commissioned, bringing together the latest statistical data available under the 5 
foundations of productivity (Ideas, People, Business Environment, Infrastructure and 
Places). GCC staff also guided the LEP in cross referencing to relevant strategic 
documents, such as the Gloucestershire Vision 2050, Council Strategy ‘Looking to the 
Future’, the Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (emerging draft), Fastershire 
Broadband Strategy, Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, JCS and the Sustainable 
Energy Strategy.  

2.4 An extensive youth engagement programme was commissioned; with over 5000 
survey responses gathered from young people aged 14-25.

2.5 Further engagement with Gloucestershire’s local authorities, the Gloucestershire 
Strategic Planning Coordinator, Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust and local Nature 
Partnership, officials across public sector bodies representing transport, health and 
well-being together with the LEP Business Groups including a dedicated LIS meeting of 
the Cyber Business Group also took place over the summer.

2.6 Based on all the evidence and intelligence gathered, a draft LIS has been produced 
which was launched along with a set of consultation questions at the LEP Annual 
Review on 19th September.

Page 173



4

2.7 In its final published form (anticipated March 2020), whilst not a bidding document 
per se, the strategy will serve as an important reference framework to guide future 
priorities for investment and resource planning. It is vital therefore that, along with a 
level of ambition, there are also adequate investment ‘hooks’ in the document to 
support the emerging economic growth agenda, as it unfolds over the next ten years. 
This has to be balanced with Government expectations of producing a concise, focused 
and meaningful plan.      

2.8 As a result, each LIS follows a format prescribed by Government as ‘co authors’, to 
ensure alignment to the National Industrial Strategy’s four Grand Challenges:

 Artificial Intelligence and Data
 Ageing Population
 Clean Growth
 Intelligent Mobility

2.9 These are identified as areas that can

 Put the UK at the forefront of the artificial intelligence and data revolution
 Maximise the advantages for UK industry from the global shift to clean growth
 Become a world leader in shaping the future of mobility; and
 Harness the power of innovation to help meet the needs of an aging society

2.10 In addition each LIS is required to form around the “five foundations of 
productivity”

 Ideas
 People
 Infrastructure
 Business Environment 
 Places

2.11 The key aims of the LIS are to increase productivity and realise potential whilst 
also allowing all communities to contribute to and benefit from enhanced economic 
prosperity. The final strategy must also be supported by robust and open evidence; be 
aligned to the National Industrial Strategy; focus on opportunities and challenges and 
be produced in collaboration with public and private stakeholders.

3. Consultation Process

3.1 In Gloucestershire’s case, the key priorities within the Gloucestershire draft LIS are:

 Cyber-tech
 Digital
 Green
 Agri-tech
 Advanced Manufacturing
 A Central Gloucestershire City Region

Page 174



5

 Flexible working

3.2 A strong inclusive growth theme also needs to cross-cut the strategy to ensure that 
all communities within the county have access to the opportunities that the LIS will 
create.

3.3 The open consultation closed on 31 October 2019. Drop-in sessions were held in 
Growth Hubs, with bookable slots, to discuss the strategy with the LEP. All of the LEP’s 
Business Groups will meet to discuss and give their feedback on the draft LIS between 
September and November and there will be opportunities for key stakeholders to 
engage further in the process.

3.4 Dialogue with government will also take place based on the draft LIS, helping to 
shape/develop it further, agreeing priorities and areas of activity, working towards a 
jointly agreed final document by March 2020.

3.5 The consultation process invites respondents to consider a number of key 
consultation questions to be answered via the GFirst LEP website. General 
observations and minor additions, where relevant, will also be well received. 

3.6 In parallel, work will continue on strengthening the baseline, duly recognising that 
there are acknowledged data gaps and improved linkages to the strategy narrative, still 
required. GCC officers will remain part of this exercise, working alongside the LEP team 
to help develop/proof the final version of the LIS document.  

4. Summary of the Contents of the Draft LIS

4.1 The Draft LIS follows a prescribed format but the key focus for Gloucestershire’s 
LIS is outlined below:

Main Focus

 Upskilling to keep pace with technological change
 Positioning the County to maximise economic opportunities through the digital 

revolution, fighting climate change, protecting nature and future proofing 
development of new communities/provision of infrastructure

 Attraction/retention of young people
 Exploiting opportunities in key/emerging growth sectors – advanced engineering 

and cyber/agri/green tech  

4.2 The document also acknowledges a number of the key strengths and challenges in 
the County as follows:

Key Strengths

 Pivotal geographical location, well connected
 Attractive natural environment

Page 175



6

 ‘Innovation active’(national measure of high levels of business R & D and number of people working in R & D 
roles)

 Diversity

Key Weaknesses/Challenges
 Aging population/workforce development challenge
 Need for young talent challenge
 Weaker trends in business growth/productivity
 Inclusivity and social mobility challenges

4.3 There then follows a section on “Seizing Opportunities” and a focus on two main 
areas of considered strength in the County, Cyber Tech and Green Gloucestershire.

4.4 The LIS continues by setting out its main aims under each of the five foundations, 
linked to the National Strategy’s Grand Challenges of Artificial Intelligence and Data; 
Ageing Population; Clean Growth and Intelligent Mobility.
 

5. GCC Feedback

5.1 The full draft LIS is currently out for consultation, following its launch at the LEP 
Annual Review Event on the 19th September, with a closing date for general feedback 
on 31st October 2019. However, GFirst are aware that the GCC response will be a little 
later than this date in order to facilitate discussion at Cabinet. 

5.2 In order to seek approval from Cabinet Members on a collective GCC response to 
the Gloucestershire LIS, Heads of Departments were asked to feedback to the 
Communities and Infrastructure team by the end of September, ahead of the 
consultation closing date, in order to provide GFirst LEP with a single collective GCC 
response to the consultation.

5.3 Accordingly, attached as Appendix 1 is an outline of the core content of the LIS, 
together with feedback/ comments received from GCC officers used to help shape the 
proposed formal GCC consultation response back to GFirst. 

5.4 Feedback was received from the following departments - Communities and 
Infrastructure (including Transport Planning, Strategic Planning and Minerals and 
Waste), Public Health, Adult Social Care (Disability Employment) and the Planning, 
Performance and Change team.

5.6 In addition and attached as Appendix 2 is the LEP issued pro-forma featuring key 
consultation questions populated with a summary of the feedback received from GCC 
departments, plus a number of technical observations.  

5.7 Our key responses are focused on:

- Skills – ensuring we have a workforce that can support our future growth
- Social Mobility and Inclusive Growth - to ensure that everyone in the county has 

the opportunity to contribute to and benefit from a thriving economy 

Page 176



7

- Clean Growth –managing future transport demand to enable the economy to 
grow (without congestion) to meet the emerging obligations associated with 
climate emergency. Engaging with Districts to support green construction 
methods for future housing needs. Support for innovative businesses producing 
green products and services that are already evident in the County and the 
ability to expand these businesses

- Connectivity – continued support for enhancing our digital connectivity across 
the County through the Fastershire programme. Ensuring we are a fully mobile 
and connected county, in particular in our rural areas where we will have 
extensive fibre and the capability to develop future Mobility As A Service (MaaS) 
and a responsive transport solution.

- Magnet County – ensuring we have affordable homes, jobs and opportunities to 
attract nurture and retain young people.

Further updates resulting in a final draft Local Industrial Strategy will be made available 
by the LEP towards the end of the year and following detailed dialogue with 
Government.

5.8 It is requested that Members consider the consultation feedback and endorse the 
proposed formal GCC response.

6. Options

6.1 Option 1 – GCC does not respond to the Glos LIS Consultation

With such a wide field of content within the LIS which impacts on the way the Council 
carries out its business and supports the citizens of Gloucestershire, it would be 
unfeasible not to respond to the consultation on the first draft of the LIS.

6.2 Option 2 – GCC department consultation responses are sent individually

Some departments will respond separately to specific areas of the LIS, one example 
being Adult Education which has a Foundation Lead working directly with GFirst LEP, 
plus a mandate to facilitate discussion through the Gloucestershire Employment and 
Skills Board who will submit a direct response. In addition, it is understood that the 
Health and Wellbeing Board are also likely to respond direct. However, GCC 
departments interested in the Infrastructure Foundation could be better represented by 
submitting a combined response to the LIS.

6.3 Option 3 – GCC sends a co-ordinated and collective response to the Glos LIS 
Consultation 

An endorsed collective response which reflects a wide section of GCC departments and 
functions will be more fully representative and provide clear and concise feedback to 
the first draft, more readily digested by GFirst LEP.  As such, it will carry greater weight 
and is more likely to influence the final LIS. 

    It is recommended that Cabinet pursue Option 3 

Page 177



8

7. Risk Assessment 

7.1 There is very little risk in providing the collective response which it is hoped will 
provide greater emphasis to the final version of the LIS whilst also being of assistance 
in the LEPs ongoing negotiations with Government.

8. Officer Advice

8.1That Cabinet pursue option 3 and note and approve the core content of the GCC 
consultation feedback on the Glos LIS and recommend it be sent to GFirst LEP.

8.2 Note that this report provides captured feedback on the consultation of the draft LIS 
from GCC departments only and not the full range of and final consultation responses 
received by GFirst LEP.

9. Equalities considerations

9.1 The County Council’s response makes specific comments about the need for more 
recognition of the diversity of the workforce to ensure that the LIS is fully inclusive and 
ensures that the productivity of the County is strengthened and associated 
opportunities benefitted by all its residents, as the ethos of the National LIS states: 

“We need to ensure that everyone, no matter what their background or level of skill, has 
an opportunity to enter into and progress at work and through the education and 
training system. Barriers that prevent under-represented groups from realising their full 
potential need to be broken down”

-People section: National Industrial Strategy

Ultimately it will be for Government and GFirst LEP to demonstrate its consideration of 
their duties under the Equalities Act 2010, within the overall strategy, before adoption. 
However, the County Council’s response emphasises these obligations to GFirst to 
enable them to consider any further changes necessary to advance equality of 
opportunity and comply with the overarching equality duties.

10.Performance Management/Follow-up 

10.1 As the body responsible for the full consultation, it is anticipated that GFirst LEP 
will be providing further feedback on the outcome of the consultation process at a later 
date. One of the first opportunities for this will be at the Gloucestershire Economic 
Growth Joint Committee on 20th November.

10.2 GCC officers will remain on the GFirst Task and Finish Groups throughout the 
drafting of the final version to be published by March 2020. GFirst are also working on 
an Investment Plan to complement the Strategy and GCC officers will continue to 
collaborate and help shape this next phase of work, as appropriate, to ensure the 
Strategy has clear purpose and a strong and effective outcome.   

Page 178



9

Report Title Consultation response to the Local Enterprise Partnership on 
the draft Gloucestershire Industrial Strategy (LIS)

Statutory Authority

Relevant County Council 
policy

Alignment with the Council Strategy ‘Looking to the Future’ 

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships GFirst LEP, Government, Business and VCS Groups

Decision Making and 
Involvement

GFirst LEP, Government, Gloucestershire’s local authorities, 
the Gloucestershire Strategic Planning Coordinator, 
Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust and Local Nature Partnership, 
officials across public sector bodies representing transport, 
health and well-being, Business Groups including  the Cyber 
Business Group and other specialist sector forums

Economy and Employment A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy

Caring for people A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy

Social Value Core objective of the strategy

Built Environment A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy

Education and Information A range of policy and planned interventions feature in the 
emerging strategy

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive interventions 
planned within the strategy
Vulnerable to climate change? Part of the planned wider 
partnership policy response

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?  No
The Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy is a document 
that will support future economic growth opportunities for the 
County which will be implemented through the GFirst Local 
Enterprise Partnership. The strategy follows a Government 

Page 179



10

prescribed format and consistent with the National Industrial 
Strategy, is required to focus on effort to increase business 
productivity. Of relevance to the Public Sector Equality Duty 
however is the secondary objective of the strategy which is one 
of ‘inclusive growth and enabling all communities to contribute 
to and benefit from the enhanced economic prosperity enabled 
through the strategy. 
However, GCC is not responsible for preparing or delivering 
the strategy directly, but aims to be an active public sector 
contributor to the efforts of the wider partnership. In this respect 
the Council will be an advocate (rather than a key service 
provider) for ensuring the ‘reach’ of the strategy, in equality 
terms, is as broad as possible.      

Human rights Implications None Identified
Consultation 
Arrangements Once the draft consultation feedback has been sent to GFirst 

LEP, officers will continue to consult with GCC associates 
through regular and planned meetings to ensure emerging 
views and new evidence is fed back to the LEP, to be taken 
into account to support the final version of the Gloucestershire 
LIS, due for publication by March 2020.

Page 180



1

Appendix 1

Gloucestershire LIS Core Content: ‘Seizing Opportunities’ and The Five Foundations – Highlights and Potential Weaknesses

Leading 
Opportunity/Foundation

Highlights GCC Officer Feedback (identifying potential weaknesses, gaps 
in evidence and/or additional references required)    

CYBER TECH: 
Promoting 
Gloucestershire as the 
‘cradle’ of cyber-tech 
innovation for the UK, 
complemented by strong 
supply chains and high 
calibre academia 
collaborations

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy

Drawing on local specialisms of cyber and digital, deliver ‘Cyber 
Central, the UK’s first fully cyber centric business park adjacent 
GCHQ, working with the CyNam cluster of businesses to focus 
on skills development and a talent pipeline, plus the 
establishment of a visitor centre

Continue to invest in access to high quality digital connectivity 
and technical skills, incl a Digital Skills Partnership and cyber-
centric Institute of Technology 

Develop cyber-tech innovation capabilities, new businesses, 
products and a ladder of potential investment opportunities 
across key sectors     

Build on regional links into ‘Cyber Valley’ (Worcs, Swindon and 
Wilts, and the Marches) and Lead on a national Cyber Sector 
Deal with partners 

No additional comments received

GREEN: Promoting 
Gloucestershire as the 
greenest place to live and 
work in England

Grand Challenge 
alignment = Clean 
Growth, Future Mobility, 

Recognising the County’s natural assets and high-quality 
environment, establish Gloucestershire as the leader in 
sustainable growth, pushing the boundaries on green 
development through active planning and net gain biodiversity  

Improve the County’s resilience to climate change through 
effective management of natural capital and pioneering 
environmental mapping, plus net zero carbon innovations 

Using technology to enable Gloucestershire to engage more 

Suggested revision to affordable housing refs to acknowledge 
active policy initiatives to promote improved standards in new 
developments including the ‘Building with Nature’ benchmark 
and a greater understanding of the principles and potential for 
Gloucestershire of the Circular Economy (wording offered).  

Ambition of promoting sustainable growth and development of 
the Central Gloucestershire City Region imbalanced with firm 
commitments to protect and maintain the natural environment, 

P
age 181



2

AI and Data Economy demonstrably in the renewable/clean energy market, providing 
business development opportunities for accelerated retro fit and  
green construction, as well as cleaner transport solutions 

Pioneer smart solutions in the food and farming sector to 
accelerate the transition to more sustainable food systems 

irrespective of value – may need re-wording to improve clarity.

Greater acknowledgement needed of value of promoting 
growth in accessible locations with scope to better utilise 
existing public transport corridors.

Is a green planning framework really necessary – can’t the 
existing planning system deliver the green objectives ?   

IDEAS: Building on 
strong record of 
innovation across 
established/emerging 
sectors as a main 
contributor to enhancing 
productivity and 
important basis for 
business growth

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy

Build on proven high levels of R & D expenditure and innovation 
activity amongst Gloucestershire businesses to provide more 
holistic support for SMEs to promote growth/productivity

Utilise the pioneering Growth Hub Network to create an 
Innovation Factory bringing entrepreneurs and businesses 
together with local innovation assets such as the RAU, Hartpury, 
UoG, Berkeley Science and Technology Park, Campden BRI and 
the Innovation Labs within libraries

A National Innovation Centre will also feature as part of ‘Cyber 
Central’     

Acknowledged key sector specialisms in aerospace, precision 
manufacturing and engineering, green/cyber tech, plus a 
distinctive strength in advanced agri-tech and transformative 
innovation promoting a healthy circular economy in food and 
farming through an Advanced Agri-tech Hive    

Need for greater clarity with regard to the potential within the 
Agri-tech sector to accelerate transition to the Circular 
Economy (wording offered).

Ref to scale of R & D expenditure in County, but confusing 
statistics on GVA and GDP – clarity needed.

 

PEOPLE: Developing the 
workforce for the future 
and boosting earning 
potential

Desire to be a ‘magnet County’, attract/retain young talent and be 
recognised as a flexible place to work to suit people of all ages 
and capabilities

Offer high quality education and training relevant for local 
business and encourage greater collaboration between industries 

The draft strategy adequately represents several of the main 
challenges of the county’s residents (ageing population, 
retention of our younger workforce, skills and investment) 
providing a structure to address the need for additional 
investment and growth opportunities.

However, there are significant public sector and health and 

P
age 182



3

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy and Ageing 
Society 

to attract/ retain specialist talent and diversify their workforces

Support the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board in its 
transition into a Skills Advisory Panel (SAP) and associated 
initiatives to develop a Digital Skills Partnership, STEM skills 
campaign, Aspirations Programme and Work Charter 

social care sector recruitment and retention challenges in the 
County which the draft LIS does not directly address and 
which do impact on productivity and inclusion within 
Gloucestershire. In addition, GCC and District Councils have 
identified a number of job roles where recruitment and/or 
retention are difficult, either because of salary and benefits 
competition with the private sector, or where local authorities 
are competing with one another to attract/retain individuals 
with particular skill sets.

Given the infrastructure improvements and developments 
highlighted in the draft LIS, the ageing population in the 
County and the substantial predicted growth of the health and 
care sector, this places increasing strain on the public sector 
as it seeks to support and contribute positively to these 
changes. 

Considerable further analysis of the health and care sector in 
Gloucestershire has been carried out and the findings are now 
available.

The references to social mobility and inclusive growth are 
welcomed but would be better embedded in the ‘people’ 
chapter of the LIS and feedback from within GCC and a range 
of education and skills providers in the county, emphasises 
the importance of having a strong intermediate level (level 2 
and level 3) curriculum offer that will enable access to 
qualifications for people to enter the workforce and also act as 
‘stepping stones’ to higher level qualifications that will, 
potentially, have bigger impacts on productivity gains.

We therefore strongly support the idea of a digital skills 
partnership reporting into the Gloucestershire Employment 

P
age 183



4

and Skills Board (GESB or SAP).

Whilst referenced in the draft LIS, apprenticeships need to be 
highlighted further as both a challenge and an opportunity as 
they represent very effective ways of improving local 
businesses’ and organisations’ capacity and productivity and 
of tackling the threats posed by large numbers of employees 
in the county reaching retirement age and leaving the 
workforce, so generating significant replacement demand.

The geographical position of Gloucestershire, effectively 
between the ‘magnet’ cities of Bristol and Birmingham, 
impacts on the net loss of young people to other areas. This 
needs to be acknowledged in the LIS and linked effectively to 
the Vision 2050 proposals around Cheltenham and 
Gloucester.

Without continual investment in the skills of those entering the 
workforce and the upskilling/CPD of those already in the 
workforce, it is very unlikely that productivity and prosperity 
improvements will take place.

Additionally, to raise productivity and prosperity for all people 
in the County it is critical that infrastructure improvements are 
implemented within both transport and internet connections 
mitigating Gloucestershire’s geographical barriers. It is 
imperative that we increase the mobility and ability for 
communities and businesses to connect more easily; reducing 
travel, costs and increasing access to information and 
change.

The strategy needs to go further on inclusion and clearly 
define what is meant by ‘young people’ as well as ‘flexible 
working’. 

P
age 184



5

Need for more recognition of the diversity in the workforce and 
the potential of all workers, at a range of levels/abilities, 
especially young people and the ‘pool of overlooked’, through 
improved careers advice and encouragement of employers to 
recruit to the strengths of individuals rather than simply 
qualifications.  

Focus on cyber, but other sectors with significant cohorts of 
employees also have workforce development needs and/or 
are struggling to attract/retain staff  ie. care sector and NHS. 
Scope to cross reference some innovative good practice here 
ie. Proud to Care initiative    

Need for promotion of positive case studies of diversity in 
senior management to assist in broadening the reach of 
recruitment practices, plus the potential of strong working 
relationships between older and younger workers.

Use of broader definition of young people to recognise 
professionals and young families in 30-40 year age group, not 
just inferred 18-30s. Strengthen refs in Executive Summary 
also.

Travel to work challenges and trying to influence transport 
providers, yet delivering ’flexibility’ in the workplace will 
require application of tech/digital – need to move away from 
traditional view.      

References to ‘attracting and retaining young people’ imply 
bringing more into the County rather than nurturing young 
population already residing here. Suggest adding word 
‘develop’ also. 

P
age 185



6

BUSINESS 
ENVIRONMENT: Local 
leadership to turbo 
charge the business 
community to start, scale 
up, grow and adapt to 
thrive in a digital world

Grand Challenge 
alignment = AI and Data 
Economy

Recognising the vibrant and diverse local business base and 
strong start up culture, future proof the Growth Hub business 
support offering to prepare business for ‘digitalisation, the fourth 
industrial revolution’ to help boost productivity  

Launch year-long ‘Productivity Challenge’ and ‘Scale-up’ 
business campaigns

Promote international investment propositions for key sectors 
and increased export activity

Establish an Advanced Engineering/Manufacturing Business 
Park to support key businesses in these sectors as well as their 
supply chains

Improve access to finance for businesses, including ‘green 
finance’ aimed at reducing energy and waste and re-designing 
operational processes 

Lack of suitable industrial/employment land on which to 
develop businesses has been highlighted – we are awaiting 
the outcome of a commission currently underway on the  
available industrial/employment land across the county and 
will feed this into the LIS evidence base once completed

INFRASTRUCTURE: 
Green (clean) growth, 
modern transport choices 
and better digital 
connectivity where ever 
you live

Grand Challenge 
alignment = Future 
Mobility and AI and Data 
Economy

Emerging aspiration to develop a fully connected County through 
innovative transport solutions and digital connectivity, including 
exploring the potential to bring the two objectives together 
through a mass transport initiative between the urban centres of 
Gloucester and Cheltenham   

Attract and retain young talent through the provision of more 
affordable housing

Contribute to climate change/low carbon objectives/targets 
through the provision of more sustainable transport options, 
including active walking and cycling strategies/investment plans 
and demand responsive pilots

Work collaboratively with local business specialisms to position 
the County as an incubator for EV development and smart 

In terms of recent investments need to add reference to the 
North Cotswold Line Task Force activity to improve services 
between Moreton and Oxford/London.

Ref to 2015 Amey Rail Strategy needs updating (wording 
offered) and later refs to rail need to acknowledge 
opportunities to improve connectivity between the Forest of 
Dean, via Lydney and the Greater Bristol area.

Mass transport solution – suggest keep ‘method agnostic’ for 
time being until further options analysis undertaken.

Various references to the local plans of the different 
authorities could be improved by simply referring to the 
‘Statutory Development Plan’.

P
age 186



7

charging technology and commercial capabilities around heat 
decarbonisation, retrofit and fuel poverty  

Growth plans highlighting the opportunity to reinforce the 
potential of a Central Gloucestershire City region

Work with strategic transport bodies to enhance local and 
regional strategic road/rail connections, including the 
development of a Rail Investment Strategy

Realise the commercial economic potential of Gloucestershire 
Airport as one of the ‘greenest’ in the UK, operating at the 
forefront of green aviation technology and supporting a cluster of 
high value, knowledge intensive businesses 

Housing – opportunities to promote greater coherence in the 
strategy around key messages, particularly clean growth and 
the Circular Economy (3 sections of wording offered). 

Add point about a positive and supportive investment 
environment in which to secure the infrastructure and 
networks needed to deliver the Circular Economy, in particular 
the waste hierarchy, focused on resource efficiency, re-use, 
recycling and recovery.

Review refs to M4 access via South Glos – need to adjust and 
recognise relationship of A417 and how will link the emerging 
Central Gloucestershire City Region with the M4 and Thames 
Valley to help reinforce investment strategy for A417.

Refs to significance of M4 for Gloucestershire may need 
updating to ‘Western Powerhouse’.

Review refs to SNTBs to improve consistency.  

Need to promote strategy of building in accessible locations 
rather than relying on increasingly compromised transport 
solutions.

Ref to a single prioritised Infrastructure Plan, however need to 
acknowledge that public sector partners and the LEP have 
already collaborated to produce a County wide ‘Capital 
Investment Pipeline’ and work is underway, in collaboration 
with the SNTBs, to prioritise future major strategic transport 
investments. 

Worth noting significance of strategic infrastructure in 
underpinning all other functions (Ideas, Place, Business 
Environment)

P
age 187



8

Scope for more refs to walking and cycling and opportunities 
to influence behaviour, provide improved linkages to multi-
modal travel options and integrate with 
transport/community/employment hubs.

Refs to ‘door to door’ travel outdated – modern behaviour 
more about multiple trips and multiple destinations and so 
active travel responses need to accommodate this.   

Commitments to ‘greening’ travel could go further and 
promote the ‘greenest County and greenest commute’.

Review and consider building in Sustrans Bike Life principles - 
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/ to help promote cycling. 

PLACES: Something for 
everyone in a vibrant, 
green County  

Recognising the wealth of natural beauty, heritage/tourism 
assets, diversity and rich cultural base in the County, aim to 
achieve Tourism Zone status to increase value of tourism 
industry and address impacts of seasonality  

Existing growth plans highlight opportunity to create a Central 
Gloucestershire City Region and exemplar Garden Towns with a 
vibrant urban offering and well managed natural environment  

Potential of Gloucester to become established as one of the 
Country’s leading small cities and a magnet for young people, 
including support for the Gloucester City of Culture Bid 2025  

Work with the Health and Wellbeing Board to tackle health 
inequalities and social mobility challenges through ‘inclusive 
growth’, including ‘Active by Design’ principles 

Explore with relevant partners the potential economic 
development opportunities associated with the Great Western 

Whilst the Cotswolds AONB is correctly stated as the largest 
in the UK, there are two others in the County which should be 
acknowledged both in the text and on the maps. 

Add data regarding use of Cheltenham Rail Station for the 
National Hunt Festival by 65,000 people annually which 
equates to 130,000 actual rail journeys.

No reference to relationship with Wales – oversight ? M4 
collaboration needs to also reference emerging Western 
Powerhouse collaboration.

Section on tourism assets highlights the Cotswold AONB, but 
should also acknowledge Wye Valley and Malvern Hills 
AONBs. 

Ref to status of the Forest of Dean and fact that 95% of the 
population ‘still’ live in a rural environment’. Surely, this is a 
choice not a disadvantage – suggest rewording.

P
age 188

https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/


9

Powerhouse Review references to ‘keeping Gloucestershire 95% building 
free’ being at odds with an aspirational ‘growth’ document – 
suggest adjustment.    

Inclusive growth – needs to be more fundamental than purely 
a health initiative – suggest review.

Check coherence of this section as the aspiration for ‘Place’ is 
not clear. In support, would suggest moving section on 
inclusive growth and social mobility into ‘People’ foundation, 
leaving ‘Place’ to focus more directly on the role of anchor 
institutions as a further ‘asset’ to build upon alongside tourism, 
culture, City Region etc.       

General Observations

 Evidence/understanding of the demographics of the full spectrum of the wider employment base, not just young and old workers
 Maps – check rail journey times and station data; location of sub regional centres such as Birmingham, alignment of M5 routing and omission of   

Cardiff; add Wye Valley and Malvern AONBs; need for greater diversity in the photo images used
 Proofing/qualifying of the ambitious statements in the LIS Executive Summary – able to deliver? 
 Executive Summary – ref to UK Commission for Employment and Skills Paper statistic not clear (p16); Health and Well Being Strategy is incorrectly 

referenced and should refer to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 18/19 (p17); refs to ‘health community partners’ would read better as 
‘health, care and public sector partners’  

 

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

1

Please enter your details below:

Name:
The Council

Organisation:
Gloucestershire County Council

Date:
15th November 2019

Fill in this template and send to LIS@gfirstlep.com

Thank you for taking the time to read our Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire, which has been 
developed using extensive evidence and engagement with stakeholders.

We would love to hear your views – especially on the following five questions.

Please send your feedback to LIS@gfirstlep.com by 31st October 2019.

Consultation questions:

1. How well does this draft strategy represent the challenges, opportunities and priorities for raising 
productivity and prosperity in Gloucestershire?

PUBLIC HEALTH
Welcomes the references to both the health and wellbeing of the population (and its impact on 
Gloucestershire’s productivity and prosperity) – including where they are linked to the natural 
environment, agri-tech sector and infrastructure. The ambition set out on p83 to adopt and ‘active-by-
design-first’ is one we would support, although we would argue that planning healthy places shouldn’t be 
limited to active design but should also consider wider health impacts/benefits.

Also welcome are references to the benefits of social mobility and inclusive growth to ensure that 
everyone in the County has the opportunity to contribute to and benefit from a thriving economy. 
However, suggest that this could be better embedded as a thread throughout the document, rather than 
as a ‘bolt on’ or another priority in the Place section, where the prominence of inclusive growth and social 
mobility is really welcome but doesn’t have the narrative to explain to a reader unfamiliar with the 
concepts why it is relevant and important. 
To address this, could the document briefly refer to what inclusive growth and social mobility means in 
the context of cyber? (e.g. the positive link with Cyber Central’s neighbouring community on p28 could be 
really drawn out.) Could it refer to what it means in the context of agri-tech or to skills and flexibility?

There are other hooks throughout that could help embed this concept, e.g. referring to “the most flexible 
and inclusive place to work” on p8, to a diverse housing offer on p9 or in sections on education, training 
and skills for the cyber sector on p25.

Another way of addressing this could be to remove the section on inclusive growth and social mobility 
from the Place section and embed it within the People section. The Place section could then focus on the 
role of anchor institutions as an asset of Gloucestershire (see further suggestions under Q5) – this may 
also help with a clearer narrative within that section.

However, whilst there is a clear rationale for the emphasis on younger people in the document, the ageing 
population is positioned as a purely negative factor/driver, e.g. on p16. We believe this could be 
addressed without diluting the ambition and focus of the draft LIS on the magnet county concept by 
acknowledging the untapped potential of the older workforce and positioning them as an asset, e.g. in 

Page 191

mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com
mailto:LIS@gfirstlep.com


Appendix 2

2

skills and knowledge transfer and mentoring, and as beneficiaries of a more flexible working environment 
that enables them to work longer and to contribute to local productivity.

INTEGRATED DISABILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB

Overall the strategy is good, however and it would be useful  to see the strategy as a progressive 
document in terms of inclusivity. Recognising the opportunity to build something for the many young 
people who stay in Gloucestershire and who can be overlooked, we would summarise this as :-

 More recognition of the diversity of the workforce 
 Encouragement for employers to recruit to strengths of individuals rather than “qualifications”
 More investment in careers advice in schools – particularly around alternatives to University 
 Co-production with young people – what is it they want?
 Wider understanding of the employment demographic and consideration of other areas where 

opportunities do and will continue to exist
 Investment in areas of deprivation to encourage young people with significant challenges to 

participate in apprenticeships and employers to consider more entry level jobs to get people into 
the workforce and then build their skills

 More diverse representation in higher management roles to encourage participation from 
disadvantaged people

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE

Skills
The draft strategy adequately represents several of the main challenges of the county’s residents (ageing 
population, retention of our younger workforce, skills and investment) providing a structure to address 
the need for additional investment and growth opportunities.

Whilst referenced and evidenced in the ‘Five pillars evidence base’, there are significant public sector and 
health and social care sector recruitment and retention challenges in the county which the draft LIS does 
not directly address and which do impact on productivity and inclusion within Gloucestershire. GCC and 
District Councils have identified the following job roles where recruitment and/or retention is difficult, 
either because of salary and benefits competition with the private sector or where local authorities are 
competing with one another to attract/retain individuals with particular skill sets:
• Lawyers and solicitors
• Building control inspectors
• Planners, especially transport planners
• Accountants
• HR advisors (experienced)
• ICT specialists
• Data analysts
• Property managers
• Qualified social workers, especially children’s social workers
• Highways major projects managers and planners
• Housing officers
• Trading Standards officers

Given the infrastructure improvements and developments highlighted and proposed in the draft LIS, the 
ageing population in the county and the substantial predicted growth of the health and care sector, this 
places increasing strain on the public sector as it seeks to support and contribute positively to these 
changes. 

Considerable further analysis of the health and care sector in Gloucestershire has been carried out and 
the findings are available to support this response. A summary of the analysis and further figures from 

Page 192



Appendix 2

3

‘Burning Glass’ LMI tool have been incorporated into the GCC and GFirst LEP ‘Labour Market and Skills 
Review 2018/19’ (p. 86, 100-101) which can be made available alongside the GCC response to the LIS 
draft.

The references to social mobility and inclusive growth are welcomed but would be better embedded in 
the ‘people’ chapter of the LIS and feedback from within GCC and a range of education and skills providers 
in the county, emphasises the importance of having a strong intermediate level (level 2 and level 3) 
curriculum offer that will enable access to qualifications for people to enter the workforce and also act as 
‘stepping stones’ to higher level qualifications that will, potentially, have bigger impacts on productivity 
gains. Without these ‘stepping stones’ we won’t be able to develop effective progression pathways into a 
wide range of job roles required by businesses and organisations in the county. We therefore strongly 
support the idea of a digital skills partnership reporting into the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills 
Board (GESB or SAP) that could ensure effective planning, coordination and delivery of digital skills across 
the county, from the ‘digital citizen’ type skills of getting online and basic ICT through to specialised, L4+ 
courses in cyber-tech/cyber security. This will enable the focus on inclusiveness and well as productivity 
gains in terms of digital skills.

Whilst referenced in the draft LIS, apprenticeships need to be highlighted further as both a challenge and 
an opportunity as they represent very effective ways of improving local businesses’ and organisations’ 
capacity and productivity and of tackling the threats posed by large numbers of employees in the county 
reaching retirement age and leaving the workforce, so generating significant replacement demand. GCC 
can help significantly with this – see ‘skills’ answers to Qs 2, 5 and 6 and further insights/evidence 
generated for the GESB by GCC Skills and Employment Commissioning Team (referenced in the answer to 
Q 8).

Progression links for local schools, colleges and training providers to local universities (University of 
Gloucestershire, Hartpury University and the Royal Agricultural University) could all be strengthened and 
greater emphasis placed on each institution playing to its strengths and specialisms. We are conscious 
that all three institutions are seeking to serve a national (and to some extent, international) market for 
students but all three could further strengthen their links with local businesses and organisations to 
extend their work on such things as student placements, ‘live’ projects with employers and student 
employability and recruitment programmes in order to encourage graduates to stay on in Gloucestershire 
at the end of their studies, having formed strong bonds with local employers and having identified local 
career progression opportunities.

The geographical position of Gloucestershire, effectively between the ‘magnet’ cities of Bristol and 
Birmingham, impacts on the net loss of young people to other areas. This needs to be acknowledged in 
the LIS and linked effectively to the Vision 2050 proposals around Cheltenham and Gloucester.

Finally, there is also a need for an ‘implementation plan’ or similar document to clarify the specific actions 
that GFirst LEP and partner organisations, including GCC, need to take to ensure effective collaboration 
and delivery of the strategy and to prevent duplication of effort and limited resources.

Inclusive Growth
The issue of inclusive growth seems to be missed from the document; it is not just about working with 
health community partners, rather inclusive growth is about reversing poverty.  It should focus on 
improving living standards for all citizens especially those at the bottom not just boosting productivity.  It 
is about engaging people in economic growth by building on social infrastructure (homes, education, 
vocational skills).  It is a move away from GVA growth to the quality of GVA.  When considering inclusive 
growth it is important to consider how the local labour market functions, what the composition of local 
businesses is and how they operate.

Page 193



Appendix 2

4

Green
Concerns have been raised over some of the language used for ‘Green’ and the apparent inconsistencies 
between the need to maintain the status quo while moving towards the creation of a city region.

E.g.: establish Gloucestershire as a leader in sustainable growth by developing a baseline to determine 
how best to protect, maintain and enhance our natural capital assets
We are in the midst of a climate change emergency. We must ensure that our growth is not at the expense 
of our unique environment both locally, nationally and globally –

These statements do not seem to embrace sustainable growth but protect natural assets which could 
prevent future growth especially in the Green belt. Clarification is sought over those aspects of the 
environment where there truly is value i.e. AONBs  In addition, the recommendations regarding the 
designations in the Forest of Dean and Cotswold should be mentioned to show a degree of separation 
from the M5 growth corridor.

Some form of words should be included about supporting growth in highly accessible locations to take full 
advance of existing public transport corridors and reducing the need to drive i.e. sustainable growth

Transport
Managing transport demand to enable economy to grow (without congestion). Meeting the obligations 
arising from the climate emergency. Making sure Gloucestershire benefits from the data revolution which 
has a strong urban focus nationally.

Movement of goods from a transport perspective, more could be said about the reasons for reduced 
productivity. One of the key factors influencing productivity is connectivity, with congestion significantly 
reducing productivity. (According to Atkins estimates the costs of delays on roads in Gloucestershire in 
2005 were equivalent to £50m - £100m per year in GVA equivalence Atkins. 2008. Economic Costs of 
Congestion in the Regions)

Regarding prosperity for all, transport (or lack of accessible transport) is a key barrier for people accessing 
jobs and education. For those without access to a private car, bus services, walking and cycling are of 
utmost importance. People who use these modes engage in more active travel which improves mental 
and physical health and thus economic productivity.  Consideration for the movement of goods, 
considering the counties recognition as manufacturing and new market opportunities, including exports.  
What will the future movement of goods look like in a carbon neutral growth economy?

GCC welcomes the identification of a need for :
-              A mass-transit transport solution
-              Better cycle links
-              Rail projects
-              Innovative technology driven transport solutions. 

However, in order to truly provide an integrated transport offer to the people of Gloucestershire, the 
wider network of mass public transport (Bus and Rail) should not be overlooked. What is needed is a 
better overall network of public transport provision. The Gloucestershire LTP (currently under review) 
sets the long-term transport strategy for Gloucestershire up to 2031. It aims to influence how and when 
people choose to travel so that individual travel decisions do not cumulatively impact on the desirability of 
Gloucestershire as a place to live, work and invest.

It is important to note that we are still trying to understand what is required  to support opportunities and 
priorities for raising productivity and prosperity across some areas of work as we are still awaiting the 
outcome of several commissions currently underway;  these are: 

Page 194



Appendix 2

5

  Industrial Land Assessment Commission
Rail Commission
Housing Needs Assessment 
Fastershire Strategy Review
Mobile Connectivity Report
Port Access Study

We will continue to feed information into the LIS evidence base and refinement of the Strategy as it 
arises.

Ageing Society
As stated in the LIS Gloucestershire has an ageing population, with a 59% increase in the over-65 age 
group expected by 2040, growth not currently predicted to be matched by any other age group. This is our 
current skilled workforce and should be seen as an asset to the County. Can we not reference the 
opportunities this might present to us in relation to harnessing the transferable skills and experience 
these Gloucestershire residents have to offer?

2. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to attract and retain young 
people in Gloucestershire?

PUBLIC HEALTH
The supply of affordable housing is a clear potential barrier to the main focus of the draft LIS in becoming 
a magnet County. However, affordable housing is only mentioned in the document with direct reference 
to young people, e.g. p33 and p70 – ignoring the fact that this is a challenge for people of all ages and that 
there is an interrelationship across the local housing offer. This could be addressed whilst retaining 
reference to young people by softening the language, e.g. to refer to “affordable housing, including for 
young people”.
It is also clear that young people value what Gloucestershire has to offer, in terms of its natural 
environment and we would support the strong emphasis on the green agenda within the LIS, including in 
terms of its many benefits to the health and wellbeing of residents and the local workforce.

INTEGRATED DISABILITIES COMMISSIONG HUB
There is a pool of overlooked young people who may well have skills to offer at the level required but who 
need additional investment to help them overcome prejudice and raise their aspirations.  More needs to 
be explained at an earlier stage to identify what opportunities exist for young people and to encourage 
employers to play a major part in the curriculum/careers advice.   This is met in part with the Careers and 
Enterprise Company work through the LEP but it needs to grow and young people themselves need to tell 
us what they want to know. Flexible working environments are essential to accommodate the wider 
needs of a diverse and dynamic workforce, it is encouraging to see this mentioned but with no real 
demonstration as to how this can be achieved.

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Skills
Rather than one single most important aspect, there are several inter-related aspects of the draft LIS that 
need to be actively co-ordinated and delivered by local stakeholders: 

Page 195



Appendix 2

6

a) Sufficient and visible education and employment opportunities 
To attract and retain young people in Gloucestershire, it is critical that the county has sufficient education 
and employment opportunities for future generations and that these are visible to, promoted to and 
understood by young people. For example, many SMEs and the job roles within them are relatively 
‘invisible’ to many young people unless the school/college in which they are studying has a strong careers 
strategy with effective linkages to local businesses. We also need to ensure that young people are ‘work 
ready’ and have clearer progression pathways into local job roles and local businesses. This could be 
achieved through the adoption of a much improved employability programme within schools and colleges 
such as the programme developed through the ESF-funded ‘EDGE’ project and through the expansion of 
employer pledges and support across wider sectors such as digital, health, legal, social care and 
engineering. Whilst good progress has been made in recruiting enterprise advisers to work with schools 
and connect them better to local businesses and employers, there is still some evidence of schools with 
sixth forms, that are more reluctant to/less active in fully implementing the Baker clause and impartial 
careers support. This needs to be rectified to enable all Gloucestershire school students to fully 
understand the career options and progression pathways open to them, including apprenticeships, T-
levels, etc.

b) Closer matching of further, adult and higher education course offers with local employer needs
We need the courses and curricula offered within our local universities to be closely aligned with the 
needs of local employers. Whilst universities serve a national (and sometimes international) base of 
employers, closer and more effective links with local employers, including public sector organisations, 
would help retain graduates by highlighting and making tangible the links and career opportunities with 
local businesses. Sector pathways that are clear and easy to follow would help young people and their 
parents to decide on their subject option choices and their progression choices, whether staying on into 
sixth form, entering traineeships, apprenticeships, T-Levels, or higher education. 

c) Develop, extend and target our local apprenticeship offer
To enable us to attract/retain the younger people in Gloucestershire and build and cement their 
relationships with local employers, we need to be offering Higher Degree Apprenticeships across the 
larger organisations based in the county. Examples of such apprenticeships where there is evidence of 
demand include: Chartered Legal Executive; Civil Engineer; Cyber Security Technical Professional; District 
Nurse; Environmental Practitioner; Post Graduate Engineer; Post Graduate Teacher; Public Health 
Practitioner . These are all available now for delivery and whilst there is a huge demand for lower level 
apprenticeships across the sectors, these higher degree apprenticeships will attract people to undertake 
their degree whilst also not accruing the debt that the traditional university degrees bring with them. 
Most of the above apprenticeships would be covered by the Apprenticeship Levy and are around the 
£27,000 funding mark over the lifetime of the apprenticeship.

Greater focus should be placed on encouraging/requiring apprenticeship levy paying organisations 
transferring some of their levies out to local SMEs to support their uptake on apprenticeships. This 
approach saves the employer the 5% contribution they would usually have to pay towards the training 
costs. GCC is leading the way in the county by already doing this, with good uptake and supports £260k 
per year that otherwise would be lost back to Treasury. By challenging other levy-paying organisations to 
do the same, whilst providing advice on good practice and how to do this, GCC can play a strong 
leadership role in the expansion of apprenticeships in Gloucestershire.

To expand apprenticeship uptake in SMEs and provide them with support in their apprenticeship offering 
such as succession planning, best practice, managing providers/colleges, the creation and management of 
a group of consultative employer representatives from across the county is recommended. This group 
could be drawn from the employers in the county that are already delivering their own apprenticeship 
programmes effectively.

Page 196



Appendix 2

7

d) Housing that is affordable and accessible to young people
We also need to improve the availability of and access by young people to Gloucestershire’s affordable 
housing, particularly in areas such as the Cotswolds where property prices are high and to make sure that 
this affordable housing (along with the rest of the county) has high speed and reliable broadband to 
enable more flexible agile working from home and communal working places close to home. 

e) Improved public transport
Young people are often very reliant on public transport but the services, particularly in the rural areas of 
the county, are often too infrequent or arrive too late to enable young people to get to work/their place 
of study. We therefore need to invest in and improve public transport provision in Gloucestershire, 
especially rural parts of the county.

f) Raised aspirations
We need better interaction with Schools enabling us to raise aspirations of the next generation.

Magnet County
This strategy will embrace the continued promotion of Gloucestershire’s suitability and attractiveness to 
young families and professionals, particularly around the 30-40 age groups, and will build on the need to 
attract younger people to the local housing market and enable those aged 18-30 to more easily buy or 
rent property. This is the first time the report quantifies what is ‘young people’ This should be made 
clearer, especially in the executive summary and the constant references to young people.

Transport
Recognising the challenges. The next generation will want highly responsive transport – Mobility As A 
Service (MaaS). They will want clean air and streets that aren’t congested with motorised vehicles. We are 
on the cusp of a profound transport revolution. Gloucestershire will grasp this and show evidence of 
understanding this through how and where it develops and the innovations it enables in order to 
transform how and why we travel. Young people will not be following in their parents’ footsteps (or cars). 
They will embrace a world where quality of life and the environment are more closely understood and 
well delivered and they will choose (those that can) to live and work in those places – wherever they may 
be in the world. Talk to and listen to young people. Don’t assume they envisage a future anything like the 
present we have created.
From child to young adult there is an absolute need for LIS to put prioritisation in enabling residents 
(parents) and especially young people  to first be able to walk/cycle/and access Public transport – this is 
not apparent and would be good to be transparent across the whole strategy. It is also good to develop 
independence and socialisation. Many young people don’t have access to their own car. Some never will. 
Therefore investment in public transport walking and cycling is of key importance.
There also needs to be more transport support for the night time economy in order for young people to 
both work in it and take part in it. 
The quote that the survey of young people revealed that transport was their number one ‘worst thing 
about living in Gloucestershire’ is striking. Could GCC officers be provided with the full survey, please? 
Also, did the survey ask to specify this in a bit more detail, so that we can understand the statement a bit 
better?

Page 197



Appendix 2

8

3. What is the most important aspect of the draft strategy that we need to deliver to raise productivity and 
prosperity for all people in the county?

PUBLIC HEALTH
See comments on inclusive growth above.

INTEGRATED DISIBILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB
More recognition of the diversity of the workforce
Suggest a case study of where we have excelled in supporting inclusivity/integrated disabilities – there is a 
good case study in the Public Health Annual Report 2018/19: Healthonomics: tackling health inequalities 
through inclusive growth.

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Skills
Without continual investment in the skills of those entering the workforce and the upskilling/CPD of those 
already in the workforce, it is very unlikely that productivity and prosperity improvements will take place.

Additionally, to raise productivity and prosperity for all people in the county it is critical that infrastructure 
improvements are implemented within both transport and internet connections mitigating 
Gloucestershire’s geographical barriers. It is imperative that we increase the mobility and ability for 
communities and businesses to connect more easily; reducing travel, costs and increasing access to 
information and change.

We need fast and reliable broadband to facilitate more flexible working (e.g. from home) and online 
learning. 

Better transport connections are needed to enable those geographically isolated to access work 
opportunities in the more urban areas of Cheltenham and Gloucester (e.g. Forest of Dean and Cotswolds 
residents) and play a full role in the development of the cyber-tech sector and other growth/emerging 
sectors. Greater awareness and use of the Thinksmart travel scheme for apprentices would also help more 
people to access apprenticeships and develop their careers as they can access free (subsidised) bus travel 
(100 journeys). We also need to consider whether we can extend this scheme to enable free travel for the 
duration of their apprenticeships.

Transport and Green
Building in accessible locations is key to this and should be a fundamental component of green growth. It 
is unsustainable and unviable to rely on rural passenger transport or single occupancy car trips
We will need to work closely with sub-national transport bodies, including the Western Gateway and 
Midlands Connect,  to exploit strategic road and rail corridors, and develop innovative public transport 
solutions that include walking and cycling.
Please note that developing innovative public transport solutions that include walking and cycling, at this 
stage is picked up within the LTP
It would be good to get a much stronger element of inclusion into this. Realise that people with 
disabilities, both physical and hidden, require inclusive healthy space and may be deterred by transport 
networks which are congested and car dominant. Notice, some of the high tech industries are particularly 
dominated by people who may have disabilities. In addition, the ageing population means there is more 
need for Alzheimer aware designs/ spaces where people can work near family. People will also work for 
longer parts of their lives and will have more portfolio careers. The breadwinner will no longer ‘go off to 
work’ in a private car; the ability to integrate working life with family and caring will be increasingly 
valued. Parts of the country that show evidence of understanding how to build a genuinely inclusive 
economy are more desirable for all members of the community to live and work in. This is a dramatic 
determinant of loneliness and social deprivation levels and requires human centred living and working 
spaces. Note the growth of the care sector; consider integrating work space with housing; communal food 

Page 198



Appendix 2

9

growing; carbon free initiatives; embrace diversity and imaginative futures. The emerging LIS puts 
emphasis on the importance of flexible working opportunities in Gloucestershire. These will have to be 
met by flexible transport offers that enable people to access all areas of Gloucestershire, provide mode 
choice and flexibility in user patterns.

Digital Mobility
With its pioneering credentials for Broadband coverage of the County, Fastershire and the continued roll 
out of digital connectivity is a key aspect in raising productivity. The LIS embraces this objective well and 
recognises the importance for businesses and homes alike, offering flexible working opportunities and 
support for inclusivity.

4. How should we develop Gloucestershire’s Growth Hubs to help deliver the ambitions set out in the draft 
strategy?

PUBLIC HEALTH
No comments from public health

INTEGRATED DISIBILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB
No comments from Integrated Disabilities Commissioning Hub

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Skills
The Growth Hubs need to help businesses identify and tackle their recruitment and workforce 
development needs, including skills and continuing professional development. The Hubs could then use 
this information to help the Gloucestershire Employment & Skills Board (GESB/SAP) to commission and 
direct provision where and when it is needed by local businesses. 

The Growth Hubs could provide a channel for audits of and effective advice to businesses about how to 
improve their flexible working. This should focus on the benefits to the businesses of promoting and 
offering flexible working as well as the ‘how’ and links to businesses/organisations in the county that have 
already done so and made gains in recruitment for key roles or improved retention as a result.

The Growth Hubs also need to further strengthen partnership working between academia and businesses 
to innovate and grow and continue to provide opportunities for small businesses to try out new 
approaches and technologies (e.g. via the GCC Library Service’s innovation labs). 

The Growth Hubs should continue to make their services accessible across the county (e.g. by extending 
opening hours, where demand justifies this) and enable the multi-agency/partnership working that is a 
feature of the Tewkesbury Growth Hub.

Growth Hubs could consider introducing a Growth Hub employee ambassadors scheme to enable local 
employers to better understand the benefits and services offered by the Growth Hub and promote them 
internally to their fellow employees.

Each Growth Hub should have a travel plan. Each Growth Hub should also routinely provide travel 
information to all visitors and should be located at or near public transport hubs.

Ensure the Growth Hubs are centres of innovation. They should operate as effectively in a virtual sense as 
physically. They should be emblems of how we can live, work and travel in a modern environmentally and 
socially responsible way. They should excite and help deliver hope in a political climate of uncertainty and 
changing climate due to global warming. The Growth Hubs should showcase imaginative ways of working 
and travelling and not travelling.

Page 199



Appendix 2

10

5. Which aspect of the draft strategy could you or your organisation help us to deliver?
PUBLIC HEALTH
The draft strategy makes reference to working with “health community partners” – as anchor institutions 
with considerable employment and purchasing power and estates, they are key partners and this 
acknowledgement is welcome. Public Health colleagues within GCC can support with this relationship to 
help ensure it is an effective one and maximising benefits for a thriving and inclusive local economy.

INTEGRATED DISIBILITIES COMMISSIONING HUB
No comments from Integrated Disabilities Commissioning Hub

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Transport Infrastructure
Skills
Aspiration and increased inclusion: 
GCC’s Adult Education Service can support this priority by continuing to engage and support those 
communities that have traditionally been ‘hard to reach’ and where levels of aspiration and achievement 
are low. We can also support by ensuring that our accredited courses are aligned to the local labour 
market information, as well as expanding our work with local employers to identify opportunities for our 
learners.
Through our commissioning of external providers, GCC Skills and Employment commissioning team works 
with a number of sub-contracted provider partners in the county who have an effective track record with 
and reach into ‘hard to reach’ communities and disadvantaged groups.

Libraries and library service staff are very well integrated into local communities, including in some of the 
rural and other communities in the county where other services are relatively limited because of 
geography or for reasons of social exclusion. GCC’s libraries and library service can continue to act as 
outreach points into the areas that are not so well connected where we can provide training (possibly 
through Adult Ed) and build on the excellent work of the Innovation Labs particularly in respect to 
supporting SMEs and in cyber, digital and IT skills training.

Delivering the skills needed by local businesses: 
GCC’s Adult Education in Gloucestershire (AEiG) can contribute as a learning provider to ensuring that 
“Gloucestershire’s education and training system meets the skills demands of local businesses”. Through 
the flexible nature of it’s community learning and skills offer, it can also be very responsive to local 
community and employer needs. As an employer, GCC can build and strengthen our own contribution, 
e.g. through recruiting and retaining young people, developing effective flexible (agile) working, etc. 

Apprenticeships:
GCC can continue to take a lead role in the county in promoting and enabling Apprenticeship Levy 
transfer, especially to SMEs in priority sectors and in developing and sharing good practice such as 
through its existing apprenticeship programme where apprentices ‘rotate’ across a number of different 
work teams in GCC in order to develop a broader set of skills and experience. This model could be further 
promoted to and developed with SMEs that would not have the capacity to do this but which could still 
offer apprenticeship opportunities, if delivered in partnership.

Adult Education in Gloucestershire (AEiG) could: a) increase delivery volumes of SME Apprenticeships and 
b) increase delivery of all programmes and qualifications to offer structured programmes that align with 
countywide skills demands and improve career pathways into Higher Education.

Support for and implementation of the GESB/SAP priorities
GCC supports the strategic direction, administration and data analysis functions of the GESB/SAP, with 
three members of staff involved in these aspects of its operation.

Page 200



Appendix 2

11

5.a. What could you do?
PUBLIC HEALTH
Public Health colleagues within GCC can provide facilitated access to a system of ‘anchor 
institutions’ in the health and care sector, e.g. via the Health & Wellbeing Board and the 
Integrated Care System (ICS). As a system, Public Health are working to develop our ‘offers’ to the 
LEP and the implementation of the LIS relating to skills, employment, the workplace, procurement, 
infrastructure and research and our ‘asks’ to enable us to work effectively towards supporting the 
aims of the LIS.
Our intention is that this helps to articulate some real and tangible actions that support the 
ambition of a magnet county.

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Transport 
Are able to produce guidance (LTP) / seek and secure external and government funding to deliver 
multi modal and exciting transport projects. We also fund and access significant evidence data 
bases which help understand many issues such as congestion projections/ social attitudes/ the 
effects of development on the transport network/ the effects of subsidy (and other stick as and 
carrots)/ mosaic analysis of where smarter choices will recoup best returns etc. GCC welcomes the 
mentioning of its emerging LTP. Officers feel that the emerging LIS aligns well with the objectives 
and ambitions set out in the emerging LTP.

Skills
Aspiration and increased inclusion: 
GCC’s Adult Education Service will continue to deliver targeted and tailored learning provision to 
hard-to-reach groups and communities across the county, making sure that effective information, 
advice and guidance on progression and employment opportunities are embedded to help raise 
aspirations and enable progression into work or further/higher education.

As a major local employer, GCC could increase the number of staff who contribute to raising 
aspirations of students in the county’s schools and colleges by volunteering to become enterprise 
advisers to work with schools/colleges on their careers strategies and links with local employers, 
for programmes such as mentoring, practice interviews and young entrepreneurs and to continue 
to identify talent and encourage career progression of young people entering the GCC workforce.

Delivering the skills needed by local businesses: 
GCC can continue to provide detailed analysis of the local and national employment and skills 
‘landscape’ and ‘levers’ to enable provision to be directed to local need (e.g. skills capital funding, 
devolved or locally co-ordinated Adult Education Budget, etc.) Please reference the GCC and GFirst 
LEP ‘Labour Market and Skills Review 2018/19’.

5.b. What support would you need?
PUBLIC HEALTH
In order to contribute effectively, the channels of communication would need to be open and 
constructive and enable collaborative working across public and private sectors.

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Transport         
 Funding/ A voice / Consultation/ Recognition of the key role of transport and the extent to which 
transport professionals can support delivery of the LIS. In order to deliver the ambitions set out in 
Gloucestershire’s Local Transport Plan, funding bids are a significant funding source for transport 

Page 201



Appendix 2

12

infrastructure investment in Gloucestershire. A strong alignment of emerging policy documents in 
Gloucestershire, such as the LIS, the LTP, Local Plans, Gloucestershire’s energy strategy as well as 
the emerging climate change strategy will strengthen any bid that is put forward and ensure that 
all partners can unite behind making the case to invest in Gloucestershire. The parts of the country 
where innovative and ground breaking transport schemes are driving the local economy are 
supported by this type of strong relationship.

Skills
GCC’s Adult Education Service would appreciate the following support:

• More in-depth information around labour market information, that comes in a readable 
format that doesn’t take a lot of analysis and improved access to county-wide curriculum 
and employment data from the Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Board (GESB) or 
SAP.

• Better working relationships/partnerships with local colleges and universities where by we 
support each other rather than working against each other, aligning progression routes for 
learners allowing them the opportunity to access all levels of education

• Greater strategic representation and ongoing engagement with key stakeholders. 
• Structured review of linkages with and progression opportunities for residents into  local 

colleges and HE providers e.g. Hartpury University, University of Gloucestershire, College 
Royal Agricultural University, Gloucestershire College, Cirencester College, South 
Gloucestershire and Stroud College This should include a strategic overview including; 
delivery aims, outcomes and learner destinations to fully shape our county’s delivery.

5.c. Do you have any additional insights or evidence to support the action needed?

COMMUNITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE
Transport
Transport is possibly the most important factor in how the economy expands and shapes in 
Gloucestershire. So much is understood now about the need for active travel; clean green space 
for mental and physical health; innovation and diversity. The ‘male pale stale’ view of providing 
more car parks and more car based travel is dated and no longer serves any part of the country 
which wants to stand out as a beacon of economic progression.

Skills
Data and analysis of employment and skills across Gloucestershire:
The GCC and GFirst LEP ‘Labour Market and Skills Review 2018/19’ has been prepared by the Skills 
and Employment Commissioning Team in GCC and provides the data analysis required for the 
transition of the GESB into a SAP as well as underpinning evidence on employment and skills that 
goes beyond and into more detail than that provided in the ‘Five pillars’ evidence base. This will be 
used by the GESB/SAP to inform employment and skills investment and actions in the county.

Data and analysis of the health & social care workforce needs across Gloucestershire:
The attached integrated workforce report ‘One Gloucestershire: Gloucestershire Workforce – data 
pack, July 2019’ gives a detailed overview of the importance, impact and actions around the 
health and social care workforce in the county.

In terms of the skills demand for particular job roles and skills in demand in the health and care 
sector, please see the attached report (which includes data up to February 2019 – the latest 
information release). This tool is being further developed by DWP, the ‘Examine a Place’ team and 
the DfE Skills Advisory Programme team in collaboration with local authorities and LEPs.

Page 202



Appendix 2

13

GCC Adult Education links with other providers:
As an established OFSTED Good-rated provider, Adult Education in Gloucestershire possesses an 
excellent proven track-record working with businesses and residents throughout Gloucestershire 
supporting Gloucestershire County Council’s key priorities. Although successfully achieved, our 
offer and delivery could be more closely aligned with other county providers. To truly grow and 
achieve its ambitions of raising productivity and prosperity in Gloucestershire, the GESB/SAP 
needs to further support increased collaborative working and insight opportunities with all 
training providers as part of the county’s education roadmap to success.

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2a

1

The Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire Consultation Feedback 
from Gloucestershire County Council

Technical Comments and Suggested Amendments

The following are suggested amendments where officers felt that alternative wording 
or corrections were more technically correct. These have been listed under the 
appropriate headings, however, should further clarity be required please contact 
either Claire Edwards or Sandie Donaldson.

MAGNET COUNTY

Page 16, the statistic that is referred to from the UK Commission for Employment and Skills 
paper isn’t clear – is it saying that people are leaving through retirement at a higher rate of 
new jobs becoming available? 

Page 17, the Health & Wellbeing Strategy is referenced but the statement actually refers to 
the Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018/19

There are a few references to working with “health community partners” and these are very 
welcome. However, this could be amended to either “health, care and public sector partners” 
or to “partners working in the health and care system”.

GREEN

Page 33 | Affordable, sustainable ‘green’ housing; 3rd Paragraph;

The current paragraph wording would benefit from changes to clearly show to readers of the 
LIS how it is coherent and joined-up with well-establishing, active policy initiatives and 
applicable standards that are already being enforced with new development. A suggested 
revision could read:-  ‘…These will be sustainable settlements that: - meet the nationally 
recognised Building with Nature benchmark (developed in Gloucestershire) for green 
infrastructure; will embed the principles of the circular economy; deliver affordable, inclusive 
and sustainably-designed eco-friendly homes that promote healthy lifestyles; improve 
connectivity and increase active travel; and protect and bring about improvements to our 
natural assets’   

Page 33 | Final Paragraph;

As explained above for the 3rd paragraph of Affordable, sustainable ‘green’ housing, 
opportunities to champion well–established, active policy initiatives such as support for the 
transition to the circular economy, should be taken. A suggested revision could read as 
follows: - ‘…We will act as champions for research and development to encourage the 
necessary change of mind-set to achieve a cleaner and greener Gloucestershire which has 
successfully transitioned to the circular economy. This will be achieved through delivering 
new housing, commercial development and supporting infrastructure, and the upgrading of 
the built environment – particularly the retrofitting of existing housing stock. Established 
sustainable construction policy commitments contained in Gloucestershire’s county and 
district local plans will be supported and practice guidance as exemplified by Stroud District 

Page 205



Appendix 2a

2

Council’s “Sustainable Construction & Design Checklist and the County Council’s “Waste 
Minimisation in development Projects’ Supplementary Planning Document will be promoted.’

Page 39 | we want to…;

The bullet point covering the ‘circular economy’ would benefit from a bit of re-working as it 
isn’t currently capturing the challenge for the LIS and other key partners over the coming 
years. It should ideally headline the key measures and mechanisms that will need to be 
employed. This is important to ensure readers are in little doubt about what is understood by 
the term ‘circular economy’ and where we are with its implementation. Delivering a circular 
economy is described as a ‘key challenge’ and ‘requiring a fundamental step change’ in the 
functioning of the economy. A suggested revision to the bullet point could read as follows: -  
‘…support the transition to the circular economy throughout Gloucestershire that will deliver 
a step change in resource efficiency, more rapid innovation to keep products and materials 
at their highest use for as long as possible and an uplift in preventing and minimisation the 
amount of waste generated.’

On p. 35of draft LIS – with transport contribution to in excess of 40% of all CO2 emissions in 
Gloucestershire being transport related, reducing road based CO2 emissions need to be 
listed as one of the actions to reduce Gloucestershire’s reliance on fossil fuels. 

p. 38: the engagement about clean public transport methods should not only be with regional 
partners, but also with local partners, such as GCC

The total of Growth Deal related investment in transport infrastructure since 2015 was in 
excess of £37m, unlocking a total investment in transport infrastructure of more than £50m in 
growth deal funded schemes with a further £24m Growth Deal investment in transport 
infrastructure planned until 2021. The monetary and other benefits created for 
Gloucestershire though this investment significant and it is hoped that future close 
cooperation will continue to deliver for Gloucestershire

 It is good that infra-structure is a core function – however like Transport/ Thinktravel – 
infrastructure underpins all the other core functions of ideas, places and business 
environment - with people at the centre.

There is no real mention of walking/only a slight mention of cycling. Suggested additional 
text   ‘better walking and cycling links and connectivity to enabling more people to actively 
travel for more of their daily journeys”

 It would be prudent to include: “ e-bikes can play a pivotal role in emerging technology and 
can change travel behaviour to increase connectivity and extend frequency and average trip 
distances under pedal power for business commuter and leisure by 2-4x plus”  This distance 
opening up increased connections between rural and urban communities and access to 
employment and growth from new and existing communities – but also widening multi-modal 
options for connecting to high frequency trains/buses etc.   

 Linked to above and multi-modal connections – If a target  could be in here to include better 
cycle links and accessibility to bikes i.e. cycle hire scheme across the county at key 
transport/community/employment hubs 

Page 206



Appendix 2a

3

Potential to Include and highlight more the key function of integrated travel hubs – which 
could use innovative access to information to enable smarter greener travel

Door-door- needs to extend to multiple trips and multi-modal options – young people or 
families in modern society rarely travel door to door - home – to work – their travel behaviour 
tends to amount to multiple trips to multiple destinations – and accessibility to sustainable 
and active travel needs to match this. 

Opportunity to match Infrastructure to making the county the greenest – ‘greenest county 
greenest commute’ – and use the principles of GI to embed across all aspects of economic 
& residential growth.

All new infrastructures should be green infrastructure

Would like to see if the LEP, as part of the LIS Gloucestershire, conduct similar surveys to 
the ‘Sustrans Bike Life reports’ which could extend to all forms of sustainable transport 
potentially. https://www.sustrans.org.uk/bike-life/

IDEAS

Page 49 we want to…;

Whilst the focus here is on Agri-tech matters, the paragraph that references the ‘healthy 
circular economy’ may benefit from a revision to ensure readers of the LIS are not confused 
as to what is being supported.  It is not clear what a ‘healthy circular economy in food and 
farming’ is and whether it is different to the government’s wider ambitions to deliver a 
‘circular economy’? Also, is there an opportunity being missed here to show how the LIS is 
hooking up to the Government’s strategic ambitions expected in the forthcoming Agriculture 
Bill…? A suggested revision could read as follows: - ’By transitioning to the circular economy 
through food and farming, our aim is to make Gloucestershire a leader in building natural 
capital, improving food security and driving-up efficiency, reducing food-relates illness and 
contributing to the fight against climate change.’     

PEOPLE

There is a lack of clarity about what the LEP mean by “young people” – whilst the LEP may 
wish to avoid defining this too strictly, this will be subject to very different interpretation by 
the audience, so some clarity may be helpful. The ordering of “attract and retain” used 
throughout the document also implies that the primary intention is to bring young people in to 
Gloucestershire, rather than to ensure young people here are given opportunities to learn 
and develop skills that are needed by local business sectors and secure good quality jobs 
here. A suggested alternative might be “develop, attract and retain”.

Page 55 There could also be a clearer definition of or narrative for “flexible working”, e.g. on 
p55. This can mean a range of things to different people (everything from the ability to work 
from home through to 3-4 day weeks, portfolio careers, etc.) – what is and isn’t in scope? Or 
is part of our strategy to work on this?

Page 207



Appendix 2a

4

INFRASTRUCTURE

Page 67 – The current landscape - Some of the train times seem slightly high/low.

Gloucester to Cardiff can be achieved in 1:05 mins 

Moreton to Worcester – 39 mins 

Moreton to Oxford – 38 mins 

Cam and Dursley – 35 mins 

Perhaps Kemble to London (1hr 15 mins) and Lydney to Bristol Temple Meads (1hr 36 mins) 
should be added to the map as these bare important commuter routes. The station data 
needs referencing and dating.

Page 69 – Recent Investment - An additional bullet point should be added:  Supporting the 
North Cotswold Line Task Force in improving services between Moreton in Marsh and 
Oxford/London.

Rail Study – The paragraph needs updating as the 2015 Amey Rail Study has, to some 
extent, been superseded.  Suggest: Gloucestershire County Council with support from 
GFirst LEP and the district councils have commissioned a Rail Investment Strategy for 
Gloucestershire.  This will establish the economic value of county rail routes and provide the 
evidence base to prioritise future investment on the rail network.  It will also inform 
sustainable transport options for existing and proposed new large scale development 
identified in local plans.

P.69 recent investment: Not clear, why this section refers to the Connecting Places 
strategies, only, not to the whole LTP. Also: the list of recent transport investments includes 
a number of schemes that have not happened yet (A46 alignment, Motorway junction 
upgrades, WCTIS, etc.). There is also some recent investment to future investments missing 
from this list. Please get back to GCC transport officers to ensure that the list either includes 
all of the recent transport investment, or all of the transport investment that is likely to come 
forward in the future. 

Page 70 | Housing, 2nd Column, 2nd paragraph bullet points;

There is a good opportunity here to demonstrate coherence within the LIS around its key 
supporting messages – particularly clean growth and the circular economy. As such the 
bullet-points that make reference to waste management matters and pioneering initiatives 
would benefit from a bit of reworking. A suggested revision to the 2nd bullet point could read 
as follows: - ‘- meaningfully contribute to delivering the circular economy, improving energy 
efficiency and the uptake of green energy solutions, and;’ A suggested revisions to the 3rd 
bullet point could read as follows: - ‘ – act as a national pioneer, piloting innovative and 
technologically advanced clean and green design approaches within new construction.’  

Page 208



Appendix 2a

5

Page 70 | Housing, 2nd Column, 4th Paragraph;

There is another opportunity to demonstrate coherence within the LIS around its key 
supporting messages – particularly clean growth and the circular economy. A suggested 
revision could read as follows: - ‘This will require collaboration by all of the county’s local 
authorities to ensure future homes are resource and energy efficient, digitally connected and 
future-proofed. Work to support this is already underway.

Page 71 Smart charging the EV Super Highway’ scheme needs to be explained

Page 73 | what we need…, 2nd Column, last-bullet point (single prioritised infrastructure 
plan);

The reference to the proposed SoCG should add the following bullet point: - ’support the 
transition to the circular economy.’  

Page 73 Mass transit transport solution

This section might need amending to remove reference to Guided Busways as I don’t think 
the EoI states a preference for a particular technology at the moment.  The EoI is keeping 
options open in terms of what type of system would be employed

Page 73a single prioritised Infrastructure plan 

This should refer to seven planning authorities not districts.

Reference to the seven local plans needs clarifying as the Development Plan for 
Gloucestershire consists of the:

• Joint Core Strategy (Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury) 

• Current adopted local plans for Cheltenham, Tewkesbury & Gloucester

• Local plans for Cotswold, Forest and Stroud, 

• Minerals Local Plan, 

• Waste Core Strategy, part of the former Waste Local Plan,

It would be simpler to just refer to the Statutory Development Plan for Gloucestershire which 
covers the six districts and GCC.

Page 74 talks about the development of a cycle strategy. This should build on the work GCC 
is doing with its Local Cycle and Walking Investment Plans. We have cycle strategies – both 
national and local. We have important major local industries lobbying for better cycle routes. 
We need the commitment to their delivery.

Page 74 | what we need…

Page 209



Appendix 2a

6

For reasons of consistency with other changes suggested concerning the circular economy, 
the bullet point on page 74 may benefit from a little reworking. However, it is not clear 
whether it is meant to be transport-focused in line with the other bullet-points around it? The 
assumption has been made this isn’t the case. A suggested revision could read as follows: - 
‘A positive and supportive investment environment in which to secure the infrastructure and 
networks needed to deliver the circular economy. This should build upon existing good 
practice in place across our industries, and align with wider, cross-cutting ambitions to drive 
forward the waste hierarchy – particularly focused on achieving greater resource efficiency, 
encouraging more re-use, and maximised opportunities for recycling and recovery.’

'A resilient transport network that enables sustainable economic growth by providing door to 
door travel choices' (LTP Vision)

Gloucestershire's LTP has been updated to support delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan, 
the emerging Local Plans and, where possible, maximise the opportunity for further levels of 
investment as they become available for transport within the county.  It also enhances the 
ability of County Council officers to successfully negotiate with developers to secure 
infrastructure associated with emerging developments

Page 74 –Rail Strategy 

A fourth bullet should be added: Improve connectivity between the Forest of Dean via 
Lydney station and the Greater Bristol Area

• Improve connectivity between the Forest of Dean via Lydney station and the greater Bristol 
area.

Page 78 – please check locations of centres on map (Birmingham is not correct and the link 
should following the M5) + add Cardiff

Page 79 - The Forest of Dean District is a Defra R80 classified area, in which 95% of its 
population still live in a rural environment. – remove the word still as this implies they haven’t 
been able to move instead of choosing to live somewhere

Page 79 - Tourism - Whilst the Cotswolds is the largest AONB in Gloucestershire there are 
two others – Wye Valley and Malvern Hills.  Whilst the latter is only a very small area the 
Wye Valley covers a larger area to the west of the county and being the birthplace of modern 
tourism and the’ picturesque movement’ should be mentioned.  The map should include 
Malvern Hills and Wye Valley AONBs. Approx. 65,000 people use the station during the 
National Hunt Festival.  This would equate to 130,000 actual rail journeys.

Page 80 – Local Plans 

As discussed above this needs clarifying.  The Joint Core Strategy is an overarching 
planning document covering Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury.  I don’t think 
Gloucester City have an actual adopted local plan.  For Tewkesbury and Cheltenham some 
of their adopted local plan policies have been ‘saved’ but are somewhat dated.  All three 
JCS authorities are progressing their respective local plans but are not adopted at the 
moment as they have had to wait for the JCS to be adopted.  The Forest of Dean doesn’t 
have an adopted local plan but have an adopted Core Strategy, Allocations Plan and Area 
Action Plan. They are at the early stages of LP production. 

Page 210



Appendix 2a

7

GCC has an adopted and emerging Minerals LP and Waste Core Strategy.

To avoid all this rather complicated, tedious and technical planning discussion something 
that refers to the Statutory Development Plan for Gloucestershire providing the framework 
for future growth discussed in the LIS might be simpler.

Looking beyond the county – references to the M4 access being via South Glos – the A417 
links the Central Gloucestershire City Region to the M4 and Thames Valley – the omission of 
this corridor at a time when we are making a case for the A417 Missing Link seems short 
sighted.

There is inconsistencies with references to the Sub-National Transport Bodies – please note 
that GGC as a member of the Western Gateway and the G:First LEP through the Western 
Gateway’s Transport and Business Forum – through this they would be able to influence 
Sub-national polices/ priorities.  The links to Midlands Connect are not so strong other than 
being a partner on the A46 Partnership group

PLACE

The Place section doesn’t read as a very coherent section at the moment – although all of 
the elements are important, it reads like a collection of topics, rather than as a clear 
aspiration for the place. From a health perspective, should  the section on inclusive growth 
and social mobility could be moved into the People section and the Place section focus on 
the role of anchor institutions as one of Gloucestershire’s assets to build on, alongside 
tourism, culture, the city region, etc.

Page 82 it needs to be made clear, that growth needs to be allocated in sustainable 
locations, to enable access with sustainable modes

Gloucestershire's LTP has been updated to support delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan, 
the emerging Local Plans and, where possible, maximise the opportunity for further levels of 
investment as they become available for transport within the county.  It also enhances the 
ability of County Council officers to successfully negotiate with developers to secure 
infrastructure associated with emerging developments.

We want

To preserve the county’s deeply rural environment, we want to keep Gloucestershire at least 
95% building-free. In total, less than 3% of the total land in the county has been built on, 
highlighting how rural the county is, whilst revealing an opportunity for further use of the 
county’s land to unlock sites for future housing and employment. This statement should be 
reworded as it contradicts the Growth agenda and the proposed city region

GENERAL COMMENTS ON DOCUMENT OVERALL

Practically, the ‘diversity’ of the Gloucestershire population is not really addressed in the 
pictures included.  There were very few pictures of ‘older people’ although they are 
mentioned throughout the document as being important.  Only one picture containing people 
from minority ethnic groups is included, a picture of an RAU event page 51– in which case 

Page 211



Appendix 2a

8

they may have been students.  Almost all pictures contain young white people and certainly 
none with an obvious disability.

Also whilst the document does look very professional, a lot of the text is rather small even on 
the general text pages.  This is perhaps difficult to read for some people and the pages 
where there is small white text out of a very dark background (dark blue or green) are 
particularly tiring to read.

.

Page 212



1

Community and Infrastructure 
Shire Hall 

Gloucester
GL1 2TH 

20th November 2019
colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

01452 328470

Katie Jenkins, Director of Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy
GFirst LEP,
The Growth Hub, 
Oxstalls Campus, 
Oxstalls Lane, 
Gloucester 
GL2 9HW

Dear Katie 

The Draft Local Industrial Strategy for Gloucestershire
Consultation Feedback from Gloucestershire County Council

Thank you for consulting Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) on the above 
matter. Having consulted with Members and officers of the Council, I have the 
following comments to make:  

The Draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) has been well 
received by GCC and we would like to thank GFirst LEP for the opportunity for 
GCC officers, from our Communities and Infrastructure Team, to work with 
you on the preparation of the LIS and for the wider GCC departments to have 
the opportunity to comment on this first draft.

Whilst the Council Leader and LEP Board Member, Cllr Hawthorne, has 
openly expressed the view that the Local Industrial Strategy could be even 
more aspirational, in general, Members are pleased to see how our own GCC 
Strategic Plans and Polices are embedded into the LIS, as an important 
foundation. For example:

Gloucestershire Looking to the Future 2019-2022 Council Strategy

Zero Carbon versus push for Growth and a Green Gloucestershire. Ultimately, 
we want all of our residents to have the best start in life and go on to become 
engaged and active members of their communities. 

Page 213

mailto:colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

However, we are also fully committed to the climate change agenda and duly 
recognise the need for balance in delivering services and forward planning 
future investments, hence the aim is to enable this in as sustainable a way as 
possible. To this end, the Council has already reduced its own carbon 
emissions by 60%, in the last few years and will continue to challenge itself 
and work collaboratively with key stakeholders to take further steps towards 
becoming carbon neutral.

Heath and Wellbeing Strategy

GCC has an obligation to work to raise living standards for all, but especially 
our more deprived dependent and isolated residents. Consequently, the 
Council remains fully committed to securing the benefits of sustainable, high 
quality inclusive economic growth for local people and communities, enabling 
local people to build and nurture strong social networks and vibrant 
communities and improve the quality, affordability, availability and suitability of 
housing. To this end, a consultation response from the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board has been submitted directly, reinforcing such aims and 
highlighting opportunities for collaboration in delivering the LIS, including an 
interesting ‘anchor institution offer’. 

Fastershire Strategy 2019-2022

With significant GCC capital investment and a forward thinking strategy we 
will continue to strive to ensure we have the best digital connectivity across 
the County. As a result, Gloucestershire is particularly strong and distinctive in 
its full fibre coverage across the County, particularly in our more rural areas, 
which is a valuable platform for the future and for enabling delivery of the 
digital aspirations of the LIS, especially. To date, Phase 1 of the Fastershire 
strategy has provided approximately 90% of the homes and businesses 
across Herefordshire and Gloucestershire with access to superfast broadband 
and speeds of 30Mbps or above. Over the next two years, Phase 2 of the 
project’s strategy will increase total superfast coverage to around 98%, as it 
seeks to provide faster broadband to premises that were not covered by 
Phase 1 or commercial rollout.

Commitment on Employment and Skills

Over the next ten years there will be significant growth in new housing and 
associated infrastructure. It is vital therefore that we have a local workforce 
that can respond to the needs of our local businesses with particular focus on 
skills in STEM, Construction, Design, Teaching, and  the Public Sector 
workforce in particular for Health and Care  to support our growing County. 
Businesses and young people need the right opportunities and skills in order 

Page 214



3

to create and retain jobs. Working with local partners, Gloucestershire County 
Council has been aspiring to raise the level and increase the range of skills 
available to young people and help young people develop the skills employers 
are looking for with a particular commitment to increasing apprenticeship 
opportunities. 

Energy Strategy and Emerging Climate Change Strategy

A key focus for GCC, echoed by the County’s residents, is to maintain and 
enhance our natural environment.  GCC has committed to safeguard the 
County’s natural landscape and environment for future generations with a 
pledge to embed local green infrastructure into thinking and planning for 
future development and regeneration with a pioneering Action Plan that:

 Commits the Council to working towards an 80 per cent reduction in the 
council`s corporate carbon emissions no later than 2030, striving towards 
100 per cent with carbon offsetting by the same date.

 Commits the council to following the scientific advice of the Committee on 
Climate Change, and deliver a carbon neutral county by 2050, and work 
with partners to identify what measures would be needed to deliver a 
stepped target of 80 per cent carbon reduction by 2030 to reflect the 
intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) report on climate 
change.

 Following public consultation we are refining our emerging plans to 
support a major commitment to plant one million trees over the plan 
period, a commitment to a reduction in emissions targets and working 
with partners to ensure we embrace a circular economy.

As part of our work to ensure we have the evidence to support our claims 
within the Glos LIS, some very innovative and groundbreaking evidence of 
“green” local businesses, particularly in construction, has been discovered. It 
would be good to see some of these used as case studies within the LIS.

Local Transport Plan 

Ensuring our residents can be well connected to access places they need to, 
whether for work, services or leisure, we want to ensure strong connectivity 
across our County. We envisage that the next generation will want highly 
responsive transport – Mobility As A Service (MaaS). They will want clean air 
and streets that aren’t congested with motorised vehicles. We are on the cusp 
of a profound transport revolution. Gloucestershire will grasp this challenge  
as embedded in the LTP and seek evidence of this through how and where it 
develops and the innovations it enables, in order to transform how and why 
we travel.

Page 215



4

The LTP Review aims to influence how and when people choose to travel so 
that individual travel decisions do not cumulatively impact on the desirability of 
Gloucestershire as a place to live, work and invest.

The strong correlation between these LTP ambitions and those outlined in the 
LIS is welcomed and this will strengthen Gloucestershire’s position to secure 
infrastructure funding and implement our ambitious transport vision.

Vision 2050 

Gloucestershire’s local environment including quality countryside, towns and 
cities, and built heritage, is important. There is widespread appreciation of the 
local environment and concern for its protection. 

GCC’s Vision 2050 has set out a number of ambitions that we see strongly 
embedded within the draft LIS:

A magnet County - attracting more 18-40 year olds with high level 
qualifications, who want to live and work in the county.
An innovative County - with more businesses starting up, growing, and 
investing in research and innovation.
A skilled County - more people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled 
occupations.
A prosperous County - rising productivity and household income, offering 
higher living standards. 
An inclusive County - economic and social benefits of growth to be felt by 
all.
And finally A healthy, happy County - people to have a good work/life 
balance and to see improved health and wellbeing.

All of these vital GCC strategic aims embedded within the LIS will ensure that 
our Gloucestershire residents can be confident of a place to Live, Work, Learn 
and Enjoy our County. It is also vital that all Gloucestershire residents are 
supported in the aims and ambitions of the Gloucestershire LIS and as stated 
in the National Industrial Strategy:

“We need to ensure that everyone, no matter what their background or level 
of skill, has an opportunity to enter into and progress at work and through the 
education and training system. Barriers that prevent under-represented 
groups from realising their full potential need to be broken down”

Page 216



5

As a result it is recommended that ‘due regard’ considerations are given 
greater attention by the LEP consistent with the objectives/duties of the 
Equalities Act 2010, within the overall strategy.

Accordingly and in terms of our detailed feedback, please find enclosed the 
completed LIS Consultation pro-forma, together with a paper of suggested 
technical amendments, the contents of which are a collective response 
provided from officers across several departments within the Council 
including, Public Health, Integrated Disabilities Commissioning, Adult 
Education and Communities and Infrastructure. 

These responses were approved by the Council’s Cabinet on 13th November 
2019.

If you would like to discuss any of the points raised in the completed 
consultation response, please do not hesitate to contact me.  

Finally, as regards next steps, whilst it is duly recognized that, at the clear 
request of government, the LIS is not intended to be a bidding document, the 
Council welcomes GFirst’s ongoing efforts to develop an Investment Plan in 
parallel to the strategy and would be keen to continue to work alongside the 
team to substantiate and refine such a plan to ensure the LIS moves on into 
its implementation phase effectively and with clear intent and purpose.  

Yours faithfully 

Colin Chick
Strategic Adviser (Communities and Infrastructure)
Gloucestershire County Council

Tel:  01452 328470
Email: colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 217

mailto:colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Scrutiny Report: Youth Strategy Task Group
	Final report
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3
	Annex 4
	Annex 5.

	6 Financial Monitoring Report
	7 Procurement of Children's Social Care Casework Management System ("Liquidlogic") Support and Maintenance Contract
	8 Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment
	Item 8 - Appendix 1 - Gloucestershire Childcare Sufficiency Assessment Summary 2019 (2)

	9 M5 Junction 10 Improvement Scheme; Capital budget approval, recruitment resource allocation, delivery and construction
	10 The Procurement of Highway Construction Services relating to the West of Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme and UK Cyber Business Park (Phases 1 and 2)
	Item 10 (a) Risk Register Phase 1
	Item 10 (b) Risk Register Phase 2

	11 Upgrade to the Vision Mobilising System for Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
	12 Gloucestershire County Council Responses to the Draft Gloucestershire Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) Consultation
	Item 12 - Appendix 1 (GFirst LIS Consultation Core Content  GCC Feedback)
	Item 12 - Appendix 2 LIS Consultation Feedback - Consultation Questions
	Item 12 - Appendix 2a LIS Consultation Feedback - Technical Comments
	Item 12 - Appendix 3 Gloucestershire LIS Consultation Response Letter




